Immunocastration of male pigs

Dissertation

Kevin Benjamin Kress

Immunocastration of male pigs

Immunocastration of male pigs

Dissertation to obtain the doctoral degree of Agricultural Sciences (Dr. sc. agr.)

Faculty of Agricultural Sciences University of Hohenheim

Prof. Dr. Volker Stefanski Behavioral Physiology of Livestock Institute of Animal Science

submitted by Kevin Benjamin Kress

from Karlsruhe, Germany

2020

Die vorliegende Arbeit wurde am 23. Juni 2020 von der Fakultät Agrarwissenschaften der Universität Hohenheim als "Dissertation zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Agrarwissenschaften" angenommen.

Dekan Fakultät der Agrarwissenschaften: Prof. Dr. rer nat. Ralf T. Vögele

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:09. Juli 2020

Leitung des Kolloquiums: Prof. Dr. Martin Hasselmann

Berichterstatter, 1. Prüfer: Prof. Dr. Volker Stefanski

Berichterstatter, 2. Prüfer: Prof. Dr. Daniel Mörlein

3. Prüfer: Prof. Dr. Reiner Doluschitz

The present doctoral thesis project was part of the ERA-NET SusAn project 'Sustainability in pork production with immunocastration (SuSI)' and funded by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme and the German Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE, 696231), which are gratefully acknowledged. Für Ulrike Weiler

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	GENERAL INTRODUCTION1		
	1.1	OVERVIEW AND MAIN RESEARCH OBJECTIVES	
	1.2	OBJECTIVES AND METHODOLOGICAL APPROACHES OF INCLUDED	
		MANUSCRIPTS6	
	1.3	REFERENCES	
2	MA	NUSCRIPTS	
	2.1	Sustainability of Pork Production with Immunocastration in	
		Europe17	
	2.2	THE ECONOMIC IMPACT OF GERMAN PIG CARCASS PRICING SYSTEMS AND	
		RISK SCENARIOS FOR BOAR TAINT ON THE PROFITABILITY OF PORK	
		PRODUCTION WITH IMMUNOCASTRATES AND BOARS	
	2.3	INFLUENCE OF HOUSING CONDITIONS ON RELIABILITY OF	
		IMMUNOCASTRATION AND CONSEQUENCES FOR GROWTH PERFORMANCE	
		OF MALE PIGS73	
3	GEN	VERAL DISCUSSION 100	
	3.1	Key findings	
	3.2	IMPLICATIONS FOR THE PRACTICAL USE OF IMMUNOCASTRATION	
	3.3	SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	
	3.4	CONCLUSION109	
	3.5	References	
4	SUN	IMARY 118	
5	ZUS	AMMENFASSUNG	

LIST OF FIGURES

except figures presented in Chapter 2

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

except abbreviations used in Chapter 2

®	Registered Trademark
2 nd	second
ADG	average daily gain
approx.	approximately
e.g.	exempli gratia
et al.	et alia
GnRH	Gonadotropin-Releasing-Hormone
HPLC	High Performance Liquid Chromatography
i.e.	id est
ID	Idaho
Inc.	Incorporated
LH	Luteinizing Hormone
n	numbers
ng/ml	nanogram/milliliter
pCBG	porcine Corticosteroid Binding Globulin
RIA	Radioimmunoassay
UK	United Kingdom
US	United States of America
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
µg/g	microgram/gram

1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

The surgical castration of male piglets has been carried out in the production of pork for centuries [1,2]. Within the European Union, surgical castration of male piglets is allowed up to the seventh day of life without anesthesia or analgesia [3], even if this is painful and violates the physical integrity of piglets [4]. These circumstances are facing increasing societal concerns [1] and thus in 2010 led European stakeholders to voluntarily commit to ending surgical castration by 2018 [5]. Today, however, still about 63% of all male piglets are castrated surgically, most of them without adequate pain relief [6]. Traditionally, the main reasons for castrating male piglets were to avoid a sex-specific off-odor, the so called boar taint, to produce carcasses of higher quality (more fat), but also to ensure a positive impact on animal behavior, as barrows show a less agonistic behavior compared to boars [7]. The sex-specific off-odor can be ascribed to the accumulation of the two compounds androstenone and skatole in adipose tissue along puberty [8]. Pork production with boars was thus limited for decades to those European countries which raised boars with very low slaughter weights before boars entering puberty, such as the UK [7].

In the 1960s, the concept of pork production with boars instead of barrows was discussed within the European pork industry, since consumers demanded leaner carcasses and thus pork production with boars seemed to be an attractive economic advantage [9] based on the more efficient feed conversion and growth performance of boars due to their higher anabolic potential [8,9]. However, this did not lead to an overall change of the production system as androstenone as one key boar taint compound is a metabolite of testosterone and thus, strongly linked to the growth potential of boars [8]. In the 1970s, pork production with boars was discussed in an environmental context, since the more efficient feed conversion resulted in less nitrogen excretion [10] and lower amounts of manure [7]. These further important arguments for pork production with boars did not lead to a change of the production system either, as the boar taint problem still remained unsolved. In the past few decades, however, the most prominent aspect discussed has been animal welfare [1,11], since surgical castration in most cases has been carried out without adequate analgesia or anesthesia and is painful for the young piglets [4,12]. The increasing public awareness and scientific developments have resulted in new animal welfare standards being reflected in industry initiatives and legislative regulations [13]. Within the European Union, there are countries that traditionally produce boars and countries that mainly castrate male piglets. These heterogeneous market conditions lead to various strategies across Europe with countries that rely on intact boars and countries that continue to castrate male piglets with different animal welfare standards [14]. In contrast to the debates in the previous decades, where product quality and welfare aspects were predominant, the current debate about surgical castration of piglets and potential alternatives tries to take into account all dimensions of sustainability (economy, social, environment and animal welfare) [14,15].

For a long time, surgical castration was the most effective way to prevent boar taint, but it also removes the above-mentioned anabolic potential of boars [15]. The idea of using immunological methods (immunocastration) to reduce boar taint while still using the growth potential of boars is quite old. First attempts aimed to induce antibody formation against androstenone, the luteinizing hormone (LH), and finally against the gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH), thus reducing boar taint while maintaining the anabolic advantages of boars [16–22]. An active immunization against GnRH seemed to be the most effective immunological method to reliably prevent boar taint [17]. However, it turned out that a vaccine must be developed that is economical, contributes to a high level of operational safety, and allows the positive advantages of pork production with boars to be used for as long as possible [17]. This led to the concept of developing a vaccine that only effectively suppresses testicular functions after two vaccinations [23], thus suppressing spermatogenesis and testosterone as well as androstenone synthesis in Leydig cells [24]. These requirements were met with the development of Improvac[®] (Zoetis Inc., Parsipanny, New Jersey, US), the first commercial vaccine for use in pigs to provide an active immunization against GnRH [25]. Improvac[®] is only effective after two vaccinations. After the first vaccination, the immune system only produces some GnRH antibodies which are not sufficient to suppress testicular functions [26]. After the second vaccination, the so-called booster vaccination, the antibody production against GnRH, increases considerably [26] and suppresses the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis [27]. Figure 1 illustrates the endocrine regulation of testicular functions according to Claus et al. [8], and further the effects of Improvac[®] on this cascade. The release of the hypothalamic factor GnRH binds to GnRH receptors of the pituitary. This induces the secretion of LH, which in turn binds to receptors in the target tissue, the Leydig cells in the testicles. In the Leydig cells, LH stimulates the synthesis of testosterone and estrogen, and the release of the pheromone androstenone. The androgenic effects of testicular steroids, in particular testosterone, affect different target tissues and lead to a pronounced sexual dimorphism in muscle growth [28,29], more efficient feed utilization and thus a lower nitrogen excretion [10], and a tendency towards more aggressive behavior

[8]. Testosterone also acts as a feedback signal on the hypothalamus and controls the further release of GnRH [8]. Immunocastration interrupts the entire androgenic effects by interrupting the endocrine cascade which controls testicular hormone secretion [30]. For this reason, after the second vaccination, immunocastrates are from a physiological point of view like barrows [27].



Figure 1. Endocrine regulation of testicular functions in boars and the impact of Improvac[®] on the endocrine cascade by inhibiting Gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) and thus testicular functions. Endocrine glands: capital letters; Hormones: italic letters; Pheromone: bold letters.

As already mentioned above, the current debate about alternatives to surgical castration is not only concerned with the boar taint issue and economic performance, but also with the consequences for the environment, animal welfare, consumer acceptance and pork quality [15]. The consequences of immunocastration on all aspects of sustainability are well known and described in more detail in MANUSCRIPT I and here only briefly summarized. Immunocastration improves some animal welfare aspects, such as avoiding painful surgical castration but also reducing the risk for more agonistic behavior of boars [31–34]. In addition, the anabolic effects up to the second vaccination have a positive impact on growth performance [35,36], so that immunocastrates have a more efficient feed conversion with lower nitrogen excretion than barrows [37]. In terms of meat quality, immunocastrates are comparable to barrows and have similar lean meat percentages, tenderness and fatty acid

compositions [35]. However, the timing of the second vaccination is also decisive here. A recent study by Čandek-Potokar et al. [38] shows that the meat quality of immunocastrates in the production of traditional dry-cured ham products lies between that of boars and barrows. The period of 4 weeks between second vaccination and slaughter is too short and has a negative effect on the processing characteristics, as the lean meat percentage is too high. Immunocastration also has the potential to be economically profitable, as the better growth performance of immunocastrates and their more efficient feed conversion compared to barrows can compensate the costs for vaccination and thus make immunocastration competitive with the other alternatives [39,40]. Consumer studies show that the current practice of surgically castrating male piglets is not well-known. Consumers are basically open to immunocastration as long as it can be guaranteed that the welfare of the pigs is improved, the product quality is constant, and food safety is guaranteed [41]. Consumer acceptance of immunocastration can be further increased through purposeful and quality-oriented communication with consumers [42,43].

Immunocastration is not only used in pork production but also in other farm animals to avoid surgical castration. This has the advantage that the pain induced during surgical castration itself, the risk of wound infections and potential losses are avoided [24]. The suppression of testicular steroids and of associated agonistic behavior problems also improves the welfare of male animals that have been immunologically castrated [30]. This has resulted in several commercial immunocastration products being offered on the market, e.g. Improvac[®] and Valora[®] (Ceva Santé Animale, Libourne, France) for pigs [25], Bopriva[®] (Zoetis Inc., Parsipanny, New Jersey, US) for cattle [44], Equity[®] (Zoetis Inc., Parsipanny, New Jersey, US) for horses [45] and GonaCon[®] (USDA, Pacarello, ID, US) for wildlife and feral horses [46]. In Europe, however, Improvac[®] is the only approved product (by the European Medicines Agency in 2009) for commercial use in pigs [47]. Although Improvac[®] has been approved for almost 10 years in the European Union [47], the market share of immunocastrates is only 2.8% of all male pigs [6]. Nonetheless, there are countries that have a considerable share of immunocastrates. In Europe, for example, Belgium produces approx. 15% immunocastrates, while on a global level Brazil and Australia have a market share of immunocastrates of above 50% [41,48,49]. The low market acceptance among various European stakeholders when it comes to immunocastration is mainly related to a lack of practical experience and uncertainties as to whether this technique will be sufficiently accepted by other stakeholders [14]. Immunocastration offers the pork chain a chance to use the positive androgenic effects on growth performance and the lower environmental impact of boars. However, these advantages must be adjusted by the timing of the second vaccination and ensured by a reliability of the vaccination to avoid boar taint [14]. Both androstenone and skatole need 1 to 2.5 weeks to be released and metabolized from the adipose tissue of boars after the formation of testicular steroids has been eliminated [50,51], so the second vaccination must be applied at least 4 weeks before slaughter to ensure low boar taint values [14]. A potential uncertainty results from the fact that carcasses from some immunocastrates reveal boar taint, despite being vaccinated twice. It is reported that up to 3% of immunocastrates are so-called non-responders [48], which means that slaughterhouses and retailers are not convinced that the technique works reliably. The market uncertainty in terms of meat and carcass quality can lead to the result that immunocastrates are priced as boars, thus resulting in an economic disadvantage [39].

1.1 Overview and main research objectives

The main objective of this doctoral thesis was to address some of the key problems mentioned above in regard to the low market acceptance of immunocastration within the European pork chain. First, a comprehensive review article based on scientific publications was composed to analyze the impact of immunocastration on pork production based on the three pillars of sustainability and to compare immunocastration with surgical castration and pork production with boars. Two particular knowledge gaps within the pork chain were identified. As described above, the reliability of immunocastration has been questioned, as the phenomenom of non-responders is discussed controversially within the pork chain. The reasons which may lead to an insufficient immune response after Improvac[®] vaccinations are unclear so far. As social stress can have a negative impact on the immune system, we have experimentally investigated whether social mixing has a negative impact on the reliability of immunocastration. The hypothesis was that more challenging housing conditions may lead to higher incidences of non-responders. Due to the lack of market experience, it is furthermore uncertain how carcasses of immunocastrates will be priced in Germany, as the leading slaughter companies have different carcass pricing systems for barrows/gilts and boars. In addition, it is so far unclear to what extent fines for boar taint will be implemented if market shares of boars and immunocastrates further increase. The aim was therefore to investigate the effects of carcass pricing systems and fines for boar taint on the profitability of German pig production. In this context, the hypothesis was that both a pricing of immunocastrates like boars and the introduction of fines against boar taint would worsen the competitiveness of pork production with boars and immunocastrates.

1.2 Objectives and methodological approaches of included manuscripts

This doctoral thesis is based on an extensive physiological experiment with male pigs (boars, immunocastrates and barrows) that were raised during the fattening period under different housing conditions (enriched, standard and social mixing). Blood was collected from all pigs via puncture of the *vena jugularis externa* at different times to test the effects of sex group (gonadal status) and housing condition on different physiological parameters. The blood samples were analysed for GnRH-antibodies and testosterone concentrations using various laboratory methods, including GnRH-iodination and RIA. Furthermore, adipose tissue was sampled at slaughter for the determination of boar taint compounds by HPLC. Different parts of the genital tract were also collected and weighed at slaughter and performance data recorded during the entire experiment. The data were evaluated on the basis of a linear mixed model. Moreover, the performance data of pigs housed under standard conditions were set in relation to an economic data set and the competitiveness of pork production with immunocastrates and boars was analyzed using different carcass pricing systems and risk scenarios for boar taint and compared to pork production with barrows.

MANUSCRIPT I

Sustainability of Pork Production with Immunocastration in Europe

Published in Sustainability 2019, 11, 3335

Immunocastration is one alternative to surgical castration of male piglets without anesthesia or analgesia. Until the second vaccination, immunocastrates are from a physiological perspective similar to boars and then like barrows. The particular advantages of pork production with boars are a better feed conversion than with barrows and the resulting lower environmental impact. Disadvantages of fattening boars are a higher potential for agonistic behavior, problems with processing meat from boars due to a higher proportion of unsaturated fatty acids, and the risk of boar taint. Surgical castration, on the other hand, is painful when performed without appropiate analgesia or anesthesia. The feed conversion in barrows is more inefficient than in boars, but a high product quality is guaranteed. Agonistic behavior in barrows is less pronounced than in boars. Depending on the timing of the second vaccination, immunocastrates may resemble boars or barrows, with all the respective advantages and disadvantages. The aim of this review article is therefore to assess immunocastration globally with regard to the three pillars of sustainability, to compare the advantages and disadvantages of pork production with boars or barrows, and to describe the corresponding consequences for the whole pork chain.

MANUSCRIPT II

The Economic Impact of German Pig Carcass Pricing Systems and Risk Scenarios for Boar Taint on the Profitability of Pork Production with Immunocastrates and Boars

Published in Agriculture 2019, 9, 204

Based on MANUSCRIPT I, it turned out that the economic performance of immunocastration is crucial for its implementation and acceptance among pig producers. Due to the currently low market share of immunocastrates in Germany, it is futhermore unclear how carcasses of immunocastrates are priced at the slaughterhouse, since gilts/barrows and boars are priced differently in Germany. Boar taint is currently not fined at German slaughterhouses, although it minimizes the value of affected carcasses and objective methods for determining the two boar taint compounds (androstenone and skatole) at the slaughter line have become available. However, if the market shares of intact boars (boars and immunocastrates) further increase, fines for boar-tainted carcasses can be expected. The aim of MANUSCRIPT II was to investigate the extent to which a switch from pork production with barrows to pork production with boars or barrows impacts on the competitiveness of pig production in different regions in Germany, taking into account different pricing systems and sanctioning mechanisms for boar taint. Performance data of pigs (standard housing conditions) from the trial described in MANUSCRIPT III was used and set in relation to the economic data set of agri benchmark. In addition, the substances responsible for boar taint, androstenone and skatole, were measured and economically evaluated on the basis of different thresholds for boar taint.

MANUSCRIPT III

Influence of Housing Conditions on Reliability of Immunocastration and Consequences for Growth Performance of Male Pigs

Published in Animals 2020, 10, 27

Non-responders to immunocastration are reported in some scientific publications, described as pigs that, despite being vaccinated twice with Improvac[®], have boar-tainted carcasses. The reasons for an insufficient antibody response to Improvac[®] vaccination are unknown.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to examine whether stress due to more challenging housing conditions has an impact on the immune response after Improvac[®] vaccinations. For this purpose, male pigs (boars, immunocastrates and barrows) were housed under different housing conditions (enriched, standard and repeated social mixing), and the antibodies against GnRH were determined at different times (before and after each vaccination and at slaughter). Testosterone concentrations were also analyzed as an indicator for testicular functions, and fat samples were collected at the slaughter line to measure concentrations of boar taint compounds. Furthermore, the performance data of the animals were recorded in order to compare the competitiveness of the different sex groups and housing conditions. The data were evaluated on the basis of a linear mixed model.

1.3 References

- EFSA Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Animal Health and Welfare on a request from the Commission related to welfare aspects of the castration of piglets. *The EFSA Journal* 2004, 91, 1–18.
- Zamaratskaia, G.; Rasmussen, M.K. Immunocastration of Male Pigs Situation Today. Procedia Food Science 2015, 5, 324–327.
- The council of the European Union. Council Directive 2008/120/EC of 18 December 2008 laying down minimum standards for the protection of pigs. Available online: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32008L0120 (accessed on Apr 24, 2018).
- Prunier, A.; Bonneau, M.; Von Borell, E.H.; Cinotti, S.; Gunn, M.; Fredriksen, B.; Giersing, M.; Morton, D.B.; Tuyttens, F.A.M.; Velarde, A. A review of the welfare consequences of surgical castration in piglets and the evaluation of non-surgical methods. *Animal Welfare* 2006, 15, 277–289.
- European Declaration on alternatives to surgical castration of pigs. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/animals/docs/aw_prac_farm_pigs_castalt_declaration_en.pdf (accessed on Mar 31, 2019).
- Backus, G.; Higuera, M.; Juul, N.; Nalon, E.; de Briyne, N. Second progress report 2015

 2017 on the European declaration on alternatives to surgical castration of pigs.
 Available online: https://www.boarsontheway.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Second-progress-report-2015-2017-final-1.pdf (accessed on Apr 26, 2019).

- Bonneau, M. Use of entire males for pig meat in the European Union. *Meat Science* 1998, 49, 257–272.
- Claus, R.; Weiler, U.; Herzog, A. Physiological aspects of androstenone and skatole formation in the boar—A review with experimental data. *Meat Science* 1994, 38, 289– 305.
- Walstra, P. Fattening of young boars: Quantification of negative and positive aspects. *Livestock Production Science* 1974, 1, 187–196.
- Desmoulin, B.; Bonneau, M.; Bourdon, D. Etude en bilan azote et composition corporelle des ports males entiers ou castrb de race Large White. In *Proceedings of the journees de la Recherche Porcine en France*; 1974; Vol. 6, pp. 247–255.
- von Borell, E.; Baumgartner, J.; Giersing, M.; Jäggin, N.; Prunier, A.; Tuyttens, F.A.M.; Edwards, S.A. Animal welfare implications of surgical castration and its alternatives in pigs. *Animal* 2009, 3, 1488–1496.
- Fredriksen, B.; Font i Furnols, M.; Lundström, K.; Migdal, W.; Prunier, A.; Tuyttens, F.A.M.; Bonneau, M. Practice on castration of piglets in Europe. *Animal* 2009, 3, 1480– 1487.
- 13. De Briyne, N.; Berg, C.; Blaha, T.; Temple, D. Pig castration: will the EU manage to ban pig castration by 2018? *Porcine Health Management* **2016**, 2, 29.
- Kress, K.; Millet, S.; Labussière, É.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Sustainability of Pork Production with Immunocastration in Europe. *Sustainability* 2019, 11, 3335.
- Bonneau, M.; Weiler, U. Pros and Cons of Alternatives to Piglet Castration: Welfare, Boar Taint, and Other Meat Quality Traits. *Animals* 2019, 9, 884.
- Williamson, E.D.; Patterson, R.L.S. A selective immunization procedure against 5αandrostenone in boars. *Animal Science* 1982, 35, 353–360.
- Bonneau, M.; Enright, W.J. Immunocastration in cattle and pigs. *Livestock Production Science* 1995, 42, 193–200.
- Williamson, E.D.; Patterson, R.L.S.; Buxton, E.R.; Mitchell, K.G.; Partridge, I.G.; Walker, N. Immunization against 5α-androstenone in boars. *Livestock Production Science* 1985, 12, 251–264.
- 19. Daniel, M.J.; Shenoy, E.V.B.; Box, P.G. Immunization of pigs against the boar taint steroid androstenone. *Journal of Comparative Pathology* **1984**, 94, 319–321.

- Falvo, R.E.; Chandrashekar, V.; Arthur, R.D.; Kuenstler, A.; Hasson, T.; Awoniyi, C.A.; Schanbacher, B.D. Effect of active immunization against LHRH or LH in boars: reproductive consequences and performance traits. *Journal of Animal Science* 1986, 63, 986–994.
- Meloen, R.H.; Turkstra, J.A.; Lankhof, H.; Puijk, W.C.; Schaaper, W.M.M.; Dijkstra, G.; Wensing, C.J.G.; Oonk, R.B. Efficient immunocastration of male piglets by immunoneutralization of GnRH using a new GnRH-like peptide. *Vaccine* 1994, 12, 741–746.
- Awoniyi, C.A.; Chandrashekar, V.; Arthur, R.D.; Schanbacher, B.D.; Falvo, R.E. Changes in testicular morphology in boars actively immunized against gonadotropin hormone-releasing hormone. *Journal of Andrology* **1988**, 9, 160–171.
- Bonneau, M.; Dufour, R.; Chouvet, C.; Roulet, C.; Meadus, W.; Squires, E.J. The effects of immunization against luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone on performance, sexual development, and levels of boar taint-related compounds in intact male pigs. *Journal of Animal Science* 1994, 72, 14–20.
- Needham, T.; Lambrechts, H.; Hoffman, L.C. Castration of male livestock and the potential of immunocastration to improve animal welfare and production traits: Invited Review. *South African Journal of Animal Science* 2017, 47, 731–742.
- 25. Dunshea, F.R.; Colantoni, C.; Howard, K.; McCauley, I.; Jackson, P.; Long, K.A.; Lopaticki, S.; Nugent, E.A.; Simons, J.A.; Walker, J.; et al. Vaccination of boars with a GnRH vaccine (Improvac) eliminates boar taint and increases growth performance. *Journal of Animal Science* 2001, 79, 2524–2535.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Schmucker, S.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Vrecl, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Škrlep, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Stefanski, V. Influence of Housing Conditions on Reliability of Immunocastration and Consequences for Growth Performance of Male Pigs. *Animals* 2020, 10, 27.
- Claus, R.; Lacorn, M.; Danowski, K.; Pearce, M.C.; Bauer, A. Short-term endocrine and metabolic reactions before and after second immunization against GnRH in boars. *Vaccine* 2007, 25, 4689–4696.
- 28. Walstra, P. Growth and carcass composition from birth to maturity in relation to feeding level and sex in Dutch landrace pigs. *Doctoral Thesis*, Veenman: Wageningen, **1980**.

- 29. Richmond, R.J.; Berg, R.T. Muscle growth and distribution in swine as influenced by liveweight, breed, sex and ration. Can. *Journal of Animal Science* **1971**, 51, 41–49.
- Thompson, D.L. Immunization against GnRH in male species (comparative aspects). *Animal Reproduction Science* 2000, 60–61, 459–469.
- 31. Reiter, S.; Zöls, S.; Ritzmann, M.; Stefanski, V.; Weiler, U. Penile Injuries in Immunocastrated and Entire Male Pigs of One Fattening Farm. *Animals* **2017**, *7*, 71.
- Cronin, G.M.; Dunshea, F.R.; Butler, K.L.; McCauley, I.; Barnett, J.L.; Hemsworth, P.H. The effects of immuno- and surgical-castration on the behaviour and consequently growth of group-housed, male finisher pigs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 2003, 81, 111–126.
- Puls, C.L.; Rojo, A.; Matzat, P.D.; Schroeder, A.L.; Ellis, M. Behavior of immunologically castrated barrows in comparison to gilts, physically castrated barrows, and intact male pigs. *Journal of Animal Science* 2017, 95, 2345–2353.
- Zamaratskaia, G.; Rydhmer, L.; Andersson, H.K.; Chen, G.; Lowagie, S.; Andersson, K.; Lundström, K. Long-term effect of vaccination against gonadotropin-releasing hormone, using Improvac, on hormonal profile and behaviour of male pigs. *Animal Reproduction Science* 2008, 108, 37–48.
- Batorek, N.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Bonneau, M.; Van Milgen, J. Meta-analysis of the effect of immunocastration on production performance, reproductive organs and boar taint compounds in pigs. *Animal* 2012, 6, 1330–1338.
- Nautrup, B.P.; Vlaenderen, I.V.; Aldaz, A.; Mah, C.K. The effect of immunization against gonadotropin-releasing factor on growth performance, carcass characteristics and boar taint relevant to pig producers and the pork packing industry: A meta-analysis ScienceDirect. *Research in Veterinary Science* 2018, 119, 182–195.
- Millet, S.; Gielkens, K.; Brabander, D.D.; Janssens, G.P.J. Considerations on the performance of immunocastrated male pigs. *Animal* 2011, 5, 1119–1123.
- Čandek-Potokar, M.; Škrlep, M.; Kostyra, E.; Žakowska-Biemans, S.; Poklukar, K.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Quality of dry-cured ham from entire, surgically and immunocastrated males – case study on Kraški pršut. *Animals* 2020, 10, 239.

- 39. Kress, K.; Verhaagh, M. The Economic Impact of German Pig Carcass Pricing Systems and Risk Scenarios for Boar Taint on the Profitability of Pork Production with Immunocastrates and Boars. *Agriculture* **2019**, 9, 204.
- 40. Verhaagh, M.; Deblitz, C. Wirtschaftlichkeit der Alternativen zur betäubungslosen Ferkelkastration – Aktualisierung und Erweiterung der betriebswirtschaftlichen Berechnungen. *Thünen Working Paper* 2019, 110, 56.
- Mancini, M.C.; Menozzi, D.; Arfini, F. Immunocastration: Economic implications for the pork supply chain and consumer perception. An assessment of existing research. *Livestock Science* 2017, 203, 10–20.
- Tuyttens, F.A.M.; Vanhonacker, F.; Langendries, K.; Aluwé, M.; Millet, S.; Bekaert, K.; Verbeke, W. Effect of information provisioning on attitude toward surgical castration of male piglets and alternative strategies for avoiding boar taint. *Research in Veterinary Science* 2011, 91, 327–332.
- 43. Mörlein, D.; Schübeler, A.S. This is how the dialogue with the customers succeeds:
 Vaccination against boar taint How can the procedure be best communicated? *Fleischwirtschaft* 2017, 36–40.
- 44. Janett, F.; Gerig, T.; Tschuor, A.C.; Amatayakul-Chantler, S.; Walker, J.; Howard, R.; Piechotta, M.; Bollwein, H.; Hartnack, S.; Thun, R. Effect of vaccination against gonadotropin-releasing factor (GnRF) with Bopriva® in the prepubertal bull calf. *Animal Reproduction Science* **2012**, 131, 72–80.
- 45. Janett, F.; Stump, R.; Burger, D.; Thun, R. Suppression of testicular function and sexual behavior by vaccination against GnRH (Equity) in the adult stallion. *Animal Reproduction Science* **2009**, 115, 88–102.
- Miller, L.A.; Rhyan, J.; Killian, G. GonaCon,TM a versatile GnRH contraceptive for a large variety of pest animal problems. *Proceedings of the Vertebrate Pest Conference* 2004, 21.
- 47. European Medicines Agency. EPAR Scientific Discussion. Available online: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientific-discussion/improvac-eparscientific-discussion_en.pdf (accessed on Apr 22, 2019).
- 48. Čandek-Potokar, M.; Škrlep, M.; Zamaratskaia, G. Immunocastration as Alternative to Surgical Castration in Pigs. *Theriogenology* **2017**, Intech, 109–126.

- 49. D'Souza, D.N.; Hewitt, R.J.E.; van Barneveld, R.J. Pork production with entire males and immunocastrates in Australia. *Advances in Animal Biosciences* **2018**, 9(s58), s58.
- 50. Claus, R. Messung des Ebergeruchsstoffes im Fett von Schweinen mittels eines Radioimmunotests. 1. Mitteilung: Geruchsdepotbildung in Abhängigkeit vom Alter. Zeitschrift für Tierzüchtung und Züchtungsbiologie 1975, 92, 118–126.
- 51. Claus, R. Messung des Ebergeruchsstoffes im Fett von Schweinen mittels eines Radioimmunotests. 2. Mitteilung: Zeitlicher Verlauf des Geruchsdepotsabbaus nach der Kastration. Zeitschrift für Tierzüchtung und Züchtungsbiologie 1976, 93, 38–47.

2 MANUSCRIPTS

This chapter contains all manuscripts that were prepared in context with this doctoral thesis. The content and text of the manuscripts are included in this thesis as they were published. The layout was adapted to this doctoral thesis. All three manuscripts have already been published in international peer-review journals.

- I Sustainability of Pork Production with Immunocastration in Europe Published in *Sustainability* **2019**, 11 (12), 3335
- II The Economic Impact of German Pig Carcass Pricing Systems and Risk Scenarios for Boar Taint on the Profitability of Pork Production with Immunocastrates and Boars

Published in Agriculture 2019, 9 (9), 204

 III Influence of Housing Conditions on Reliability of Immunocastration and Consequences for Growth Performance of Male Pigs
 Published in Animals 2020, 10 (1), 27

Sustainability of Pork Production with Immunocastration in Europe

Ι

Kevin Kress¹, Sam Millet², Étienne Labussière³, Ulrike Weiler¹, Volker Stefanski¹

¹Department of Behavioral Physiology of Livestock, Institute of Animal Science, University of Hohenheim, Garbenstraße 17, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany

²ILVO (Flanders Research Institute for Agriculture, Fisheries and Food), Scheldeweg 68, 9090 Melle, Belgium

³Department of Feeding and Nutrition – Physiology, Environment, and Genetics for the Animal and Livestock Systems, Institut national de la recherche agronomique (INRA), Agrocampus Quest, 35590 Saint-Gilles, France

Published in *Sustainability* **2019**, 11 (12), 3335

Received: 22 May 2019 / Accepted: 12 June 2019 / Published: 17 June 2019

With permission of MDPIAG

Original publication available at https://doi.org/10.3390/su11123335

Abstract

Immunocastration, a technique to replace surgical castration of piglets, consists of two consecutive vaccinations to induce antibodies which transiently suppress testicular functions and avoid boar taint. It is a method to ensure both a high product quality and a high level of animal welfare. The impact of immunocastration on the three pillars of sustainability has been studied extensively. While all aspects of sustainability have been studied separately, however, a contemporary global overview of different aspects is missing. In immunocastrates, performance results are better than in barrows, but worse than in boars. The environmental impact of pork production with immunocastrates is lower than with barrows, but higher than with boars. The level of aggression is considerably lower in immunocastrates compared to boars. Societal concerns are mainly related to food safety, and are not supported by scientific evidence. After second vaccination, immunocastrates switch from a boar- to a barrow-like status. Therefore, the timing of second vaccination is a finetuning tool to balance advantages of boars with environmental and economic benefits against increased risk of welfare problems and boar taint. Nevertheless, both synergic and conflicting relationships between the pillars of sustainability must be communicated along the value chain to produce tailored pork products.

Keywords: sustainability; immunocastration; carbon footprint; animal welfare; food safety; pork production; boars; surgical castration

1. Introduction: The Castration Dilemma in Pork Production

In Europe, many citizens are concerned about the impact of intensive production conditions of farm animals on animal welfare and the environment [1,2,3]. A critical evaluation of the aspects which cause public disapproval is necessary and sustainable improvements have to be introduced, where negative conditions can be avoided. A main problem is that conflicting aims may occur which must be balanced with different market needs as well as stakeholder requirements [4]. Such a situation currently applies in Europe in the debate about castration of male piglets [5,6,7]. Surgical castration is painful and hurts the animals' integrity, it is therefore a major welfare issue [6]. For centuries, male piglets designated for pork production have been surgically castrated in Europe to improve behavior and product quality [5,8,9,10]. The fattening of boars has advantages such as requiring fewer resources to produce the same amount of meat due to more efficient feed conversion ratio, reduced nitrogen excretion, and a higher protein accretion compared to barrows and gilts. However,

disadvantages in pork production with boars remain, including boar taint and welfare problems due to increased aggression and mounting behavior. Those may limit the acceptance of pork production with boars by farmers, the meat industry and consumers [9,11,12,13]. In boars, a sex-specific off-odor of the carcass may develop in some growing boars during puberty, which can be mainly ascribed to two substances, androstenone and skatole. Androstenone is a male pheromone which is formed in the Leydig cells of the testes and has a urine-like smell [12,13]. Skatole is a metabolite of the amino acid tryptophan with a fecal odor and is synthesized in the colon by microbial degradation [14]. Boars may accumulate more skatole than barrows or gilts in adipose tissue because the hepatic degradation of skatole is reduced, due to lower activities of CYP2E1 and CYP2A enzymes if concentrations of androstenone or testosterone are high [15]. A cross-national European study by Walstra and co-authors [16] showed that while 29% of the carcasses reveal high androstenone concentrations, only 11% show elevated skatole concentrations and that slaughter weight and genotype modify this percentage considerably (high androstenone level: range 18-42%, high skatole level: range 5-23%). Androstenone and skatole are perceived differently by consumers depending on individual sensitivity. Whereas most consumers are sensitive to skatole [17], Lunde and co-authors [18] described a specific anosmia for androstenone, which explains the variable percentage of consumers perceiving androstenone. Both compounds share the disadvantage that consumers who are sensitive to the substances rate them as very unpleasant and may therefore reject pork from boars more often [19,20]. In addition, aggressive and sexual behavior of boars may lead to animal welfare problems such as leg weakness or penile injuries [11,21].

Growth is the result of a predominance of anabolic over catabolic metabolic processes. In pigs, it is orchestrated by the activity of sex-independent anabolic hormones such as growth hormone and IGF-I, and of catabolic hormones such as glucocorticoids. Gonadal hormones in boars already interact during the fattening period, with the endocrine regulation of growth by decreasing catabolic processes (e.g., androgens) or increasing anabolic processes (e.g., estrogens via stimulatory action on IGF-I secretion). This leads to more efficient growth, increased nitrogen retention and higher protein accretion rate when compared to barrows [22]. Both androgens and estrogens also decrease the voluntary feed intake and improve the feed conversion ratio, explaining the known differences between barrows, gilts, and boars [12]. Taken together, all those factors lead to higher muscle and lower fat deposition. Thus, boars have a higher lean meat content than barrows [23]. Moreover, boars have a higher concentration of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) in adipose tissue, which may be

healthier for human consumption but is regarded as a problem for processed meat products [24,25]. Therefore, boars are more efficient in the fattening period but create problems in terms of product quality and animal welfare [9,11,21,26,27].

Surgical castration is effective in preventing those problems, but also removes the anabolic advantage of boars [12]. In most European countries, surgical castration of male piglets without anesthesia or analgesia is still permitted within the first seven days of life [28]. Usually, farmers castrate male piglets without any pain-relieving methods [29,30,31]. Already in October 2010, representatives of major stakeholders committed themselves to a roadmap to voluntarily end surgical castration of male piglets in Europe by 1 January 2018 [32]. Despite this commitment, about 63% of all male piglets in Europe were still surgically castrated in 2017, most of them without any pain relieving methods or anesthesia even though alternatives exist [30]. Today, these figures have not changed considerably in Europe.

Immunocastration is an active immunization against GnRH [33] and could be a sustainable alternative to solve the above-mentioned problems of pork production with boars and surgical castrates, and thus could make European pork production more competitive. In contrast to other parts of the world such as Australia and Brazil [10], immunocastration in Europe is not frequently used, with a low percentage of 2.8% in 2017 [30]. Little practical experience of stakeholders and no targeted communication about the consequences of immunocastration [34] of European pig genotypes for management, feed requirements, and product quality exist in the market. These knowledge gaps may explain why a method that might have economic, ecological, and societal advantages still has no market relevance at the moment. Market acceptance could be increased, if the sustainability of immunocastration is scientifically demonstrated. In order to evaluate immunocastration from a sustainability (society, economy, and environment) and how their interactions can lead to both synergic and conflicting relationships within the three pillars.

2. The Principle of Immunocastration

Immunocastration is an active immunization against GnRH, a key hormone of the endocrine cascade regulating reproductive functions. In consequence, the pig's immune system starts the production of antibodies against the hypothalamic hormone GnRH and postpones the pubertal development by suppressing the hypothalamic pituitary gonadal axis [33]. The treatment consists of at least two injections of the vaccine Improvac[®] during the fattening

period. The manufacturer recommends vaccinations at an age of about 12 weeks and again at 4-6 weeks before slaughter. Within a time interval of at least 4 weeks between the first and second vaccination [10]. After the first application of Improvac[®], some GnRH

antibodies are already formed but their concentration is not sufficient to limit gonadal axis activity [35]. Within one week after the second vaccination, the production of GnRH antibodies increases markedly and suppresses testicular steroid synthesis and in consequence spermatogenesis [36,37]. The drop in testosterone and estradiol concentrations occurs within a week, followed by a reduction in IGF-I secretion [36]. Due to the lack of testosterone in the hormonal feedback system, both immunocastration and surgical castration initially increase the release of GnRH by the hypothalamus but lead to a reduced GnRH synthesis in the hypothalamus further on [38]. In Europe, only one product (Improvac[®]) is available to date for immunocastration of male pigs. The vaccine is manufactured by Zoetis (formerly Pfizer Ltd., formerly CSL Limited, Parkville, Victoria, Australia) and has been approved by the European Commission in May 2009 for use in pigs within the European Union [39]. Due to the strong interlinked regulation of boar taint compounds and testicular hormones, immunocastration always affects their formation in a similar way [40]. Thus, the only way to maintain the anabolic advantage of boars is the appropriate timing of the antibody formation leading to a tailored cessation of the testicular steroid synthesis. This avoids the accumulation of boar taint till slaughter, although the anabolic effects of testicular hormones are still maintained during the main part of the fattening period [10]. At the same time, male aggressive and sexual behavior can also be reduced as described in Section 3.3. Active immunization against GnRH was already discussed in the 1970s as a potential means by which the reproductive system of mammals might be shut down for various practical and clinical reasons [33]. In 1998, a patent (International application number: PCT/AU1998/000532) has been submitted and was published under the international publication number WO 1999/002180 (21 January 1999; Pfizer Inc. New York, NY, USA). As GnRH itself has no immunogenic effect and does not stimulate antibody production, a proprietary strategy must be used to deceive the immune system and recognize GnRH as an antigen [33]. This strategy includes the use of GnRH or a modified GnRH (truncated or repeated, with or without amino acid substitution) as antigenic target linked to a carrier substance [41]. Antigens which are conjugated through its C terminus seem to produce a higher specific antibody response than constructs in which GnRH is conjugated through its N terminus [42]. In case of Improvac[®], the antigenic part of the construct is the C-terminal

fragment of GnRH (AS 2–10) conjugated to a diphtheria toxoid and adsorbed to DEAEdextran (Patent US 8741.303 B2; 3 June 2014; McNamara).

3. Potential of Immunocastration for Sustainable Pork Production

3.1. On-Farm Application of Immunocastration

Even if the first vaccination could be applied at 8–9 weeks of age [10], such an early vaccination may not be recommended if piglets are sold and not raised on the same farm where they have been born, as the vaccination cannot be controlled afterwards and a 100% vaccination rate is required to avoid behavioral and quality problems. As a consequence, the first vaccination is usually carried out early in the fattening period at an age of about 12 weeks. The endocrine changes induced by the second vaccination lead to a switch from boarspecific feed intake, metabolism, and behavior to that of barrows with a further delay of about one week as described in Section 3.3, Section 3.6 and Section 3.7 below. The recommended time between the second vaccination and slaughter is about 4 to 5 weeks to allow the release of already accumulated androstenone and skatole from adipose tissue. Even if long-term studies revealed a resumption of testicular function after 10 to 24 weeks [43,44], a third vaccination is only suggested if animals are slaughtered at a higher age [45].

Several studies have been conducted to evaluate the effect of a variation in the timing of the second vaccination. As further described below, the decision has to be balanced between the conflicting aims of desirable boar-like growth efficiency, lean meat content, and the superiority of barrows in behavior, as well as the quality of adipose tissue and meat. Such differences are obvious in the meta-analysis of Nautrup and co-authors [46] who compared immunocastrates vaccinated for the second time more and less than 4.5 weeks before slaughter. The animals vaccinated later were more boar-like in their growth and carcass characteristics than the immunocastrates vaccinated more than 4.5 weeks before slaughter. Whereas, in some studies, the vaccination protocol of first vaccination/second vaccination at 10/14 and 16/20 weeks of age or 11/21 and 11/18 weeks of age did not lead to significant differences in growth performance and carcass composition [47,48], differences in dressing percentage [47], carcass yield [49], and welfare problems [50] were reported. The early vaccination protocol, however, was not recommended with regard to boar taint [50].

3.2. Reliability of Immunocastration

An important criterion for being successful in the market is the reliability and efficacy of the method. Several reviews have described the phenomenon of non-responders [8,10,51]. As with all vaccines, a small percentage of animals will not or will just poorly respond to the vaccine for both disease vaccines and Improvac[®] vaccination protocols with a two-fold application of the vaccine increase the effectiveness and may provide almost 100% efficacy [52]. It is assumed that on average 0–3% of the Improvac[®]-vaccinated animals were nonresponders [10]. The rate and definition of non-responders, however, varies between studies and depends on the criteria investigated. Thus, non-responders were defined as animals with enlarged testes (similar to the testes size of boars) or with boar taint (above the threshold of 0.5-1 ppm androstenone), despite two assumed vaccinations. Reasons given for nonresponding include that these animals might have been accidentally missed during vaccination or might have had a suppressed immune system due to health problems or stress at the time of vaccination. It has to be kept in mind that only healthy animals are suitable for vaccinations. In a study by Sødring and Naadland [53], about 1% of all immunocastrates slaughtered in Norway in 2017 were tested for boar taint as the success of vaccination seemed doubtful due to the size of their testes. 29% of these suspicious animals had androstenone values above 1 ppm and were classified as non-responders. A recent study by Kress and co-authors [35] hypothesized that a stressful unstable social environment could reduce the chance of adequate immunization. Even under intensive housing conditions and additional stress before and after the vaccinations, however, all immunocastrates showed a sufficient immune reaction with high GnRH antibody titers and low testicular steroid production. Similarly, the meta-analyses by Batorek-Lukač and co-authors [23] and Nautrup and co-authors [46] show that immunocastration prevents boar taint effectively and is a reliable method. It seems that if the vaccine is handled and stored correctly, and if the manufacturer's vaccination recommendations are met, almost 100% of the vaccinated animals produce sufficient antibodies and react accordingly [35]. This, however, does not rule out that occasionally insufficient immunizations occur under practical conditions, e.g., if animals are vaccinated only once by accident. As such animals have no higher risk for high boar taint levels than boars, it remains a corporate risk decision of the slaughter house, whether or not to test for boar taint at the slaughter line. With an assumed proportion of 3% non-responders [10] and a tainted carcasses rate of 30% among boars [16], the risk of tainted carcasses in immunocastrates is 0.9%. Assuming a reproducibility of the currently used human nose test at slaughter line to detect boar taint of 23% [54], the risk of marketing tainted carcasses of immunocastrates is far below the currently marketed carcasses of boars with off-odor.

3.3. Consequences of Immunocastration for Animal Welfare, Behavior, and Health in Pork Production

A major benefit of immunocastration is an increase in **animal welfare** by preventing painful surgical castration and the risk of wound infection in piglets. The study by Morales and co-authors [55] shows that the piglet mortality during the first week post-partum is higher in surgically castrated piglets than in intact piglets (6.3% vs. 3.6%). Especially piglets with a low or medium live weight at birth have a significantly higher mortality rate than uncastrated piglets (low:12.2% vs. 6.2%; p < 0.05, medium 5.5% vs. 2.7%; p < 0.05).

Even with immunocastration, pigs have to be treated by humans. However, immunocastration is carried out later in life during the fattening stage and farmers are given a longer time span to apply the vaccination [56]. Mimicking the injection procedure of Improvac[®], McGlone, and co-authors [57] investigated the effects of intramuscular or subcutaneous injection of 1 mL of saline on pain and stress in finishing pigs. In general, no significant changes in activity behavior (such as lying, eating, walking, drinking) and physiology (cortisol concentrations) were noted 1 h after the injections. Thus, injection per se does not affect welfare, although the injection of Improvac[®] may cause a skin reaction in a small number of cases. While there were no visible site reactions at slaughter, some reactions could be detected by palpation in 6.25% of immunocastrates [58]. Compared to surgical castration, such rather local reactions may trigger minor discomfort in immunocastrates. Moreover, such adverse reactions can be avoided if the vaccine is applied according to the manufacturer's recommendations (subcutaneous injections at the base of the ear) by trained persons. As with all vaccinations, a severe allergic reaction may happen on extremely rare occasions (1.31 per million vaccine doses) within a few minutes of vaccination [59]. Immunocastration is also effective in cryptorchids and avoids the more sophisticated surgical procedure or the even higher risk of boar taint, if the animals are untreated [60].

If the second vaccination is fully effective, immunocastrates show differences in **social behavior**, e.g., less aggression and mounting than boars, and are very similar to barrows demonstrated that the effect of immunocastration on behavior can prevail for a long time [61,62,63,64,65]. Even 16 or 22 weeks after the second vaccination, significant behavioral differences in social, manipulating, and aggressive behavior exist between immunocastrates
and boars. On the other hand, the change in behavior appears relatively soon after second vaccination as described above (see Section 3.1) Thus, pigs that received their second vaccination only 1 week before behavioral observation did not differ from those who received Improvac[®] injection 3 weeks before observation [66]. It can therefore be concluded that the beneficial effects of immunocastration on behavior cover a relatively long time span from (at least) 1 week after second injection well until slaughter. Guay and co-authors [67] investigated the effect of immunocastration on human-pig interactions and handling during transport. There were only a few differences, e.g., more chewing and rubbing on the test person's pants and boots in immunocastrates compared to barrows. Other measures, such as the total time of approaching people did not differ between the two groups. Most studies on immunocastration have been conducted under experimentally controlled conditions, but some studies were also performed on commercial farms. The results obtained under field conditions resemble the experimental farm findings in showing that fighting and mounting is substantially reduced in immunocastrates compared to barros [62,68].

Such aggressive and sexual behavior is relevant for animal welfare, as it may also lead to health problems (e.g., scratches and wounding) in boars. In addition, mounting activity has led to lameness and skeletal problems for mounting and mounted animals in 15% of all boars [27]. In the study of Einarsson [58], scratches and lesions in the head region (assessed at slaughter) were highest in boars, much reduced in immunocastrates, and absent in barrows. Schmidt and co-authors [69] reported higher skin lesion scores in the shoulder region (caused by mounting behavior) in immunocastrates before second vaccination compared to barrows, which disappeared after second vaccination. Recent findings show that penile injuries are a major welfare problem in boars [21]. Before boars enter puberty, the penis frenulum prevents the penis from extruding. As soon as the boars enter puberty, they can completely extrude the penis. If a particular boar shows mounting behavior and extrudes its penis, it can trigger other pen mates to bite its penis. This phenomenon occurs both in domestic and wild boars and causes obvious animal welfare problems [21,26]. Immunocastration can reduce the incidence of penile injuries and the risk of severe injuries but does not completely prevent this problem. The vaccination protocol also affects the percentage of immunocastrates with penile injuries: the percentage is low (16.7%) if animals are vaccinated early, and increases up to 41.7% if animals are vaccinated late [50]. A recent study by Kress and co-authors [35] suggests a reduction in aggressive behavior and in penile injuries in immunocastrates compared to boars regardless of their housing environment (stressful, conventional, outdoor access). Another question which requires a lot more research is the application of immunocastration to mature boars. The findings of Bilskis and co-authors [70] reveal that testosterone and libido (characterized by pre-mating behavior) of mature boars (>2 years) can be reduced by immunocastration.

In a study by Cronin and co-authors [61], **feeding behavior** was also determined. At an age of 21 weeks, boars spent much less time in the feeders than immunocastrates and barrows. Weiler and co-authors [71] investigated this effect in more detail. Feed intake of boars was lower than in barrows and immunocastrates due to a reduction of number and duration of meals consumed per day. Immunocastration affected feed intake behavior with meal size increasing by 25%. Considerable increases in feeding behavior at least one week after second vaccination were also observed by Schmidt and co-authors [69] and Van den Broeke and co-authors [72]. Restrictive feeding of immunocastrates after second vaccination can lead to more aggressive behavior and higher incidences of skin lesions, comparable to the level among boars [73]. It is therefore recommended not to feed immunocastrates restrictively during the late finishing period.

3.4. Consequences of Immunocastration for Growth Performance, Carcass, and Meat Quality

Immunocastrates change their anabolic potential from that of boars to that of barrows after the second vaccination [10,33,36,74]. Before second vaccination, immunocastrates have a lower average daily gain and a more favorable feed conversion ratio than barrows, up to the second vaccination [23]. As a consequence, the higher boar-specific anabolic potential and the reduced feed intake can be exploited until the second vaccination as reviewed in detail by several authors, e.g., [23,46,75]. After the second vaccination, feed intake of immunocastrates increases significantly [23,71,72] but compared to barrows, they grow still more efficiently [23]. A recent meta-analysis by Nautrup and co-authors [46] including 78 studies showed that, over the entire fattening period, immunocastrates have higher average daily gains than boars and barrows, whereas their feed conversion ratio is intermediate between barrows and boars.

In most of the studies with a fixed duration of fattening, hot carcass weights also differ. Hot carcass weights of immunocastrates are lower than those of barrows, but higher than those of boars [46]. In terms of dressing percentage, boars are inferior to barrows mainly due to higher weights of the genital tract. The dressing percentage of immunocastrates is even poorer due to a higher volume of the gastrointestinal tract [75]. In terms of lean meat content of the carcass, boars are superior to immunocastrates, which have a higher backfat thickness.

Compared to barrows, however, the carcasses of immunocastrates are leaner [23]. Regarding the valuable parts of the carcass, immunocastrates have heavier shoulders and hams than barrows, but lighter bellies. Compared to boars, the carcass traits of immunocastrates are quite similar, but the bellies are heavier [23,46]. In total, the carcass yields of immunocastrates are more favorable than those of boars as well as barrows.

The meat quality of immunocastrates is similar to that of barrows. Both have higher levels of intramuscular fat and lower shear force values than boars [23]. Furthermore, the accumulation of boar taint in adipose tissue is significantly reduced by immunocastration [23,46]. The fatty acids composition of immunocastrates is also comparable to that of barrows and has less PUFAs than boars, which is particularly important in the production of dry-cured products [10]. The meta study of Nautrup co-authors [46] and the review of Čandek-Potokar and co-authors [10] both confirm these findings and suggest that the timing of the second vaccination allows for a product quality tailored to the demands of different pork markets.

3.5. Suitability of Immunocastration for Alternative and High Quality Production Systems

Immunocastration is mainly used in the production of male animals for standard conventional pork products [56]. Nonetheless, the methodology can be used for alternative production systems. In the production of traditional high quality pork products such as drycured hams and shoulders, animals are slaughtered at higher live weights [10,45]. In Iberian high quality production systems, boars and gilts are castrated surgically either to prevent boar taint or undesirable performance losses in female animals during estrus [76], or in extensive free-ranging housing systems in order to prevent unwanted pregnancies during fattening [77,78]. However, castration of females jeopardizes animal welfare and increases production costs and infection risks [76,79]. For traditional products, immunocastration is a good alternative to surgical castration or fattening of entire boars or gilts, as neither performance nor product quality are negatively influenced [45,77,80,81,82]. In a study by Pinna and co-authors [45] with heavy pigs (165 kg live weight) produced for Parma ham, three vaccinations were recommended to prevent boar taint reliably.

Immunocastration could also have positive effects on organic pig production: In a study by Grela and co-authors [83] boars, immunocastrates, barrows, and gilts were fattened under organic conditions. Growth performance as well as feed conversion ratio and lean meat content were more efficient in immunocastrates and boars than in barrows or gilts. Immunocastration was evaluated most favorably both from production and meat quality

perspectives. Immunocastration can be considered as a suitable method for organic pig farming. As mentioned above, organic production systems should also take into account that, for longer fattening periods, animals should be vaccinated a third time in order to reliably prevent boar taint. Looking at the Council Regulation on organic production and labelling of organic products [84] at the European level it remains unclear how immunocastration is classified. According to the European veterinarian code, Improvac[®] is classified in a subgroup of hormone-like substances [85] and according to the EU Council Regulation mentioned above, no hormone-like substances may be used in organic pork production (EC no. 834/2007). From a scientific point of view, immunocastration is not a hormone application at all, so the EU leaves the decision of whether immunocastration is permitted on a national level or not to the EU-members.

In a study by Bilskis and co-authors [70] the efficacy of immunocastration was tested in cull boars from artificial insemination (AI) programs. It showed that even in mature boars (>2 years), testosterone levels decreased significantly after the third vaccination to a level found in young immunocastrates. In a further study with AI boars by Oliviero and co-authors [86], it was also shown that a single dose of Improvac[®] has no negative effect on the fertility of young AI boars. Immunocastration thus allows to use boars for AI services and to prevent boar taint in case of culling by a second vaccination. Such boars can be sold and used for meat products similarly to sows. Immunocastration provides possibilities for alternative production systems to maintain added value by higher animal welfare standards while at the same time delivering high quality products, thus bringing together the two formerly conflicting aims.

3.6. Consequences of Immunocastration for Feeding Requirements

Before the second vaccination, a sufficient amino acid provision is required to support the high protein deposition levels in boars. Thereafter, animals change their metabolism within two weeks [87,88] as described in Section 3.1. In contrast to the increased fat deposition after second vaccination [23,89], the protein deposition seems to remain nearly constant [90]. However, because of the increased feed intake after the second vaccination as described in Section 3.3, the feed intake can be limited or the amount of protein per kg of feed, to limit the increase in nitrogen emission. Quantitative restriction of feed intake has been shown to limit protein deposition in immunocastrates [91] but triggers behavioral problems as described in Section 3.3. Utilization of dietary fibers to dilute protein and energy, on the other hand, does not satisfactorily decrease the intake of protein and amino acid in

immunocastrates [92]. Alternatively, protein and amino acid to energy ratios can be decreased rapidly from the second vaccination onwards in order to limit the excess in protein and amino acid intake. Studies have therefore proposed to decrease the dietary lysine to energy ratio by 20–35% [89,93], but this second option largely depends on the level of feed intake [91]. Moreover, the way animals use dietary energy affects the efficiency of energy utilization as described below in Section 3.7. Labussière and co-authors [94] showed that five weeks after the second vaccination, immunocastrates exhibit a lower basal heat production (783 vs. 856 kJ/kg BW ^{0.60/day}) than boars but an increased heat increment (25.6 vs. 21.6% of ME) when animals were fed the same diet. The difference in basal metabolism can be directly linked to the level of testosterone and anabolic hormones. The difference in energetic efficiency is indicative of the utilization of dietary protein as an energy source for ATP provision and lipid deposition [90], which is less efficient than the utilization of carbohydrates and lipids for such purposes [95]. Most of the time, feeding recommendations are nevertheless supported by measurements in animals in a steady state, e.g., before the second vaccination, or when the transition phase has finished. It has also been shown that modified feeding behavior following the second vaccination [71] is associated with modified glucose metabolism [96,97], which may affect energy efficiency. Because discrepancies between animals in their transition from boar to barrow status may occur, the kinetics in metabolism changes should be considered carefully because of the large variations in speed of feed intake increase between animals or groups of animals [71].

3.7. Consequences of Immunocastration for the Environmental Burden

While pork is of high nutritive value, the pig's omnivorous nature and the way it is fed nowadays negatively affects the perception of pork because of environmental concerns. Major points that influence this perception include the consumption of edible proteins for humans, the global warming potential of meat production, and the excretion of nutrients (most important nitrogen and phosphorus) leading to water eutrophication and soil acidification [98]. Diet composition is an important factor here. Today, pigs are most often fed cereals, legumes, and by-products from the cereal and oil food industry [99]. With the selection towards higher efficiencies, the environmental burden per kg of pork has diminished [100]. Key driver is feed conversion ratio. A study by Reckmann and Krieter [101] showed that feed conversion ratio was the performance parameter in finishing that had the largest impact on global warming, eutrophication, and acidification potential. In the same study, increased lean meat percentage was also linked with decreased environmental impact,

although partially because of the link with improved feed conversion ratio. The functional unit of expressing the environmental impact—per pig place, per kg of pig, per kg of carcass, or per kg of meat and the time period included (life cycle assessment or fattening period) may also affect the interpretation [98,100,102]. In boars, with no pharmaceutical products used for castration, while the feed conversion ratio is low, lean meat percentage is high and carcass yield better than in immunocastrates [23,75,103]. Expressed per kg of pig, carcass or meat, this type of male pig raising is therefore expected to be most environmentally friendly. Hence, boars are compared to different scenarios for pork production the most environmental friendly one [99]. Still, the estimated impact may differ between farms and management strategies and the assumptions made. In a study by Bandekar and co-authors [102], it was concluded that boars had a slightly higher global warming potential than the baseline scenario with barrows. However, they compared slaughtering male pigs at a low slaughter weight (91 kg) with keeping barrows until 125 kg and using ractopamine in barrows. So their model assumed only small differences in feed efficiency despite the lower slaughter weight in boars. This result may not be valid in Europe, where ractopamine is not used and where boars and barrows are slaughtered at a similar weight, but with a larger difference in feed efficiency than assumed by Bandekar and co-authors [102].

An improved environmental impact may be expected with immunocastrates versus barrows, at least per kg of pig due to differences in performance [75]. Indeed, the carbon footprint of a pigs' feed intake was significantly higher in barrows compared to boars and immunocastrates, with intermediate results for gilts [104]. Nitrogen efficiency was also higher in immunocastrates than in barrows and slightly lower than in boars [105]. Immunocastration is therefore considered to lessen the environmental impact of pork compared to barrow production [102,106,107]. Comparing barrows receiving ractopamine throughout finishing with immunocastrates receiving ractopamine after second vaccination, Bandekar and co-authors [102] estimated a reduction of 2.39%, 2.57%, and 2.96% in global warming potential, energy use and water use per kg pig, respectively. As the dressing percentage in immunocastrates is somewhat lower than in boars and barrows [23,75,103], the difference between barrows and immunocastrates in environmental impact per kg of carcass may be less pronounced. On the other hand, the lean meat percentage is higher in boars and immunocastrates than in barrows. Thus, also per kg of meat, immunocastrates can be expected to have a lower impact than barrows. This was confirmed by the study of De Moraes and co-authors [107], who calculated a 3.7% improvement of global warming potential per kg live weight and of 5.0% per kg of meat in immunocastrates versus barrows.

Apart from the differences in performance and hence the amount of feed consumed, the environmental cost of the product for vaccinating pigs also needs to be taken into account. In a study carried out by the manufacturer of Improvac[®] and an independent consulting firm [107], the calculated contribution of the product manufacturing accounted for 0.01% of the global warming potential, compared to 36% assigned to the feed consumed and 30% to the slurry management. In barrows, there is increasing pressure for using analgesics and anesthetics during castration. Isoflurane, currently used in some European countries for castration under anesthetic drugs has to be considered in the assessment of environmental sustainably [108].

One shortcoming in most studies comparing different types of male pig production is that they often do not correct for altered nutrient requirements and thus for possibly different diets in these different production systems. Compared to boars, barrows have lower amino acid requirements. Hence, barrow diets may contain less soybean meal than boar diets. While their feed conversion ratio is worse, the environmental impact per kg of feed consumed by barrows may be lower than in boars. A classic reductionist approach may overestimate the difference in environmental impact. Similarly, the finishing diet of immunocastrates may be optimized to minimize their environmental impact. It needs to be taken into account that male pigs are only half of the pigs born on a farm. On individual farm level, the effect may depend on whether male and female pigs are raised and fed together or separate as described above (Section 3.6). While ceasing the castration of piglets may improve the environmental sustainability of pork production, this will only happen with optimal management and especially feeding. Key principles such as precision feeding, the use of enzymes such as phytase to increase nutrient digestibility, and the application of free amino acids to reduce total crude protein content may have a more pronounced effect than that achieved by just the castration decision. Further insights in the sustainable feeding of pigs, in particular immunocastrates, are therefore crucial.

3.8. Consequences of Immunocastration for Economy

Immunocastration is highly controversial in international pork markets and globally rarely used in practice. There are however some international differences, while some countries reject the method completely [10,30], in other countries such as Brazil and Australia, immunocastration is already widely used with more than 50% of all male pigs vaccinated [10,34,109]. Based on a press release by Zoetis in June 2018, more than 2.5 million doses of

the vaccine Improvac[®] are sold each month worldwide [110]. This means that with an average of two vaccinations per animal, about 15 million immunocastrates are produced annually. In 2018, 1.27 billion pigs were slaughtered globally [111]. Assuming that half of the slaughtered pigs are male, 634.6 million of male pigs were slaughtered in 2018. The global proportion of immunocastrates is then about 2.36%. Within three years, both the absolute number and the proportion of immunocastrates have doubled worldwide between 2015 and 2018 [8,110,111].

The cost per dose of Improvac[®] range between $1.4 \in$ and $1.5 \in [112]$. With two vaccinations plus labor costs (45–50 s for both vaccinations per pig), the additional expenses amount to $3-4 \notin$ per pig [113,114]. Decreasing costs are likely, as depending on the size of the farmlarger purchasing volumes may lead to discounts which create economies of scale. Additionally, it is possible that generic pharmaceuticals or other vaccines may increase the cost competition of suppliers, further reducing vaccination costs per animal. At present, only one product for pigs is available on the European market (Improvac[®]), and the manufacturer has a monopoly in this segment. A review of Vondeling and co-authors [115] shows that pharmaceutical prices fall by 6.6-66% after patents expire. A recent study by Verhaagh and Deblitz [114] even estimated price reduction at 55%, based on historical discounts after patent expiration. This could further increase the economic profitability of immunocastration. Along the pork supply chain, additional costs may arise from factors such as specialization of production systems, special sorting of immunocastrated animals or carcasses, removing the testes, boar taint detection, or rejected carcasses due to boar taint. As described above (Section 3.2), the risk of immunocastrates for displaying boar taint is very low. This explains why many economic studies do not consider the cost of boar taint detection at slaughter line in their research [113,116]. In addition, the economic efficiency of pork production systems with immunocastrates is influenced by the pricing scheme that is applied. An analysis by Niemi and co-authors [116] shows that additional costs of 1 € per metric ton of pork arise if immunocastrates are sold according to the boar pricing scheme. If the production systems adapt and immunocastrates are sold similar to barrows, a value added of $\in 21$ per metric ton pork arises. Irrespective of these aspects, the studies by de Roest and co-authors [113] and Verhaagh and Deblitz [114] show increased production costs of immunocastrates on farm level due to vaccination costs, labor costs, and feed costs. On average, these additional production costs are compensated by higher revenues due to higher performance resulting in more pigs produced per place and year. As a consequence, immunocastrates represent a viable alternative for European pig producers.

Even though immunocastration could be very beneficial in terms of animal welfare, product quality, environment, and production efficiency, market shares of immunocastrated male pigs are very low in Europe as shown in **Table 1**. Despite the fact that European stakeholders aimed to end surgical castration by 2018 [32], there is still no common political strategy recognized within the pork chain. European pork markets are too diverse [30] and in addition to pork production with boars (see **Table 1**), each nation develops more or less efficient implementation strategies (see **Table 2**).

Country	Boars (%)	Immunocastrates (%)	Barrows (%)	Pig Population (x1000)
Germany	20	<1	80	28,046
Spain	80	5	15	25,495
Denmark	<2	0	>97	12,402
Netherlands	65	0	35	12,013
France	22	< 0.1	78	11,835
Italy	2	5	93	8561
Belgium	8	15	80	6351
Romania	0	5	95	5180
UK	98	<1	2	4383
Hungary	1	0	99	2935
Austria	5	0	95	2846
Portugal	85	2.5	12.5	2014
Norway	<1	6	94	1644
Switzerland	5	2.5	92.5	1573
Czech	5	5	90	1548
Ireland	100	0	0	1468
Sweden	1	9	90	1354
Finland	4	0	96	1258
Slovakia	0	10	90	637
Latvia	0	0	100	368
Estonia	0	0	100	359
Slovenia	1	0	99	288
Macedonia	0	0	100	200
Luxembourg	1	0	99	90
Iceland	0	0	99	36
Total	34	2.8	63	132,884

Table 1. Population shares of male pigs raised as boars, immunocastrates or barrows in Europe (2017), ranked according to size of pig population [30].

Country	Year	Alternatives Implemented		
Norway	2002	Local anesthesia (lidocaine) with analgesia (meloxicam)		
Netherlands	2009	Surgical castration under anesthesia (CO ₂) for export market		
Germany	2009	End of surgical castration without anesthesia postponed until 2020. Meanwhile analgesia (meloxicam); anesthesia (esp. isoflurane) required only in some organic programs; immunocastration in some high-quality meat programs		
Switzerland	2010	Anesthesia (isoflurane)		
Denmark	2011/2019	Analgesia (meloxicam); from 2019 on, plus local anesthesia (procaine)		
Belgium	gium 2011 Surgical castration with analgesia (meloxicam) for export market; immunocastration domestic retail market			
France	2013	Analgesia (meloxicam)		
Sweden	2016	Local anesthesia (lidocaine) with analgesia (meloxicam); one smaller retailer prefers immunocastration		
Austria	2017	Analgesia (meloxicam)		

Table 2. National strategies to substitute surgical castration without pain reliving methods, according to the year of implementation [10,29,30,117].

3.9. Societal Concerns and Immunocastration

Stakeholders' acceptance is crucial for a sustainable use of immunocastration in European pork markets. The perception of the procedure is very heterogeneous and varies between countries. Nations with a high proportion of boars in pork production do not discuss alternatives intensively. Countries where pork production is traditionally based on barrows and gilts have more difficulties abandoning surgical castration without anesthesia or analgesia, as pork production with boars is rejected and immunocastration hardly accepted [34]. Despite intensive animal welfare debates on surgical piglet castration, the study by Tuyttens and co-authors [118] show that pig producers prefer to continue surgical castration, as this seems to be the most efficient and reliable way to produce a high product quality. The studies by Tuyttens and co-authors [118] and Schübeler and Koch [119] point out that farmers are rather neutral about immunocastration and that their knowledge about the method is even lower than about other alternatives to piglet castration.

In a study by Aluwé and co-authors [120], farmers were asked for their attitude towards immunocastration before and after practical experience with this technique. It turned out that experience with immunocastration even had a negative effect on the attitude of farmers. Their main concerns were consumer acceptance, reliable prevention of boar taint, economic efficiency, and the risk of accidental self-injection. However, it cannot be excluded that the farmers gave a lower score because of high expectations prior to the trial. Similar results were obtained in the studies by Tuyttens and co-authors [118] and Schübeler and Koch [119]. A review by Mancini and co-authors [34] showed that the majority of consumers are

unaware that male piglets are castrated surgically without anesthesia or analgesia. Furthermore, only a few consumers knew of immunocastration. Among consumers, attributes such as animal welfare, price, product quality and food safety are recognized. When making purchase decisions at the counter, these attributes are weighed and result in the acceptance or rejection of pork from immunocastrates. In terms of animal welfare and product quality, consumers rate immunocastration more positively than pork production with boars or barrows, but are more skeptical about food safety and prices. Thus, the results of consumer studies are unequivocal. A recent study by Di Pasquale and co-authors [121] shows that Italian consumers rate meat from immunocastrates more positively than meat from surgical castrates or entire males, with a low risk perception of immunocastration. This leads to a higher willingness to pay for products from immunocastrated male pigs. The provision of more extensive information on immunocastration had no effect on the decisions of consumers.

Immunocastration can also be an alternative for different production systems as described above. Consumers accept immunocastration for the production of Parma ham if animal welfare, product quality and consumer safety are guaranteed [122]. On the other hand, Heid and Hamm [123] show that German consumers are skeptical about immunocastration in organic pork production because they are worried about residues in meat. Fredriksen and coauthors [124] show that consumer concerns can be minimized by information programs from public authorities. Furthermore, some studies show that information material for target groups increases consumer acceptance of immunocastration-especially if audio-visual techniques are employed [118]. A study by Mörlein and Schübeler [125] investigated which wording should be used by staff at the meat counter to communicate with consumers about immunocastration. It turned out that quality-oriented facts were more important than technical information. For consumers who were more critical and very interested, however, further information material covering technical aspects should also be provided. Moreover, a variety of sensory studies show that pork from immunocastrates is preferred to pork from boars and was rated as similar or even better than pork from barrows [34,46]. A recent study by Čandek-Potokar and co-authors [126] shows that Slovenian consumers prefer pancetta from boars with low boar taint levels to pancetta from immunocastrates or barrows. If boar taint concentrations were high, pancetta from immunocastrates and barrows was considered better.

As mentioned above, one major concern of consumers are possible residues in pork of immunocastrates. As part of the European Medicines Agency [127] approval process for

Improvac[®], food safety was evaluated and several studies tested hormonal and oral efficacy of the synthetic antigen used in the vaccine. In sheep, the hormonal efficacy was first tested by intravenous application of the compounds used in Improvac[®], then of the complete antigen, in order to measure the LH release. The GnRH fragment itself only had a potency of 0.2% on LH-release when compared to injections of the natural GnRH [128], as the first amino acid, which is involved in receptor binding, is missing [129]. The diphtheria toxoid has also been used for other vaccines and has neither toxic nor hormonal activity [127]. Similarly, the injection of the whole antigen revealed no hormonal activity.

The oral effects of the vaccine were tested in pigs and rats. In pigs, the normal dose of 2 mL Improvac[®] was administered twice, at the age of 13 and 17 weeks. Neither GnRH antibodies were detected in serum nor decreasing testosterone levels. Even a 70-fold dose of Improvac[®] applied orally to rats did not change the GnRH antibody concentrations [128]. It was therefore concluded that the vaccine is not orally effective [128] and the withdrawal time was set at 0 days before slaughter [39]. The main risk for the operator is a potential selfinjection of the vaccine. In the scientific report of the European Medicines Agency [127], the risk of self-injections is estimated at 0.00004%. However, in order to minimize the risk of self-injections, the manufacturer of Improvac[®] provides a safety device for vaccination [112]. Nevertheless, the consequences of a potential self-injection have to be estimated. As with all mammals, the hormone GnRH is crucial for reproduction and no species differences in GnRH amino acid sequence exist between pigs and humans [130]. Vaccination against GnRH would therefore lead to transient infertility in both females and males. After an accidental self-vaccination, the user must not carry out further vaccinations to avoid high GnRH antibody production. In a study by Simms and co-authors [131] with prostate cancer patients, GnRH vaccination was tested to suppress testosterone-induced tumor growth in 12 patients with advanced prostate cancer. In five patients, a significant decrease in testosterone concentrations was shown. The suppression of testicular function was transient and testosterone returned to normal concentrations after 9 months.

4. Conclusions

Immunocastration is a technique to improve pork quality, animal welfare, economic profitability, and environmental protection, which can contribute to a more sustainable pork production in Europe. Nonetheless, conflicting aims within each pillar of sustainability as well as between the three pillars have to be balanced against each other in the production process (see **Figure 1**). High product quality with low boar taint levels and higher levels of

intramuscular fat work well with production systems which optimize welfare aspects through an early second vaccination. These advantages have to be balanced against the higher anabolic potential of boars which can create economic and environmental benefits. The later the second vaccination is applied, the better its effects for the environment and for farm profitability. As demonstrated by this example, synergic aims exist between the pillar of economy and the pillar of environment. On the other hand, conflicting aims between these two pillars and the pillar of society also exist. Within the value chain, targeted communication about the impact of the timing of the second vaccination is essential in order to make use of this opportunity to produce meat quality tailored to various market segments with different impacts on sustainability.



Figure 1. Relationships between the main criteria influenced by immunocastration within the frame of sustainability.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization, K.K.; Writing—original draft preparation, K.K., S.M., É.L., U.W., and V.S.; Writing—review and editing, K.K., S.M., É.L., U.W., and V.S.

Funding

This research is part of the Era-NET SuSan, project SuSi (co-financing by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research & Innovation Programme and German Federal Office for Agriculture and Food), grant number 696231.

Acknowledgments

Authors greatly acknowledge the support of Christine Frasch for proofreading the manuscript and English corrections.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest. The funders had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript, or in the decision to publish the results.

References

- Krystallis, A.; de Barcellos, M.D.; Kügler, J.O.; Verbeke, W.; Grunert, K.G. Attitudes of European citizens towards pig production systems. *Livest. Sci.* 2009, *126*, 46–56. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2009.05.016
- Van Loo, E.J.; Caputo, V.; Nayga, R.M.; Verbeke, W. Consumers' valuation of sustainability labels on meat. *Food Policy* 2014, 49, 137–150. doi: 10.1016/j.foodpol.2014.07.002
- Vanhonacker, F.; Verbeke, W. Public and Consumer Policies for Higher Welfare Food Products: Challenges and Opportunities. *J. Agric. Environ. Eth.* 2014, 27, 153–171. doi: 10.1007/s10806-013-9479-2
- Ingenbleek, P.T.M.; Immink, V.M.; Spoolder, H.A.M.; Bokma, M.H.; Keeling, L.J. EU animal welfare policy: Developing a comprehensive policy framework. *Food Policy* 2012, *37*, 690–699. doi: 10.1016/j.foodpol.2012.07.001
- EFSA Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Animal Health and Welfare on a request from the Commission related to welfare aspects of the castration of piglets. *The EFSA Journal* 2004, *91*, 1–18. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2004.91
- 6. Prunier, A.; Bonneau, M.; Von Borell, E.H.; Cinotti, S.; Gunn, M.; Fredriksen, B.; Giersing, M.; Morton, D.B.; Tuyttens, F.A.M.; Velarde, A. A review of the welfare

consequences of surgical castration in piglets and the evaluation of non-surgical methods. *Anim. Welf.* **2006**, *15*, 277–289.

- Rault, J.-L.; Lay, D.C.; Marchant-Forde, J.N. Castration induced pain in pigs and other livestock. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.* 2011, 135, 214–225. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2011.10.017
- Zamaratskaia, G.; Rasmussen, M.K. Immunocastration of Male Pigs–Situation Today. Procedia Food Sci. 2015, 5, 324–327. doi: 10.1016/j.profoo.2015.09.064
- Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V.; Von Borell, E. Die Kastration beim Schwein–Zielkonflikte und Lösungsansätze aus der Sicht des Tierschutzes. Züchtungskunde 2016, 88, 429– 444.
- Čandek-Potokar, M.; Škrlep, M.; Zamaratskaia, G. Immunocastration as Alternative to Surgical Castration in Pigs. *Theriogenology* 2017, 6, 109–126. doi: 10.5772/intechopen.68650
- von Borell, E.; Baumgartner, J.; Giersing, M.; Jäggin, N.; Prunier, A.; Tuyttens, F.A.M.; Edwards, S.A. Animal welfare implications of surgical castration and its alternatives in pigs. *Animal* 2009, *3*, 1488–1496. doi: 10.1017/S1751731109004728
- Bonneau, M. Use of entire males for pig meat in the European Union. *Meat Sci.* 1998, 49, 257–272. doi: 10.1016/S0309-1740(98)90053-5
- Claus, R.; Weiler, U.; Herzog, A. Physiological aspects of androstenone and skatole formation in the boar—A review with experimental data. *Meat Sci.* 1994, *38*, 289–305. doi: 10.1016/0309-1740(94)90118-X
- Wesoly, R.; Weiler, U. Nutritional Influences on Skatole Formation and Skatole Metabolism in the Pig. *Animals* 2012, *2*, 221–242. doi: 10.3390/ani2020221
- Kojima, M.; Degawa, M. Serum androgen level is determined by autosomal dominant inheritance and regulates sex-related CYP genes in pigs. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 2013, 430, 833–838. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.11.060
- Walstra, P.; Claudi-Magnussen, C.; Chevillon, P.; von Seth, G.; Diestre, A.; Matthews, K.R.; Homer, D.B.; Bonneau, M. An international study on the importance of androstenone and skatole for boar taint: Levels of androstenone and skatole by country and season. *Livest. Prod. Sci.* 1999, *62*, 15–28. doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(99)00054-8
- 17. Weiler, U.; Fischer, K.; Kemmer, H.; Dobrowolski, A.; Claus, R. Influence of androstenone sensitivity on consumer reactions to boar meat. In *Boar Taint in Entire*

Male Pigs; Bonneau, M., Lundström, K., Malmfors, B., Eds.; EAAP Publication: Roma, Italy, 1998; Volume 92, pp. 147–151.

- Lunde, K.; Egelandsdal, B.; Skuterud, E.; Mainland, J.D.; Lea, T.; Hersleth, M.; Matsunami, H. Genetic Variation of an Odorant Receptor OR7D4 and Sensory Perception of Cooked Meat Containing Androstenone. *PLoS ONE* 2012, *7*, e35259. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035259
- Weiler, U.; Font i Furnols, M.; Fischer, K.; Kemmer, H.; Oliver, M.A.; Gispert, M.; Dobrowolski, A.; Claus, R. Influence of differences in sensitivity of Spanish and German consumers to perceive androstenone on the acceptance of boar meat differing in skatole and androstenone concentrations. *Meat Sci.* 2000, *54*, 297–304. doi: 10.1016/S0309-1740(99)00106-0
- Font i Furnols, M.; Gispert, M.; Diestre, A.; Oliver, M.A. Acceptability of boar meat by consumers depending on their age, gender, culinary habits, and sensitivity and appreciation of androstenone odour. *Meat Sci.* 2003, 64, 433–440. doi: 10.1016/S0309-1740(02)00212-7
- Weiler, U.; Isernhagen, M.; Stefanski, V.; Ritzmann, M.; Kress, K.; Hein, C.; Zöls, S. Penile Injuries in Wild and Domestic Pigs. *Animals* 2016, *6*, 25. doi: 10.3390/ani6040025
- 22. Claus, R.; Weiler, U. Endocrine regulation of growth and metabolism in the pig: A review. *Livest. Prod. Sci.* **1994**, *37*, 245–260. doi: 10.1016/0301-6226(94)90120-1
- Batorek-Lukač, N.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Bonneau, M.; Van Milgen, J. Meta-analysis of the effect of immunocastration on production performance, reproductive organs and boar taint compounds in pigs. *Animal* 2012, 6, 1330–1338. doi: 10.1017/s1751731112000146
- 24. Babol, J.; Squires, E.J. Quality of meat from entire male pigs. *Food Res. Int.* **1995**, *28*, 201–212. doi: 10.1016/0963-9969(95)93528-3
- 25. Lundström, K.; Matthews, K.R.; Haugen, J.-E. Pig meat quality from entire males. *Animal* **2009**, *3*, 1497–1507. doi: 10.1017/S1751731109990693
- Reiter, S.; Zöls, S.; Ritzmann, M.; Stefanski, V.; Weiler, U. Penile Injuries in Immunocastrated and Entire Male Pigs of One Fattening Farm. *Animals* 2017, 7, 71. doi: 10.3390/ani7090071

- Rydhmer, L.; Zamaratskaia, G.; Andersson, H.K.; Algers, B.; Guillemet, R.; Lundström, K. Aggressive and sexual behaviour of growing and finishing pigs reared in groups, without castration. *Acta Agric. Scand. Sect. A Anim. Sci.* 2006, *56*, 109–119. doi: 10.1080/09064700601079527
- 28. Council Directive 2008/120/EC. Available online: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32008L0120 (accessed on 24 April 2018).
- De Briyne, N.; Berg, C.; Blaha, T.; Temple, D. Pig castration: Will the EU manage to ban pig castration by 2018? *Porc. Health Manag.* 2016, *2*, 29. doi: 10.1186/s40813-016-0046-x
- 30. Backus, G.; Higuera, M.; Juul, N.; Nalon, E.; de Briyne, N. Second Progress Report 2015–2017 on the European Declaration on Alternatives to Surgical Castration of Pigs. Available online: https://www.boarsontheway.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Second-progress-report-2015-2017-final-1.pdf (accessed on 26 April 2019).
- Fredriksen, B.; Font i Furnols, M.; Lundström, K.; Migdal, W.; Prunier, A.; Tuyttens,
 F.A.M.; Bonneau, M. Practice on castration of piglets in Europe. *Animal* 2009, *3*, 1480–1487. doi: 10.1017/S1751731109004674
- 32. European Declaration on Alternatives to Surgical Castration of Pigs. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/animals/docs/aw_prac_farm_pigs_castalt_declaration_en.pdf (accessed on 31 March 2019).
- 33. Thompson, D.L. Immunization against GnRH in male species (comparative aspects). *Anim. Reprod. Sci.* **2000**, *60–61*, 459–469. doi: 10.1016/S0378-4320(00)00116-0
- Mancini, M.C.; Menozzi, D.; Arfini, F. Immunocastration: Economic implications for the pork supply chain and consumer perception. An assessment of existing research. *Livest. Sci.* 2017, 203, 10–20. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2017.06.012
- 35. Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Influence of housing conditions on antibody formation and testosterone after Improvac vaccinations. *Adv. Anim. Biosci.* 2018, 9, s19. doi: 10.1017/S2040470018000183
- Claus, R.; Lacorn, M.; Danowski, K.; Pearce, M.C.; Bauer, A. Short-term endocrine and metabolic reactions before and after second immunization against GnRH in boars. *Vaccine* 2007, 25, 4689–4696. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.04.009

- Kubale, V.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Škrlep, M.; Prunier, A.; Bonneau, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Steroid hormones, boar taint compounds, and reproductive organs in pigs according to the delay between immunocastration and slaughter. *Theriogenology* 2013, 79, 69–80. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2012.09.010
- Han, X.; Zhou, Y.; Zeng, Y.; Sui, F.; Liu, Y.; Tan, Y.; Cao, X.; Du, X.; Meng, F.; Zeng, X. Effects of active immunization against GnRH versus surgical castration on hypothalamic-pituitary function in boars. *Theriogenology* 2017, 97, 89–97. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2017.04.038
- European Medicines Agency. EPAR Summary for the Public. Available online: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/overview/improvac-epar-summarypublic_en.pdf (accessed on 24 April 2019).
- 40. Zamaratskaia, G.; Babol, J.; Madej, A.; Squires, E.J.; Lundström, K. Age-related Variation of Plasma Concentrations of Skatole, Androstenone, Testosterone, Oestradiol-17β, Oestrone Sulphate, Dehydroepiandrosterone Sulphate, Triiodothyronine and IGF-1 in Six Entire Male Pigs. *Reprod. Domest. Anim.* 2004, *39*, 168–172. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0531.2004.00496.x
- 41. Ayalew, G. A Review on the Effect of Immunocastration Against Gonadal Physiology and Boar Taint. *Biomed. Nurs.* **2019**, *5*, 26–40. doi: 10.7537/marsbnj050119.03
- Chang, C.; Varamini, P.; Giddam, A.K.; Mansfeld, F.M.; D'Occhio, M.J.; Toth, I. Investigation of Structure–Activity Relationships of Synthetic Anti-Gonadotropin Releasing Hormone Vaccine Candidates. *CHEMMEDCHEM* 2015, *10*, 901–910. doi: 10.1002/cmdc.201500036
- Claus, R.; Rottner, S.; Rueckert, C. Individual return to Leydig cell function after GnRH-immunization of boars. *Vaccine* 2008, 26, 4571–4578. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.05.085
- 44. Einarsson, S.; Andersson, K.; Wallgren, M.; Lundström, K.; Rodriguez-Martinez, H. Short- and long-term effects of immunization against gonadotropin-releasing hormone, using ImprovacTM, on sexual maturity, reproductive organs and sperm morphology in male pigs. *Theriogenology* 2009, 71, 302–310. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2008.07.022
- 45. Pinna, A.; Schivazappa, C.; Virgili, R.; Parolari, G. Effect of vaccination against gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) in heavy male pigs for Italian typical dry-

cured ham production. *Meat Sci.* **2015**, *110*, 153–159. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2015.07.002

- 46. Nautrup, B.P.; Vlaenderen, I.V.; Aldaz, A.; Mah, C.K. The effect of immunization against gonadotropin-releasing factor on growth performance, carcass characteristics and boar taint relevant to pig producers and the pork packing industry: A meta-analysis-ScienceDirect. *Res. Vet. Sci.* 2018, *119*, 182–195. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2018.06.002
- 47. Andersson, K.; Brunius, C.; Zamaratskaia, G.; Lundström, K. Early vaccination with Improvac[®]: Effects on performance and behaviour of male pigs. *Animal* 2012, *6*, 87–95. doi: 10.1017/S1751731111001200
- Sattler, T.; Sauer, F.; Schmoll, F. Effect of time of second GnRH vaccination on feed intake, carcass quality and fatty acid composition of male fatteners compared to entire boars and barrows. *Berliner und Münchener Tierärztliche Wochenschrift* 2014, *127*, 290–296.
- Aluwé, M.; Degezelle, I.; Depuydt, L.; Fremaut, D.; Van den Broeke, A.; Millet, S. Immunocastrated male pigs: Effect of 4 v. 6 weeks time post second injection on performance, carcass quality and meat quality. *Animal* 2016, *10*, 1466–1473. doi: 10.1017/S1751731116000434
- Reiter, S.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V.; Ritzmann, M.; Zöls, S. Penile injuries in immunocastrated and entire male pigs of one fattening farm. *Adv. Anim. Biosci.* 2018, 9, s30. doi: 10.1017/S2040470018000183
- 51. Škrlep, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Prevolnik-Povše, M.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Teoretical and practical aspects of immunocastration. *Stočarstvo Časopis za unapređenje stočarstva* **2014**, *68*, 39–49.
- Miller, L.A.; Fagerstone, K.A.; Eckery, D.C. Twenty years of immunocontraceptive research: Lessons learned. J. Zoo Wildl. Med. 2013, 44, 84–96. doi: 10.1638/1042-7260-44.4S.S84
- 53. Sødring, S.; Naadland, T.H. High Androstenone in Norwegian Immunocastrates and the Effect on Vaccination Rate and Farmer Attitudes. Available online: http://www.ca-ipema.eu/oeiras-presentations (accessed on 26 April 2019).
- Mathur, P.K.; ten Napel, J.; Bloemhof, S.; Heres, L.; Knol, E.F.; Mulder, H.A. A human nose scoring system for boar taint and its relationship with androstenone and skatole. *Meat Sci.* 2012, *91*, 414–422. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.02.025

- 55. Morales, J.; Dereu, A.; Manso, A.; de Frutos, L.; Piñeiro, C.; Manzanilla, E.G.; Wuyts, N. Surgical castration with pain relief affects the health and productive performance of pigs in the suckling period. *Porc. Health Manag.* 2017, *3*, 18. doi: 10.1186/s40813-017-0066-1
- Needham, T.; Lambrechts, H.; Hoffman, L.C. Castration of male livestock and the potential of immunocastration to improve animal welfare and production traits: Invited Review. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 2017, 47, 731–742. doi: 10.4314/sajas.v47i6.1
- McGlone, J.; Guay, K.; Garcia, A. Comparison of Intramuscular or Subcutaneous Injections vs. Castration in Pigs—Impacts on Behavior and Welfare. *Animals* 2016, 6, 52. doi: 10.3390/ani6090052
- Einarsson, S. Vaccination against GnRH: Pros and cons. *Acta Vet. Scand.* 2006, *48*, S10. doi: 10.1186/1751-0147-48-S1-S10
- McNeil, M.M.; Weintraub, E.S.; Duffy, J.; Sukumaran, L.; Jacobsen, S.J.; Klein, N.P.; Hambidge, S.J.; Lee, G.M.; Jackson, L.A.; Irving, S.A.; et al. Risk of anaphylaxis after vaccination in children and adults. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* 2016, *137*, 868–878. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.07.048
- Gutzwiller, A.; Ampuero Kragten, S. Suppression of boar taint in cryptorchid pigs using a vaccine against the gonadotropin-releasing hormone. *Schweizer Archiv für Tierheilkunde* 2013, 155, 677–680. doi: 10.1024/0036-7281/a000533
- Cronin, G.M.; Dunshea, F.R.; Butler, K.L.; McCauley, I.; Barnett, J.L.; Hemsworth, P.H. The effects of immuno- and surgical-castration on the behaviour and consequently growth of group-housed, male finisher pigs. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.* 2003, *81*, 111–126. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1591(02)00256-3
- Baumgartner, J.; Laister, S.; Koller, M.; Pfützner, A.; Grodzycki, M.; Andrews, S.; Schmoll, F. The behaviour of male fattening pigs following either surgical castration or vaccination with a GnRF vaccine. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.* 2010, *124*, 28–34. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2010.01.004
- Puls, C.L.; Rojo, A.; Matzat, P.D.; Schroeder, A.L.; Ellis, M. Behavior of immunologically castrated barrows in comparison to gilts, physically castrated barrows, and intact male pigs. *J. Anim. Sci.* 2017, 95, 2345–2353. doi: 10.2527/jas.2016.1335

- dos Santos, R.d.K.S.; Caldara, F.R.; Moi, M.; dos Santos, L.S.; Nääs, I.A.; Foppa, L.; Garcia, R.G.; Borquis, R.R.A. Behavior of immunocastrated pigs. *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia* 2016, 45, 540–545. doi: 10.1590/s1806-92902016000900006
- Zamaratskaia, G.; Rydhmer, L.; Andersson, H.K.; Chen, G.; Lowagie, S.; Andersson, K.; Lundström, K. Long-term effect of vaccination against gonadotropin-releasing hormone, using Improvac, on hormonal profile and behaviour of male pigs. *Anim. Reprod. Sci.* 2008, *108*, 37–48. doi: 10.1016/j.anireprosci.2007.07.001
- 66. Rydhmer, L.; Lundström, K.; Andersson, K. Immunocastration reduces aggressive and sexual behaviour in male pigs. *Animal* 2010, 4, 965–972. doi: 10.1017/S175173111000011X
- Guay, K.; Salgado, G.; Thompson, G.; Backus, B.; Sapkota, A.; Chaya, W.; McGlone, J.J. Behavior and handling of physically and immunologically castrated market pigs on farm and going to market. *J. Anim. Sci.* 2013, *91*, 5410–5417. doi: 10.2527/jas.2012-5726
- Karaconji, B.; Lloyd, B.; Campbell, N.; Meaney, D.; Ahern, T. Effect of an antigonadotropin-releasing factor vaccine on sexual and aggressive behaviour in male pigs during the finishing period under Australian field conditions. *Aust. Vet. J.* 2015, *93*, 121–123. doi: 10.1111/avj.12307
- Schmidt, T.; Calabrese, J.M.; Grodzycki, M.; Paulick, M.; Pearce, M.C.; Rau, F.; von Borell, E. Impact of single-sex and mixed-sex group housing of boars vaccinated against GnRF or physically castrated on body lesions, feeding behaviour and weight gain. *Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci.* 2011, *130*, 42–52. doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2010.11.019
- Bilskis, R.; Sutkeviciene, N.; Riskeviciene, V.; Januskauskas, A.; Zilinskas, H. Effect of active immunization against GnRH on testosterone concentration, libido and sperm quality in mature AI boars. *Acta Vet. Scand.* 2012, *54*, 33. doi: 10.1186/1751-0147-54-33
- Weiler, U.; Götz, M.; Schmidt, A.; Otto, M.; Müller, S. Influence of sex and immunocastration on feed intake behavior, skatole and indole concentrations in adipose tissue of pigs. *Animal* 2013, 7, 300–308. doi: 10.1017/S175173111200167X
- 72. Van den Broeke, A.; Leen, F.; Aluwé, M.; Ampe, B.; Van Meensel, J.; Millet, S. The effect of GnRH vaccination on performance, carcass, and meat quality and hormonal

regulation in boars, barrows, and gilts. J. Anim. Sci. 2016, 94, 2811–2820. doi: 10.2527/jas.2015-0173

- Batorek-Lukač, N.; Škrlep, M.; Prunier, A.; Louveau, I.; Noblet, J.; Bonneau, M.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Effect of feed restriction on hormones, performance, carcass traits, and meat quality in immunocastrated pigs. *J. Anim. Sci.* 2012, *90*, 4593–4603. doi: 10.2527/jas.2012-5330
- 74. Turkstra, J.A.; Zeng, X.Y.; van Diepen, J.Th.M.; Jongbloed, A.W.; Oonk, H.B.; van de Wiel, D.F.M.; Meloen, R.H. Performance of male pigs immunized against GnRH is related to the time of onset of biological response. *J. Anim. Sci.* 2002, *80*, 2953–2959. doi: 10.2527/2002.80112953x
- Millet, S.; Gielkens, K.; Brabander, D.D.; Janssens, G.P.J. Considerations on the performance of immunocastrated male pigs. *Animal* 2011, 5, 1119–1123. doi: 10.1017/S1751731111000140
- Serrano, M.P.; Valencia, D.G.; Fuentetaja, A.; Lázaro, R.; Mateos, G.G. Effect of gender and castration of females and slaughter weight on performance and carcass and meat quality of Iberian pigs reared under intensive management systems. *Meat Sci.* 2008, 80, 1122–1128. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2008.05.005
- 77. Martinez-Macipe, M.; Rodríguez, P.; Izquierdo, M.; Gispert, M.; Manteca, X.; Mainau, E.; Hernández, F.I.; Claret, A.; Guerrero, L.; Dalmau, A. Comparison of meat quality parameters in surgical castrated versus vaccinated against gonadotrophin-releasing factor male and female Iberian pigs reared in free-ranging conditions. *Meat Sci.* 2016, *111*, 116–121. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2015.09.002
- Dalmau, A.; Velarde, A.; Rodríguez, P.; Pedernera, C.; Llonch, P.; Fàbrega, E.; Casal, N.; Mainau, E.; Gispert, M.; King, V.; et al. Use of an anti-GnRF vaccine to suppress estrus in crossbred Iberian female pigs. *Theriogenology* 2015, *84*, 342–347. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2015.03.025
- Dalmau, A.; Temple, D.; Velarde, A. Relación entre el bienestar animal y el cerdo Ibérico en montanera. *Suis* 2011, *83*, 22–29.
- 80. Font i Furnols, M.; Gispert, M.; Soler, J.; Diaz, M.; Garcia-Regueiro, J.A.; Diaz, I.; Pearce, M.C. Effect of vaccination against gonadotrophin-releasing factor on growth performance, carcass, meat and fat quality of male Duroc pigs for dry-cured ham production. *Meat Sci.* 2012, *91*, 148–154. doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.01.008

- Daza, A.; Latorre, M.A.; Olivares, A.; López Bote, C.J. The effects of male and female immunocastration on growth performances and carcass and meat quality of pigs intended for dry-cured ham production: A preliminary study. *Livest. Sci.* 2016, 190, 20– 26. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2016.05.014
- Xue, Y.; Zheng, W.; Zhang, F.; Rao, S.; Peng, Z.; Yao, W. Effect of immunocastration on growth performance, gonadal development and carcass and meat quality of SuHuai female pigs. *Anim. Prod. Sci.* 2019, *59*, 794–800. doi: 10.1071/AN16733
- 83. Grela, E.R.; Kowalczuk-Vasilev, E.; Klebaniuk, R. Performance, pork quality and fatty acid composition of entire males, surgically castrated or immunocastrated males, and female pigs reared under organic system. *Pol. J. Vet. Sci.* **2013**, *16*, 107–114.
- 84. Council Regulation EC (No) 834/2007. Available online: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:32007R0834&from=DE (accessed on 24 August 2017).
- European Commission Union. Register of Veterinary Medicinal Products. Available online: http://ec.europa.eu/health/documents/community-register/html/v095.htm (accessed on 24 April 2019).
- Oliviero, C.; Ollila, A.; Andersson, M.; Heinonen, M.; Voutila, L.; Serenius, T.; Peltoniemi, O. Strategic use of anti-GnRH vaccine allowing selection of breeding boars without adverse effects on reproductive or production performances. *Theriogenology* 2016, *85*, 476–482. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2015.09.027
- Bauer, A.; Lacorn, M.; Claus, R. Effects of two levels of feed allocation on IGF-I concentrations and metabolic parameters in GnRH-immunized boars. *J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr.* 2009, 93, 744–753. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0396.2008.00860.x
- Huber, L.; Squires, E.J.; de Lange, C.F.M. Dynamics of nitrogen retention in entire male pigs immunized against gonadotropin-releasing hormone. *J. Anim. Sci.* 2013, *91*, 4817– 4825. doi: 10.2527/jas.2013-6290
- Dunshea, F.R.; Allison, J.R.D.; Bertram, M.; Boler, D.D.; Brossard, L.; Campbell, R.; Crane, J.P.; Hennessy, D.P.; Huber, L.; de Lange, C.; et al. The effect of immunization against GnRF on nutrient requirements of male pigs: A review. *Animal* 2013, *7*, 1769– 1778. doi: 10.1017/S1751731113001407
- 90. Batorek-Lukač, N.; Dubois, S.; Noblet, J.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Labussière, E. Effect of high dietary fat content on heat production and lipid and protein deposition in growing

immunocastrated male pigs. *Animal* **2016**, *10*, 1941–1948. doi: 10.1017/S1751731116000719

- 91. Quiniou, N.; Monziols, M.; Colin, F.; Goues, T.; Courboulay, V. Effect of feed restriction on the performance and behaviour of pigs immunologically castrated with Improvac[®]. Animal **2012**, *6*, 1420–1426. doi: 10.1017/S1751731112000444
- 92. Labussière, E.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Besnard, J.-C.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Noblet, J. Effet de la teneur en énergie nette du régime sur la consommation volontaire et les performances de croissance des porcs mâles immunocastrés. In Proceedings of the 46èmes Journées de la Recherche Porcine, Paris, France, 1 January 2014.
- Moore, K.L.; Mullan, B.P.; Kim, J.C.; Dunshea, F.R. Standardized ileal digestible lysine requirements of male pigs immunized against gonadotrophin releasing factor. *J. Anim. Sci.* 2016, *94*, 1982–1992. doi: 10.2527/jas.2015-9622
- Labussière, E.; Dubois, S.; van Milgen, J.; Noblet, J. Partitioning of heat production in growing pigs as a tool to improve the determination of efficiency of energy utilization. *Front. Physiol.* 2013, *4*. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2013.00146
- 95. van Milgen, J.; Noblet, J.; Dubois, S. Energetic efficiency of starch, protein and lipid utilization in growing pigs. *J. Nutr.* **2001**, *131*, 1309–1318. doi: 10.1093/jn/131.4.1309
- 96. Le Floc'h-Burban, N.; Prunier, A.; Louveau, I. Effect of chirurgical or immune castration on postprandial nutrient profiles in male pigs. In Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the European Association for Animal Production, Nantes, France, 26–30 August 2013; Wageningen Academic Publishers: Wageningen, The Netherlands, 2013; p. 559.
- Quemeneur, K.; Labussiere, E.; Gall, M.L.; Lechevestrier, Y.; Montagne, L. Feeding behaviour and pre-prandial status affect post-prandial plasma energy metabolites and insulin kinetics in growing pigs fed diets differing in fibre concentration. *Br. J. Nutr.* 2019, *121*, 625–636. doi: 10.1017/S0007114518003768
- Fry, J.; Kingston, C. Life Cycle Assessment of Pork Report. Available online: https://pork.ahdb.org.uk/media/2344/lifecycelassmntofporklaunchversion.pdf (accessed on 19 April 2019).
- Stern, S.; Sonesson, U.; Gunnarsson, S.; Oborn, I.; Kumm, K.-I.; Nybrant, T. Sustainable development of food production: A case study on scenarios for pig production. *Ambio* 2005, *34*, 402–407.

- 100.Kool, A.; Blonk, H.; Ponsioen, T.; Sukkel, W.; Vermeer, H.M.; Vries, J.W. de; Hoste,
 R. Carbon Footprints of Conventional and Organic Pork. Available online: http://library.wur.nl/WebQuery/wurpubs/fulltext/50314 (accessed on 16 April 2019).
- 101.Reckmann, K.; Krieter, J. Environmental impacts of the pork supply chain with regard to farm performance. J. Agric. Sci. 2015, 153, 411–421. doi: 10.1017/S0021859614000501
- 102.Bandekar, P.A.; Leh, M.; Bautista, R.; Matlock, M.D.; Thoma, G.; Ulrich, R. Life cycle assessment of alternative swine management practices. *J. Anim. Sci.* 2019, 97, 472–484. doi: 10.1093/jas/sky425
- 103.Aluwé, M.; Tuyttens, F. a. M.; Millet, S. Field experience with surgical castration with anaesthesia, analgesia, immunocastration and production of entire male pigs: Performance, carcass traits and boar taint prevalence. *Animal* 2015, *9*, 500–508. doi: 10.1017/S1751731114002894
- 104.De Cuyper, C.; Van den Broeke, A.; Van linden, V.; Leen, F.; Aluwé, M.; Van Meensel, J.; Millet, S. L'impact du poids d'abattage et du sexe sur l'empreinte carbone de l'ingestion alimentaire des porcs. *51èmes Journées de la Recherche Porcine* 2019, 195–196. Available online: http://www.journees-recherche-porcine.com/texte/2019-gb.php (accessed on 15 June 2019).
- 105. Van den Broeke, A.; Leen, F.; Aluwé, M.; Van Meensel, J.; Millet, S. Effect of slaughter weight and sex on carcass composition and N-and P-efficiency of pigs.; In Book of Abstracts of the 68th Annual Meeting of the European Association for Animal Production; Wageningen Academic Publishers: Wageningen, The Netherlands, 2017.
- 106.McGlone, J.J. The Future of Pork Production in the World: Towards Sustainable, Welfare-Positive Systems. *Animals* **2013**, *3*, 401–415. doi: 10.3390/ani3020401
- 107.De Moraes, P.J.U.; Allison, J.; Robinson, J.A.; Baldo, G.L.; Boeri, F.; Borla, P. Life cycle assessment (lca) and environmental product declaration (epd) of an immunological product for boar taint control in male pigs. *J. Environ. Assess. Policy Manag.* 2013, 15, 1350001. doi: 10.1142/S1464333213500014
- 108.Sherman, J.; Le, C.; Lamers, V.; Eckelman, M. Life cycle greenhouse gas emissions of anesthetic drugs. *Anesth. Analg.* 2012, *114*, 1086–1090. doi: 10.1213/ANE.0b013e31824f6940

- 109.D'Souza, D.N.; Hewitt, R.J.E.; van Barneveld, R.J. Pork production with entire males and immunocastrates in Australia. *Adv. Anim. Biosci.* **2018**, *9*, s58. doi: 10.1017/S2040470018000183
- 110.Zoetis Workshop zu Tierwohl und zur Impfung gegen Ebergeruch. Available online: https://www.zoetis.de/news-and-media/workshop-zu-tierwohl-und-zur-impfunggegen-ebergeruch.aspx (accessed on 24 April 2019).
- 111.USDA Livestock and Poultry: World Markets and Trade. Available online: https://downloads.usda.library.cornell.edu/usdaesmis/files/73666448x/ws859p59c/4x51hs663/livestock _poultry.pdf (accessed on24 April 2019).
- 112.European Commission. Establishing Best Practices on the Production, the Processing and the Marketing of Meat from Uncastrated Pigs or Pigs Vaccinated Against Boar Taint (Immunocastrated) 2019. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/animals/docs/aw_prac_farm_pigs_castalt_establishing-best-practices.pdf (accessed on 24 April 2019).
- 113.de Roest, K.; Montanari, C.; Fowler, T.; Baltussen, W. Resource efficiency and economic implications of alternatives to surgical castration without anaesthesia. *Animal* 2009, *3*, 1522–1531. doi: 10.1017/S1751731109990516
- 114.Verhaagh, M.; Deblitz, C. Wirtschaftlichkeit der Alternativen zur betäubungslosen Ferkelkastration–Aktualisierung und Erweiterung der betriebswirtschaftlichen Berechnungen. *Thünen Work. Pap.* **2019**, *110*. doi: 10.3220/WP1542016654000
- 115.Vondeling, G.T.; Cao, Q.; Postma, M.J.; Rozenbaum, M.H. The Impact of Patent Expiry on Drug Prices: A Systematic Literature Review. *Appl. Health Econ. Health Policy* 2018, 16, 653–660. doi: 10.1007/s40258-018-0406-6
- 116.Niemi, J.K.; Voutila, L.; Valros, A.; Oliviero, C.; Heinonen, M.; Peltoniemi, O. Economic aspects of immunocastration in the pigs. In Proceedings of the 25th Nordic Association of Agricultural Congress; Riga, Latvia, 16–18 June 2015.
- 117.Backus, G.; Støier, S.; Courat, M.; Bonneau, M.; Higuera, M. First Progress Report from the European Declaration on Alternatives to Surgical Castration of Pigs (16/12/2010). Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/animals/docs/aw_prac_farm_pigs_cast-

alt_declaration_progress-report_20141028.pdf (accessed on 26 April 2019).

- 118. Tuyttens, F.A.M.; Vanhonacker, F.; Langendries, K.; Aluwé, M.; Millet, S.; Bekaert, K.; Verbeke, W. Effect of information provisioning on attitude toward surgical castration of male piglets and alternative strategies for avoiding boar taint. *Res. Vet. Sci.* 2011, *91*, 327–332. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2011.01.005
- 119.Schübeler, A.S.; Koch, L. The search for the best way. Animal welfare vs. boar taintimmunocastration in comparison to the alternatives from the producer and master views. *Fleischwirtschaft* **2018**, 98, 21–23.
- 120.Aluwé, M.; Vanhonacker, F.; Millet, S.; Tuyttens, A.M. Influence of hands-on experience on pig farmers' attitude towards alternatives for surgical castration of male piglets. *Res. Vet. Sci.* 2015, 103, 80–86. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2015.09.019
- 121.Di Pasquale, J.; Nannoni, E.; Sardi, L.; Rubini, G.; Salvatore, R.; Bartoli, L.; Adinolfi, F.; Martelli, G. Towards the Abandonment of Surgical Castration in Pigs: How is Immunocastration Perceived by Italian Consumers? *Animals* 2019, *9*, 198. doi: 10.3390/ani9050198
- 122.Mancini, M.C.; Menozzi, D.; Arfini, F.; Veneziani, M. Chapter 13-How Do Firms Use Consumer Science to Target Consumer Communication? The Case of Animal Welfare. In *Case Studies in the Traditional Food Sector*; Cavicchi, A., Santini, C., Eds.; Woodhead Publishing: Cambridge, UK, 2018; pp. 337–357.
- 123.Heid, A.; Hamm, U. Consumer Attitudes Towards Alternatives to Piglet Castration Without Pain Relief in Organic Farming: Qualitative Results from Germany. J. Agric. Environ. Eth. 2012, 25, 687–706. doi: 10.1007/s10806-011-9350-2
- 124.Fredriksen, B.; Johnsen, A.M.S.; Skuterud, E. Consumer attitudes towards castration of piglets and alternatives to surgical castration. *Res. Vet. Sci.* 2011, 90, 352–357. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2010.06.018
- 125.Mörlein, D.; Schübeler, A.S. This is how the dialogue with the customers succeeds: Vaccination against boar taint - How can the procedure be best communicated? *Fleischwirtschaft* 2017, 97, 36–40.
- 126.Čandek-Potokar, M.; Prevolnik-Povše, M.; Škrlep, M.; Font i Furnols, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Kress, K.; Stefanski, V. Acceptability of Dry-Cured Belly (Pancetta) from Entire Males, Immunocastrates or Surgical Castrates: Study with Slovenian Consumers. *Foods* 2019, 8, 122. doi: 10.3390/foods8040122

- 127.European Medicines Agency. EPAR-Scientific Discussion. Available online:https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientific-discussion/improvac-epar-scientific-discussion_en.pdf (accessed on 22 April 2019).
- 128.Clarke, I.J.; Walker, J.S.; Hennessy, D.; Kreeger, J.; Nappier, J.M.; Crane, J.S. Inherent Food Safety of a Synthetic Gonadotropin-Releasing Factor (GnRF) Vaccine for the Control of Boar Taint in Entire Male Pigs. *Int. J. Appl. Res. Vet. Med.* 2008, 6, 7–14.
- 129.Dorn, C.; Griesinger, G. GnRH-Analoga in der Reproduktionsmedizin. *Gynäkologische Endokrinologie* **2009**, *7*, 161–170. doi: 10.1007/s10304-009-0321-x
- 130.D'Occhio, M.J. Immunological suppression of reproductive functions in male and female mammals. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 1993, 33, 345–372. doi: 10.1016/0378-4320(93)90123-9
- 131.Simms, M.S.; Scholfield, D.P.; Jacobs, E.; Michaeli, D.; Broome, P.; Humphreys, J.E.; Bishop, M.C. Anti-GnRH antibodies can induce castrate levels of testosterone in patients with advanced prostate cancer. *Br. J. Cancer* **2000**, *83*, 443–446. doi: 10.1054/bjoc.2000.1315

© 2019 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Π

The Economic Impact of German Pig Carcass Pricing Systems and Risk Scenarios for Boar Taint on the Profitability of Pork Production with Immunocastrates and Boars

Kevin Kress¹, Mandes Verhaagh²

¹Department of Behavioral Physiology of Livestock, Institute of Animal Science, University of Hohenheim, Garbenstraße 17, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany

²Thünen Institute of Farm Economics, Bundesallee 63, 38116 Braunschweig, Germany

Published in Agriculture 2019, 9 (9), 204

Received: 6 August 2019 / Accepted: 16 September 2019 / Published: 18 September 2019

With permission of MDPIAG

Original publication available at https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture9090204

Abstract

From 2021 onwards, surgical castration of male piglets without pain relief will be banned in Germany. In Europe, stakeholders have committed themselves to end piglet castration from 2018 onwards. Alternatives to surgical castration are pork production with boars or immunocastrates. The competitiveness of these production systems is required to increase their market acceptance. The aim of this study was to test the profitability of pork production with boars and immunocastrates under different carcass pricing systems and penalty systems linked to boar taint. The calculations were based on the performance parameters of 36 animals (n = 12 immunocastrates, n = 12 boars, n = 12 barrows) from an experimental study. In order to analyze the economic effects of both alternatives under different regional German production systems, the performance data were set in relation to the data of agri benchmark. Both boars and immunocastrates are sold according to the boar pricing system, the profitability of this technique is even lower, but still more profitable than boar fattening. Pork production with boars is the most unprofitable alternative in this study and will be further devalued if a penalty system linked to boar taint will be introduced.

Keywords: immunocastration; boars; surgical castration; carcass pricing systems; boar taint; risk scenarios; pork production; profitability; pork market; androstenone; skatole

1. Introduction

For German pork production, about 80% of all male piglets are surgically castrated within their first week of life [1,2]. Consumers evaluate surgical castration without pain-relieving methods very critically [3]. In September 2009, this led German stakeholders of the pork chain to commit to the goal of ending surgical castration of piglets in the so-called 'Düsseldorfer Erklärung' [4]. These developments have also resulted in an amendment of the German animal protection law in 2013. From January 2019, piglet castration without anesthesia or analgesia was to be outlawed. Contrary to the planned change in the law, the government of the Federal Republic of Germany agreed in November 2018 to postpone the implementation of the amendment by 2 years [5]. As its reason, the German government stated that there are no competitive alternatives available, and that a prohibition of surgical castration without pain-relief could have a negative impact on German pig production [6].

Alternatives to surgical castration are pork production with boars or with immunocastrates [7,8]. Although these procedures are available in practice, their market shares are low. In

Germany, about 20% of male pigs are fattened as boars, and less than 1% as immunocastrates [1]. The acceptance of pork production with boars is limited because of the risk of unpleasant boar taint in the carcass, which can be ascribed to an excessive accumulation of the compounds androstenone and skatole [9,10]. A large part of the population is sensitive to skatole above a threshold of 0.25 µg/g liquid fat [10,11]. Because of a genetic polymorphism, only a lower proportion of the population is sensitive to androstenone above a threshold of $0.5-1.0 \ \mu g/g$ in liquid fat [10,12]. What both compounds have in common is that most consumers who are sensitive to these compounds dislike them [13]. In order to sort out boartainted meat, carcasses of boars are currently evaluated at the slaughter line by the human nose test [14]. However, under commercial conditions at the slaughter line, the reproducibility of valid results is only 23%, so it is highly likely that boar-tainted pork will be undetected and reaches consumers [15]. Objective at-line methods of detecting androstenone- and skatole-tainted carcasses have been developed and have a high potential for being implemented for commercial use at the slaughter line under real-time conditions [16]. However, commonly accepted thresholds for boar taint compounds to exclude tainted pork from the fresh meat market do not exist. Some research has been done to evaluate possibilities of using tainted pork with skatole levels up to 0.3 μ g/g liquid fat and very high androstenone values above 3.5 μ g/g liquid fat for processing, after blending it with meat from barrows or gilts [17]. However, the processing characteristics of pork from boars are unfavorable because of a higher proportion of polyunsaturated fatty acids, which makes it unsuitable for processing traditional dry-cured products [18].

Immunocastration is an active immunization against the hormone GnRH (Gonadotropinreleasing hormone) by vaccinating the boars twice with the vaccine Improvac[®] (Zoetis Inc., Parsippany, New Jersey, US). After the second vaccination, the secretion of LH (Luteinizing hormone) is reduced and testicular functions cease temporarily, so that from a physiological point of view the animals are barrows, with similar behavioral, metabolic, and meat quality characteristics. Immunocastration can therefore reliably prevent boar taint and can be regarded as a sustainable alternative to surgical castration and pork production with boars that meets animal welfare aspects as well as pork market requirements. Improvac[®] is licensed for commercial use in Europe with no technical or legal limitations and can be used for conventional as well as for organic pork production. Knowledge gaps on the potentials of this technique within the value chain prevent a more extensive market relevance [19]. Producing boars or immunocastrates can also be very attractive and cost-effective from an economic point of view [6], since the feed efficiency of boars and immunocastrates is higher than that of barrows [20,21]. In Germany, there are different carcass pricing systems for boars and barrows. It is currently unclear to which pricing system immunocastrates will be assigned, even though this is crucial for economic efficiency [6]. In addition, it is still unclear what effects a quantification of androstenone and skatole values at the slaughter line will have on the profitability of pork production with boars or immunocastrates, and on the use of boar-tainted meat. Penalty systems linked to boar taint are already used in France and Norway, and are likely to be also implemented in other European countries as market shares of boars and immunocastrates increase [14]. In order to enable a sustainable production of boars or immunocastrates in Germany, both alternatives must be critically analyzed under different economic scenarios by using risk scenarios for boar taint and evaluating immunocastration under different pricing systems.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Animal Performance Data

The study was performed at the experimental unit of the University of Hohenheim (Unterer Lindenhof 2572800 Eningen, Germany) between November 2017 and August 2018 as part of the SuSi project (ERA-NET SusAn). Two consecutive trials were conducted in total with 36 male pigs (F1 German Landrace \times Pietrain; 18 animals per trial), which were assigned to three treatment groups: immunocastrates (IC, n = 12), boars (B, n = 12), and barrows (BA, n = 12). The animals were about 10 weeks of age at the beginning of the study and were housed in groups of six animals under standard conditions (1.2 m² per pig, solid floor). Animals were fed ad libitum with three different feed compositions, as given in **Table 1**. In all pens, 500 g of chopped straw and 1000 g of sawdust were supplied daily. Feed intake was recorded per pen. Individual weight was determined at day of birth, after 21 days, at the start of the study (age = 10 weeks), and three times during the fattening period corresponding to the end of the three feeding periods (week 17, 21, and 27/28). The animals were part of a physiological study with repeated blood sampling, and the experiment was approved by the ethical committee of the regional council of Tuebingen (Baden-Wuerttemberg, Germany) with number 47/17 TH. Thus, the number of animals in this study is lower than in field studies without frequent sampling. The number of animals and the assignment of individuals to different treatment groups and housing groups (standard and experimental) were carried out randomly according to the method of 'Latin Squares'. For the present study, only the animals under standard housing conditions were analyzed.

Feeding Period	Age (weeks)	ME (MJ)	CP (%)	DM (%)
1	10-17	13.13	17.51	87.54
2	17–21	13.15	16.14	87.49
3	21-27/28	12.41	15.9	87.85

Table 1. Feeding periods and feed compositions (ME: metabolizable energy; CP: crude protein; DM: dry matter).

BA were surgically castrated during the first week of life without anesthesia but received 0.2 mL Metacam[®] (Meloxicam, 5 mg/mL) as post-surgery pain relief. IC received two applications of the vaccine Improvac[®] at an average age of 12 (V1—first vaccination) and 22 weeks (V2—second vaccination). The timeline of the experimental procedure is given in **Figure 1**. All pigs were slaughtered on two slaughter dates per trial at an age of either 27 or 28 weeks at an experimental slaughter facility (LSZ Boxberg, Seehöfer Straße 50, 97944 Boxberg). Hot carcass weights were recorded and fat samples from the neck area were collected for the measurements of androstenone (A) and skatole (S). Both were analyzed using HPLC as described by Batorek-Lukač and co-authors [22].



Figure 1. Generalized timeline of the trials (feeding periods, vaccination times (V1, V2), and slaughter dates according to the age (weeks) of the animals).

2.2. Generating Economic Data of Typical German Pig Fattening Farms for Modelling

The analysis of the economic effects of the different production systems with barrows, immunocastrates, or boars was conducted with data from so-called 'typical farms' of the international agri benchmark network [23]. This data concept describes representative regional farms, which are constructed from the data sets of several real farms, and evaluated for plausibility by an expert group [24]. The results show the typical economic situation of a common farming business type in a region [25]. For the calculations, all changes and effects on the existing production process had to be identified, specified, quantified and the economic effects analyzed in cooperation with the aforementioned expert group [6]. The evaluation of the economic indicators was based on the TIPI-CAL model. TIPI-CAL is a

production and accounting model that provides a detailed representation of the production technology and the physical interrelationships in farms. It is a deterministic, recursive, and dynamic simulation model for various farm sectors and can basically map a 10 year period including trends of all output variables [26]. Thus, a full cost accounting for the business model of the typical regional farm is possible. On this basis, changes in the production process (e.g., boar fattening, immunocastration) can be predicted for the profitability of the whole farm. The typical farms were surveyed according to a standardized protocol, as described by Verhaagh and co-authors [23]. In short, a focus group consisting of a consultant and three to six participants from operating enterprises for each region were included to guarantee a valid data basis. The focus group was organized as a round table discussion in which all necessary operating data were collected on the basis of a standardized questionnaire by Verhaagh [23]. The focus group formed a consensus on each parameter in order to describe what a typical enterprise would look like, instead of adopting average values of participating producers. The data basis of typical German pig fattening farms is updated annually in cooperation with a focus group whose experts are familiar with the regional circumstances of pig producing farms. For this study, the five most important pig fattening regions of Germany were selected (see total number of pigs below) and the necessary operating parameters were included (see Table 2). All typical farms used in this study were specialized farms for pig fattening.

Farm	Region	Number of Pigs Sold (per year)	Fattening Places	Production Principle (All in- All out)
DE_0_3600	Lower Saxony	3.628	1.320	Pen
DE_0_3800	Bavaria	3.758	1.472	Pen
DE_0_5000	North Rhine-Westphalia	5.220	1.850	Pen
DE_0_6000	Lower Saxony	5.941	2.100	Barn
DE_0_6300	Schleswig-Holstein	6.228	2.000	Barn
Farm	Live Weight at Slaughter (kg)	Dressing Percentage (%)	Hot Carcass Weight (kg)	Price (EUR per kg Hot Carcass Weight)
DE_0_3600	121	79	95.3	1.68
DE_0_3800	123	80	98.4	1.63
DE_0_5000	121	79	95.6	1.60
DE_0_6000	123	80	97.8	1.76
DE 0 6300	122	78	95.2	1.60

Table 2. Key figures for typical German pig fattening farms—baseline scenario [27].

2.3. Economic Risk Scenarios and Pig Carcass Pricing Systems

The scenario specifications of typical German pig fattening farms were adjusted with the data from the experiment on the basis of different boar taint risk scenarios and different

German carcass pricing systems for pigs. First, performance parameters (average daily gain—ADG) from the trial were used in the calculations for the typical farms. The gradient curves of the three treatment groups (IC, B, and BA) were derived from the experimental data. As each typical farm had individual process ranges (weight at the beginning and end of the fattening period), the gradient curves of the trial were adjusted to the respective typical farms. This resulted in new gradient curves for all typical farms, as the process ranges of the trial were different to those of the baseline. In the next step, the ADG of BA was set in relation to the ADG of IC and B and then set in relation to the baseline, which resulted in the final gradient curves and performance parameters (ADG) for all typical farms. The relative changes in feed conversion ratio (FCR) was also derived from the trials and set in relation to the typical farms.

In addition, literature data was also used for estimating several cost factors, such as the additional working time changes (IC: +0.79 min per animal; B: +1.2 min per animal; additional costs for sex-separate housing, application of vaccination, and more intensive observation of animals), the costs for Improvac[®] (3.59 EUR per animal for both vaccinations), and the costs for removing the testes at the slaughter line (0.64 EUR per male pig) [28]. The costs are not offset by the value of the testicles for any other use. In order to analyze the impact of different pricing systems on the profitability of immunocastration and boar fattening, the pricing system for boars and barrows used was that of the German pork market leader, Tönnies Holding ApS & Co. KG [29]. The values for live weight at slaughter were taken from the baseline (Table 2) and the dressing percentages derived from the experiment (B: 80.27%, IC: 80.17%, and BA: 82.54%). They were then set in relation to the values from the baseline (Table 2). For the evaluation of carcasses, the parts of the carcass (ham, loin, and belly weight) were estimated on the basis of the Auto-FOM III formula [30]. Historical slaughter data of boars and barrows were used for the belly meat percentage (B: 61.72% and BA: 57.65%) [29]. For IC, the mean value of the belly lean meat percentage of boars and barrows was calculated (IC: 59.69%), as the lean meat content of immunocastrates lies between boars and barrows [21] and lean meat content correlates significantly with the belly lean meat percentage (p = 0.92) [31]. The base prices in EUR per kg hot carcass weight from Table 2 were used for the calculations. BA were only priced based on the barrow pricing system, and for B only on the basis of the pricing systems for boars. IC prices were calculated both under the barrow pricing system with and without the additional costs for removing the testes, and again under the boar pricing system. In addition, the occurrence of boar taint was economically evaluated. For this, androstenone (A) and skatole (S) values
were also included to create various risk scenarios depending on the intensity of boar taint (see **Table 3**). For the respective risk scenarios, carcasses with values of boar taint compounds above a certain threshold were valued at the 0 EUR minimum. Furthermore, a proportion of 3.5% was subtracted from the boar tainted carcasses above a certain threshold, as 3.5% of all carcasses are already discounted as being affected by boar taint in the boar pricing system [28].

Table 3. Risk scenarios and thresholds for boar taint compounds in adipose tissue from the neck area.

Scenario	1	2	3	4	5
Boar taint compounds	S^1	A^1	A^1	A^1	A^1
Threshold	0.25	0.5	1	2	5

¹µg per g liquid fat.

3. Results

3.1. Performance Data of the Trials in Relation to Typical German Pig Fattening Farms

In all typical German pig fattening farms, the ADG of immunocastrates is lower than the baseline scenario (see **Table 4**). Although after the second vaccination (ADG-Period 3) the ADG of IC was higher than that of BA (see **Table S1**), over the total fattening period, the ADG in BA was higher in all typical farms because feeding period 3 was too short to compensate ADG disadvantages of the previous feeding periods. The FCR of IC was more than 7% lower in all typical farms and therefore more efficient than the FCR of the baseline. Because of the higher ADG of BA compared to IC, the fattening period of IC was longer in all typical farms than in the baseline.

Table 4. Impact of immunocastration on performance data of typical German pig fattening farms in relation to the baseline (barrows).

Farm	ADG IC (g)	Δ ADG IC (%)	FCR IC	Δ FCR IC (%)	Fattening Period IC (days)	Δ Fattening Period IC (days)
DE_0_3600	821	-1.18	2.61	-7.12	110.3	+1.3
DE_0_3800	763	-0.61	2.57	-7.22	120.7	+0.7
DE_0_5000	805	-1.33	2.61	-7.44	115.5	+1.5
DE_0_6000	788	-1.04	2.70	-7.22	121.3	+1.3
DE_0_6300	868	-0.91	2.53	-7.33	106.0	+0.7

The differences between B and BA were even more obvious (see **Table 5**). In B, ADG was more than 6% lower in all typical farms than in the baseline. The higher ADG of BA

compared to B was a result of the higher daily feed intake of BA compared to B (see **Table S1**). FCR of B was lower in all typical farms and therefore more efficient compared to the baseline. The fattening period of B was about one week longer in all farms than in the baseline.

Table 5. Impact of boar fattening on performance data of typical German pig fattening farms in relation to baseline (barrows).

Farm	ADG B (g)	Δ ADG B (%)	FCR B	Δ FCR B (%)	Fattening Period B (days)	Δ Fattening Period B (days)
DE_0_3600	779	-6.20	2.69	-4.46	116.2	+7.2
DE_0_3800	721	-6.04	2.66	-3.97	127.7	+7.7
DE_0_5000	765	-6.24	2.70	-4.26	121.6	+7.6
DE_0_6000	748	-6.16	2.78	-4.47	127.9	+7.9
DE_0_6300	823	-6.12	2.61	-4.40	111.9	+6.9

3.2. Proportion of Treatment Groups (B, IC, and BA) above Thresholds of Boar Taint Compounds

All BA and IC were free of boar taint and were below the threshold for the respective androstenone and skatole scenarios. Accordingly, immunocastration was 100% successful in preventing boar taint. In B, only 8.33% of the animals were above the threshold of 0.25 μ g per g liquid fat skatole. Androstenone levels in B were relatively high, and 83.33% of all B had androstenone levels of over 1 μ g per g liquid fat. Very high levels of androstenone (above 5 μ g per g liquid fat) were detected in 25% of all B (see **Table 6**).

Scenario	1	2	3	4	5
Group	Pro	oportion of An	imals Above	Thresholds ir	n %
В	8.33	100.00	83.33	58.33	25.00
IC	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
BA	0.00	-	-	-	-

Table 6. Proportion of animals above threshold of corresponding boar taint scenario.

3.3. Profitability of IC and B in Relation to the Baseline (Barrows)

Table 7 shows the additional revenue required to reach the level of profitability of the baseline after implementing IC and B. On the basis of the full cost accounting, IC (priced according to the pricing system for barrows) as well as B (priced according to pricing system for boars without price reductions due to boar taint) were less profitable than the baseline in all typical German pig fattening farms (see **Table 7**). An improvement in FCR for B and IC cannot compensate for decreasing ADG compared to BA. Higher working time requirements for B and IC, additional costs for the vaccine in IC, and price reductions for B due to the

pricing system for boars, all result in worse economic efficiency of B and IC compared to the baseline. The results of IC, however, are better than those of B for all farms. For IC, the additional revenue required to be as profitable as the baseline was found to be between EUR 1.44 and 3.20 per 100 kg hot carcass weight. The size of the farm had no direct influence on the change in profitability. The results for B were even more obvious. In the long run, an additional revenue of EUR 5.62 up to 7.38 per 100 kg hot carcass weight was necessary to be as competitive as the baseline scenario.

Table 7. Additional revenue (EUR) required per 100 kg hot carcass weight for IC and B to be on the same profitability level as the baseline scenario.

Fa	rm	DE_0_3600	DE_0_3800	DE_0_5000	DE_0_6000	DE_0_6300
Reg	gion	Lower Saxony	Bavaria	North Rhine- Westphalia	Lower Saxony	Schleswig-Holstein
Crown	IC	3.20€	1.44 €	2.54€	2.62 €	2.85€
Group	В	6.90€	5.62€	5.71€	7.38 €	6.95€

In addition to **Table 7**, in **Table 8** the extra working time for removing the testes of IC at the slaughter line is calculated but the IC carcasses were still priced on the barrow pricing system. In addition, IC carcasses were also priced on the basis of the pricing system for boars. Unlike B, none of the IC had skatole or androstenone levels above the thresholds, so no further price reductions were applied. The additional costs for removing the testes reduced the profitability of IC compared to the baseline in all typical farms. An application of the boar pricing system for IC lowered the efficiency of IC to the level of B, but three out of five typical farms were still more profitable with IC than with B. If we concluded price reductions due to boar taint, the profitability of B declined even more. Discounts for B carcasses above a skatole threshold of 0.25 μ g/g liquid fat reduced the profitability of B by around EUR 9.25 to 11.32 per 100 kg hot carcass weight. The effects of high androstenone levels were even more drastic. An androstenone threshold of 0.5 μ g/g liquid fat worsened the operating profitability of B by EUR 75.23 to 84.92 per 100 kg hot carcass weight. As the threshold values continued to rise and the proportion of B carcasses above the thresholds decreased, these losses decreased as well. Above an androstenone threshold of 5.0 μ g/g liquid fat, the profitability was still EUR 21.45 to 24.81 per 100 kg hot carcass weight lower compared to the baseline.

Farm	DE_0_3600	DE_0_3800	DE_0_5000	DE_0_6000	DE_0_6300
Region	Lower Saxony	Bavaria	North Rhine- Westphalia	Lower Saxony	Schleswig-Holstein
			IC		
BA pricing	3.20€	1.44 €	2.54 €	2.62€	2.85€
+remove testes	3.54€	1.79€	2.88€	2.95€	3.20€
B pricing	7.09€	5.44 €	6.30€	6.81€	6.58€
			В		
B pricing	6.90€	5.62€	5.71 €	7.38€	6.95€
+scenario 1	10.48 €	9.39€	9.25 €	11.32€	10.41 €
+scenario 2	76.77€	78.41 €	75.50€	84.92€	75.23 €
+scenario 3	64.80€	66.09€	63.62€	71.59€	63.64€
+scenario 4	46.54€	47.41 €	45.70 €	51.57€	46. 05 €
+scenario 5	22.81€	22.23 €	21.45 €	24.81€	22.34 €

Table 8. Additional revenue required per 100 kg hot carcass weight for IC and B to be on the same profitability level as the baseline scenario, considering different carcass pricing systems and the occurrence of boar taint.

(+) – including further costs; scenarios: including the value of refused carcasses according to various thresholds ($0 \notin$ per carcass above certain thresholds) – for details see **Table 3**.

4. Discussion

Surgical castration without pain relief is considered unacceptable by society. The fattening of boars and immunocastrates is regarded as animal friendly by some stakeholder groups and discussed as potential alternatives to the fattening of barrows. Both immunocastrates and boars have a better FCR than barrows [32], which is more efficient from an economic point of view, as less feed is needed to produce the same amount of pork. On the other hand, these production systems generate additional production costs due to extra working time and additional vaccination costs [28,33]. In addition, no objective boar taint detection systems are currently in use at slaughterhouses and potential reductions in the value of carcasses by boar taint may reduce the profitability. Because of the small market share of immunocastrates on the German pork market, it is unclear at the moment how these carcasses will be priced. This study therefore analyzed the economic impact of immunocastration and boar fattening under different pig carcass pricing systems, including the occurrence of boar taint.

In the present study, feed composition was based on the feed requirements of boars, which means that there is further optimization potential for immunocastrates and barrows, as a less expensive feed with reduced protein and energy content might be appropriate. Such corrections within the calculation would potentially worsen the profitability of pork production with boars even more when compared to immunocastrates or barrows. All animals, irrespective of treatment and weight, were slaughtered in two groups, either at 27 or 28 weeks of age, and not according to the optimal slaughter weight. Similarly, the feeding phases followed the same timeline and were not adapted to weight gain, treatment group, and live weight. This may mask group-specific effects, as the feeding strategy similarly to feed composition should differ between the groups (B, IC, and BA) to optimize performance data, as well as to avoid excessive nitrogen excretion [34,35]. Barrows of the used genotype in particular have a higher ADG and would switch earlier to a different feeding period than boars or immunocastrates [32]. In future research, optimal feeding strategies for respective groups should be considered.

The performance data of the experiment show that immunocastrates had higher ADG compared to barrows and boars. This is caused mainly by the performance of immunocastrates in the last feeding period after the second vaccination, which results in an increased feed intake and a higher growth rate [21,32]. Some studies confirm our results and show that immunocastrates grow faster over the entire fattening period than barrows and boars [20,21]. In another study [32], however, barrows revealed a higher ADG than immunocastrates and boars. Such differences may be explained in part by the genotype used in the study. Crossbreds with Belgian Pietrain, for example, have a reduced growth rate before and after the second vaccination than, for example, Duroc crossbreds. In both genotypes, however, the growth rate increased in the two weeks following the second vaccination compared to the growth rate between the first and second vaccination [36]. This may help to explain why, in typical German pig fattening farms, the ADG of barrows is higher than in immunocastrates. Moreover, the effect of slaughter weight has to be considered, as animals are slaughtered at a lower live weight compared to the experimental trials and thus the last feeding period is shorter than in our experiment. In this study, FCR is more efficient in immunocastrates as well as in boars, which is also illustrated by previous studies [20,21,32].

In our study, the carcass data (weight of carcass parts) were adapted to the results obtained via the Auto-FOM III formula. In the case of immunocastrates and boars in particular, however, it can be assumed that this study underestimates the weight of carcass parts (especially the shoulder), since other studies show that carcass yields and the output of valuable meat in immunocastrates is higher than in boars or barrows. Compared to boars, immunocastrates also have higher belly weights [20]. Actual Auto-FOM III data of immunocastrates, however, which would be crucial for future calculations, are not currently

available. The dressing percentages of boars and immunocastrates compared to barrows were even worse in this study than in previous studies [20,21], indicating higher economic losses in pork production with boars and immunocastrates compared to the baseline.

All immunocastrates responded well to the vaccine in this study, and no non-responders with boar-tainted carcasses were detected. However, several reviews assume a proportion of non-responders of up to 3% [18,37,38]. This would worsen the profitability of immunocastration, as it would result in a certain number of boar-tainted carcasses above the thresholds. Furthermore, the proportion of tainted boar carcasses is very high in this study and thus reduces the profitability of pork production with boars. An international study by Walstra and co-authors [39], with different genotypes produced under different conditions in Europe, revealed very high androstenone (>1 μ g/g liquid fat) concentrations in 29% of the boars, whereas a higher proportion of boars were affected by skatole levels above 0.25 μ g/g liquid fat compared to our study. Nonetheless, more objective boar taint detection systems at the slaughter line are essential in valuing carcasses with regard to boar taint, and would worsen the profitability of boar fattening also for the 29% of boars affected by boar taint.

By the end of 2018, Tönnies Holding ApS & Co. KG introduced a new boar pricing system in Germany. This has even further reduced the economic profitability of boar fattening compared to the baseline [6,28]. The impact of the new boar pricing system on the profitability of immunocastration is also negative and makes the technique economically unviable [28]. In a recent study by Verhaagh and Deblitz [28], the production of pork with immunocastrates was more profitable in all typical German pig fattening farms compared to the baseline (barrows). Although producing immunocastrates generate higher production costs, they were compensated by better FCR, higher ADG, and a shorter fattening period. In the study by Verhaagh and co-authors [28], however, the calculation was based on the ADG values of the entire fattening period, which resulted from higher ADG after the second vaccination. However, in this present study, it could be shown that the last feeding period had a positive effect on the ADG of the entire fattening period, but was economically not sufficient to compensate for the lower ADG of the earlier fattening periods. Furthermore, performance data of this trial declined in relation to the typical farms, as animals were fattened and slaughtered on fixed dates so that greater economic efficiency might be achieved through optimized management of feeding, fattening periods, and age at slaughter.

5. Conclusions

This study illustrates that pork production with immunocastrates or boars is economically less profitable under the assumed performance and market criteria compared to the pork production with barrows as the baseline. A change to pork production with boars or immunocastrates would worsen the competitiveness of all typical German pig fattening farms investigated. Better FCR of boars and immunocastrates cannot economically compensate for the higher ADG of barrows. The higher ADG of immunocastrates after the second vaccination is masked in the overall calculation by their lower ADG prior to the second vaccination. The application of the boar pricing system for immunocastrates would further worsen the profitability of immunocastration in comparison to barrows. Boars, however, tend to be less economically viable than immunocastrates, even if both are priced on the boar pricing system. More objective boar taint detection systems at the slaughter line, however, could lead to further price reductions for boars.

Supplementary Materials

	BA	IC	В
ADG (g) – Period 1	946.9	845.8	861.0
ADG (g) – Period 2	964.3	928.6	916.8
ADG (g) – Period 3	845.1	1,016.5	843.7
ADG (g) - total fattening period	921.7	930.3	873.8
FCR – Period 1	2.03	2.09	2.10
FCR – Period 2	3.84	3.58	3.38
FCR – Period 3	3.82	3.16	3.53
FCR – total fattening period	3.23	2.94	3.00
Daily feed intake (g) – Period 1	1,920.6	1,807.2	1,760.6
Daily feed intake (g) – Period 2	3,673.0	3,289.6	3,092.0
Daily feed intake (g) – Period 3	3,143.3	3,103.1	2,881.6
Daily feed intake (g) - total fattening period	2,770.2	2,618.6	2,458.0

Table S1. Mean values of animal performance data of the trials

Author Contributions

Conceptualization, K.K. and M.V.; methodology, K.K. and M.V.; formal analysis, K.K. and M.V.; data curation, K.K. and M.V.; writing—original draft preparation, K.K. and M.V.; writing—review and editing, K.K. and M.V.

Funding

This research is part of the ERA-NET SusAn, project SuSi (co-financed by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research & Innovation Program and the German Federal Office for Agriculture and Food), grant number 696231.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Volker Stefanski for providing the data of the SuSi project to enable this study; Ulrike Weiler for scientific support and proofreading; Eberhard Reichenecker, Christoph Albert, Nadine Münzenmeier, and Severin Datzer of the experimental unit 'Unterer Lindenhof' for animal care; Christine Frasch for English language corrections; and Nina Batorek-Lukač for analyzing the fat samples from this experiment for androstenone and skatole measurements.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest. The funders had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analysis, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript; or in the decision to publish the results.

References

- Backus, G.; Higuera, M.; Juul, N.; Nalon, E.; de Briyne, N. Second Progress Report 2015–2017 on the European Declaration on Alternatives to Surgical Castration of Pigs. Available online: https://www.boarsontheway.com/wpcontent/uploads/2018/08/Second-progress-report-2015-2017-final-1.pdf (accessed on 5 August 2019).
- Fredriksen, B.; Font i Furnols, M.; Lundström, K.; Migdal, W.; Prunier, A.; Tuyttens, F.A.M.; Bonneau, M. Practice on castration of piglets in Europe. *Animal* 2009, *3*, 1480– 1487, doi: 10.1017/S1751731109004674
- Fredriksen, B.; Johnsen, A.M.S.; Skuterud, E. Consumer attitudes towards castration of piglets and alternatives to surgical castration. *Res. Vet. Sci.* 2011, *90*, 352–357, doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2010.06.018
- 4. Bericht der Bundesregierung über den Stand der Entwicklung Alternativer Verfahren und Methoden zur Betäubungslosen Ferkelkastration Gemäß § 21 des Tierschutzgesetzes.
 Available
 online:

https://www.bmel.de/SharedDocs/Downloads/Tier/Tierschutz/Regierungsbericht-Ferkelkastration.pdf?__blob=publicationFile (accessed on 5 August 2019).

- Tierschutzgesetz (Deutschland). Viertes Gesetz zur Änderung des Tierschutzgesetzes Vom 17. Dezember 2018. Bundesgesetzblatt 2018, 2586. Available online: https://www.bgbl.de/xaver/bgbl/start.xav?startbk=Bundesanzeiger_BGBl&start=//*[@ attr_id=%27bgbl118s2586.pdf%27]#__bgbl__%2F%2F*%5B%40attr_id%3D%27bgb 1118s2586.pdf%27%5D__1568693939165 (accessed on 5 August 2019).
- Verhaagh, M.; Deblitz, C. Betriebswirtschaftliche Auswirkungen von Alternativen zur betäubungslosen Kastration in Deutschland. *Thünen Work. Pap.* 2016, 64, 56, doi: 10.3220/WP1479128714000
- von Borell, E.; Baumgartner, J.; Giersing, M.; Jäggin, N.; Prunier, A.; Tuyttens, F.A.M.; Edwards, S.A. Animal welfare implications of surgical castration and its alternatives in pigs. *Animal* 2009, *3*, 1488–1496, doi: 10.1017/S1751731109004728
- Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V.; Von Borell, E. Die Kastration beim Schwein Zielkonflikte und Lösungsansätze aus der Sicht des Tierschutzes. Züchtungskunde 2016, 88, 429– 444.
- Claus, R.; Weiler, U.; Herzog, A. Physiological aspects of androstenone and skatole formation in the boar—A review with experimental data. *Meat Sci.* 1994, *38*, 289–305, doi: 10.1016/0309-1740(94)90118-X
- Bonneau, M. Use of entire males for pig meat in the European Union. *Meat Sci.* 1998, 49, 257–272, doi: 10.1016/S0309-1740(98)90053-5
- Weiler, U.; Fischer, K.; Kemmer, H.; Dobrowolski, A.; Claus, R. Influence of androstenone sensitivity on consumer reactions to boar meat. In *Boar Taint in Entire Male Pigs*; Bonneau, M., Lundström, K., Malmfors, B., Eds.; EAAP Publication – Wageningen Academic Publishers. **1998**; Volume 92, pp. 147–151.
- Lunde, K.; Egelandsdal, B.; Skuterud, E.; Mainland, J.D.; Lea, T.; Hersleth, M.; Matsunami, H. Genetic Variation of an Odorant Receptor OR7D4 and Sensory Perception of Cooked Meat Containing Androstenone. *PLoS ONE* 2012, *7*, e35259, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035259
- 13. Font i Furnols, M.; Gispert, M.; Diestre, A.; Oliver, M.A. Acceptability of boar meat by consumers depending on their age, gender, culinary habits, and sensitivity and

appreciation of androstenone odour. *Meat Sci.* **2003**, *64*, 433–440, doi: 10.1016/S0309-1740(02)00212-7

- 14. European Commission. Establishing best Practices on the Production, the Processing and the Marketing of Meat from Uncastrated Pigs or Pigs Vaccinated against Boar Taint (Immunocastrated) 2019. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/animals/docs/aw_prac_farm_pigs_castalt_establishing-best-practices.pdf (accessed on 5 August 2019).
- Mathur, P.K.; ten Napel, J.; Bloemhof, S.; Heres, L.; Knol, E.F.; Mulder, H.A. A human nose scoring system for boar taint and its relationship with androstenone and skatole. *Meat Sci.* 2012, *91*, 414–422, doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.02.025
- Birkler, R.I.D.; Borggaard; Støie, S.; Lund, B.L.W. Fully automated and rapid at-line method for measuring boar taint related compounds in back fat. *Adv. Anim. Biosci.* 2018, 9, s33, doi: 10.1017/S2040470018000183
- Mörlein, J.; Meier-Dinkel, L.; Gertheiss, J.; Schnäckel, W.; Mörlein, D. Sustainable use of tainted boar meat: Blending is a strategy for processed products. *Meat Sci.* 2019, *152*, 65–72, doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2019.02.013
- Čandek-Potokar, M.; Škrlep, M.; Zamaratskaia, G. Immunocastration as Alternative to Surgical Castration in Pigs. *Theriogenology* 2017, 6, 109–126, doi: 10.5772/intechopen.68650
- Kress, K.; Millet, S.; Labussière, É.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Sustainability of Pork Production with Immunocastration in Europe. *Sustainability* 2019, *11*, 3335, doi: 10.3390/su11123335
- Nautrup, B.P.; Vlaenderen, I.V.; Aldaz, A.; Mah, C.K. The effect of immunization against gonadotropin-releasing factor on growth performance, carcass characteristics and boar taint relevant to pig producers and the pork packing industry: A meta-analysis—ScienceDirect. *Res. Vet. Sci.* 2018, *119*, 182–195, doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2018.06.002
- Batorek-Lukač, N.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Bonneau, M.; Van Milgen, J. Meta-analysis of the effect of immunocastration on production performance, reproductive organs and boar taint compounds in pigs. *Animal* 2012, 6, 1330–1338, doi: 10.1017/s1751731112000146

- Batorek-Lukač, N.; Škrlep, M.; Prunier, A.; Louveau, I.; Noblet, J.; Bonneau, M.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Effect of feed restriction on hormones, performance, carcass traits, and meat quality in immunocastrated pigs. *J. Anim. Sci.* 2012, *90*, 4593–4603, doi: 10.2527/jas.2012-5330
- 23. Verhaagh, M.; Deblitz, C.; Rohlmann, C. A Standard Operating Procedure to Define Typical Farms. Available online: http://www.agribenchmark.org/fileadmin/Dateiablage/B-Pig/Misc/sop_pig_1801.pdf (accessed on 5 August 2019).
- Feuz, D.M.; Skold, M.D. Typical Farm Theory in Agricultural Research. J. Sustain. Agric. 1992, 2, 43–58, doi: 10.1300/J064v02n02_05
- Hemme, T. Ein Konzept zur International Vergleichenden Analyse von Politik- und Technikfolgen in der Landwirtschaft; Bundesforschungsanstalt f
 ür Landwirtschaft: Braunschweig, Germany, 2000; Volume 215, ISBN 978-3-933140-37-1.
- Deblitz, C. Modellsteckbrief TIPI-CAL/TYPICROP. Available online: https://www.thuenen.de/de/infrastruktur/thuenen-modellverbund/modelle/tipi-caltypicrop/(accessed on 13 September 2019).
- Deblitz, C.; Verhaagh, M.; Rohlmann, C. Pig Report 2018: Understanding Agriculture Worldwide. Available online: https://literatur.thuenen.de/digbib_extern/dn060203.pdf (accessed on 5 August 2019).
- Verhaagh, M.; Deblitz, C. Wirtschaftlichkeit der Alternativen zur Betäubungslosen Ferkelkastration—Aktualisierung und Erweiterung der Betriebswirtschaftlichen Berechnungen. *Thünen Work. Pap.* 2019, *110*, 56, doi: 10.3220/WP1542016654000
- 29. Imhäuser, R. Ebermäster müssen genauer sortieren. Top. Agrar. 2018, 12, 168–171.
- 30. Höreth, R. Zur Prüfung des Klassifizierungsgerätes AutoFom-III. *Mitteilungsblatt Fleischforschung Kulmbach* **2013**, *52*, 175–178.
- Vališ, L.; Pulkrábek, J.; Pavlík, J.; Vítek, M.; Wolf, J. Conformation and meatiness of pork belly. *Czech J. Anim. Sci.* 2005, *50*, 116–121, doi: 10.17221/4004-CJAS
- 32. Pauly, C.; Spring, P.; O'Doherty, J.V.; Ampuero Kragten, S.; Bee, G. Growth performance, carcass characteristics and meat quality of group-penned surgically castrated, immunocastrated (Improvac[®]) and entire male pigs and individually penned entire male pigs. *Animal* **2009**, *3*, 1057–1066, doi: 10.1017/S1751731109004418

- de Roest, K.; Montanari, C.; Fowler, T.; Baltussen, W. Resource efficiency and economic implications of alternatives to surgical castration without anaesthesia. *Animal* 2009, *3*, 1522–1531, doi: 10.1017/S1751731109990516
- Quiniou, N.; Monziols, M.; Colin, F.; Goues, T.; Courboulay, V. Effect of feed restriction on the performance and behaviour of pigs immunologically castrated with Improvac[®]. *Animal* 2012, 6, 1420–1426, doi: 10.1017/S1751731112000444
- Schiavon, S.; Bona, M.D.; Carcò, G.; Carraro, L.; Bunger, L.; Gallo, L. Effects of feed allowance and indispensable amino acid reduction on feed intake, growth performance and carcass characteristics of growing pigs. *PLoS ONE* 2018, *13*, e0195645, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0195645
- Heyrman, E.; Kowalski, E.; Millet, S.; Tuyttens, F.A.M.; Ampe, B.; Janssens, S.; Buys, N.; Wauters, J.; Vanhaecke, L.; Aluwé, M. Monitoring of behavior, sex hormones and boar taint compounds during the vaccination program for immunocastration in three sire lines. *Res. Vet. Sci.* 2019, *124*, 293–302, doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2019.04.010
- Zamaratskaia, G.; Rasmussen, M.K. Immunocastration of Male Pigs—Situation Today. Procedia Food Science 2015, 5, 324–327, doi: 10.1016/j.profoo.2015.09.064
- Škrlep, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Prevolnik-Povše, M.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Teoretical and practical aspects of immunocastration. *Stočarstvo Časopis za Unapređenje Stočarstva* 2014, 68, 39–49.
- Walstra, P.; Claudi-Magnussen, C.; Chevillon, P.; von Seth, G.; Diestre, A.; Matthews, K.R.; Homer, D.B.; Bonneau, M. An international study on the importance of androstenone and skatole for boar taint: Levels of androstenone and skatole by country and season. *Livest. Prod. Sci.* 1999, 62, 15–28, doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(99)00054-8

© 2019 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

III

Influence of Housing Conditions on Reliability of Immunocastration and Consequences for Growth Performance of Male Pigs

Kevin Kress¹, Ulrike Weiler¹, Sonja Schmucker¹, Marjeta Čandek-Potokar², Milka Vrecl³, Gregor Fazarinc³, Martin Škrlep², Nina Batorek-Lukač², Volker Stefanski¹

¹Department of Behavioral Physiology of Livestock, Institute of Animal Science, University of Hohenheim, Garbenstraße 17, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany

²KIS – Agricultural Institute of Slovenia, Hacquetova ulica 17, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

³Veterinary Faculty, Institute of Preclinical Sciences, University of Ljubljana, Gerbičeva 60, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

Published in Animals 2020, 10 (1), 27

Received: 2 December 2019 / Accepted: 19 December 2019 / Published: 21 December 2019

With permission of MDPIAG

Original publication available at https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10010027

Simple Summary

Surgical castration of male piglets is societally criticized as it is painful and violates the integrity of the animals. Pork production with boars and immunocastrates are possible alternatives. Even if immunocastration is an animal-welfare-friendly alternative, its market share is low and the reliability of this technique is discussed controversially within the pork chain. Currently, the number and the reason for non-responders to vaccination are not clear. Various factors may contribute to impaired immune response including adverse and stressful housing conditions. This study, therefore, examines the influence of different housing conditions on the immune response after two Improvac[®] vaccinations. To determine vaccination success, testosterone concentrations, GnRH-binding, and boar taint compounds were evaluated. Furthermore, the growth performance of male pigs was compared. The results show that immunocastration is reliable under different housing systems and prevents boar taint. Moreover, the growth performance of immunocastrates is high and even superior to that of boars and barrows after the 2nd vaccination. Accordingly, immunocastration is not only animal-welfare-friendly but also economically attractive and suitable for different housing systems.

Abstract

Immunocastration is a sustainable alternative to piglet castration but faces limited market acceptance. The phenomenon of non-responders has not to date been examined in detail, but adverse and stressful housing conditions (e.g., mixing of groups) might impair the success of vaccinations. Therefore, we evaluated the influence of housing conditions on the immune response after two Improvac[®] vaccinations at an age of 12 and 22 weeks, respectively. Boars, immunocastrates and barrows (n = 48 each) were assigned to three different housing conditions (n = 36 enriched, n = 36 standard n = 72 repeated social mixing). Immune response was quantified by measuring GnRH-binding and its consequences for testosterone concentrations, development of the genital tract and boar taint. Growth performance was evaluated via average daily gain (ADG). GnRH-binding and testosterone levels revealed that immunocastration reliably suppressed testicular functions after the 2nd vaccination. Housing conditions did not modify testicular function but influenced ADG as animals under mixing grew slower than those under enriched conditions. Gonadal status had only a slight impact on ADG except in immunocastrates, which showed a temporarily higher ADG after the 2nd vaccination. The results show that immunocastration is a reliable procedure under different housing conditions and competitive in terms of growth performance.

Keywords: immunocastration; vaccination; Improvac; non-responder; immune response; housing conditions; surgical castration; boar taint; growth performance; genital tract

1. Introduction

Traditionally, male piglets designated for pork production have been surgically castrated within the first week of life to avoid boar taint and to prevent problems due to male-specific behavior [1]. As the surgical castration is mostly carried out without anesthesia and analgesia, the animals suffer due to the pain inflicted on them as a consequence of the surgical castration [2,3]. As a consequence, this technique is facing increasing societal criticism [4]. In 2010, these circumstances led European stakeholders of the pork chain to commit themselves voluntarily to stop surgical castration of male piglets by 2018 [5]. Today, however, about 60% of all male piglets produced in Europe are still surgically castrated [6] as pork production with boars still faces problems due to boar taint and other meat quality and animal welfare issues [7]. Quality problems result from the accumulation of the two main boar taint compounds, androstenone and skatole, in adipose tissue [8]. Furthermore, boar carcasses are leaner than those of barrows and have softer adipose tissue due to higher amounts of polyunsaturated fatty acids, which reduce their suitability for processing especially in the case of high-quality dry meat products [9]. From an animal welfare point of view, pork production with boars may lead to boar-specific welfare problems related to sexual behavior and aggression (e.g., injuries, lameness) due to boars' higher potential for agonistic behavior [10,11].

An alternative to both surgical castration and pork production with boars is immunocastration. Immunocastration is an active immunization against GnRH, a key hormone regulating testicular functions. The treatment consists of two consecutive vaccinations that trigger an immune response which results in the production of antibodies against the endogenous hypothalamic hormone GnRH [12]. Until the second vaccination, immunocastrates are from a physiological perspective similar to boars, with the same anabolic potential but also with the same welfare-associated problems. After the second vaccination, testicular hormone synthesis ceases and boar-specific behavioral problems decline within two weeks [13] as do the number of injuries (e.g., penile injuries) [14]. In Europe, only one vaccine (Improvac[®]) is currently available for commercial use [13]. Although Improvac[®] has been approved by the EMA (European Medicines Agency) in the European Union since 2009 [15], the market share of immunocastrates in Europe is only about 2.8% to date [6]. The reasons for the low market acceptance of this technique are

diverse and are mainly due to knowledge gaps regarding the optimal use of immunocastration for various market demands. In order to expand the market share of immunocastrates, vaccination has to work reliably under different production systems, and the growth performance of immunocastrates has to be competitive [13]. However, some reports describe a lower vaccination reliability, with about 0%–3% of vaccinated animals responding poorly to the vaccinations. These are the so-called "non-responders". The reasons for poor immune response are not clear and may be due to either accidentally missed vaccinations or due to health problems in animals during the vaccinations [9,13,16,17,18].

Another possible explanation might be stress-induced immunosuppression. Studies in humans and animals have amply shown that social stressors can impair the immune system [19,20]. Antibody response, for example, was found to be suppressed in defeated rats [21] or highly stressed human caregivers in response to influenza virus vaccination [22]. As stress can have a negative impact on the porcine immune system [23], stressful housing conditions might be a predisposing factor for non-responders. In pork production, unstable social environments cannot be avoided and social mixing is a common procedure (e.g., at the beginning of the fattening phase, while sorting into homogeneous groups etc.). It is well known that social mixing and unstable groups lead to social stress in pigs [24], with more aggressive behavior [25,26] and a negative impact on the pigs' immune system [26,27]. Social mixing not only temporarily activates the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis by increasing cortisol levels after a mixing event has occurred [25,27], but may also lead to chronic stress if frequent mixing persists over a longer period of time [25]. Alternative housing systems such as outdoor housing or organic farming can have both positive and negative effects on the welfare and health status of pigs. In alternative housing systems, pigs may be able to behave in a species-specific way with pen partners, but on the other hand are at an increased risk for exogenous factors such as sunburn or ecto- and endoparasites [28]. A study by de Groot et al. [29] showed that pigs housed under enriched housing conditions had higher salivary cortisol levels than pigs housed under barren housing conditions, whereas no differences existed in immune parameters such as proliferation of leukocytes or lymphocytes. Thus, housing conditions had no clear impact on the immune system. The formation of antibodies against a vaccine was however not studied. These results therefore do not exclude the possibility that a moderate impairment of animals' antibody response due to housing conditions increase the risk for occurrence of non-responders to immunocastration. Social stress not only affects the pigs' immune system but also their growth performance, which is lower in pigs exposed to social stress and mixing [30,31,32].

The aim of this study was to investigate whether housing conditions have an impact on the immune response after two Improvac[®] vaccinations against GnRH in male pigs, and on the creation of non-responders. The influence of housing conditions and castration status of male pigs on growth performance during the fattening period was also investigated.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Animals and Experimental Setup

The experimental protocol was approved by the ethical committee for animal experiments by the regional authority of Tuebingen, Germany, (ID HOH 47/17TH), and all procedures were conducted in accordance with the German Animal Welfare Act. In total, two subsequent trials were conducted with 72 pigs per trial. The trials were performed at the animal experimental unit of the University of Hohenheim (Unterer Lindenhof, Eningen, Germany). All pigs were a crossbreed of Pietrain x German Landrace. In this experiment, three different sex groups of male pigs (boars, n = 48; immunocastrates, n = 48 and barrows, n = 48) were housed under three different housing conditions (standard: n = 36; enriched: n = 36; mixing: n = 72). In the 'standard' scenario, the animals were housed in conventional housing conditions (1, 2 m^2 per pig). Under 'enriched' conditions, the animals had twice as much space (2, 6 m^2 per pig) as under 'standard' conditions and additional access to the outdoor area (3, 1 m² per pig). In the 'mixing' scenario, the animals were kept similar to 'standard' conditions, but the groups were mixed repeatedly to induce social stress. Mixing consisted of an exchange of two of 6 animals per pen with two unfamiliar animals from another pen of a similar sex group every third day of the mixing phase. For this reason, the animal number of the mixing scenario was twice as high as in the two other housing conditions. Mixing was assigned around vaccination time points to maximize probable effects of social stress on vaccination outcome. Thus, mixing started 7 days before the first vaccination at an age of 11 weeks, with a total number of 5 mixing events. The second mixing phase started at an age of 20 weeks and consisted of 8 mixing events over 24 days. The selection of animals which were mixed was randomized.

The animals for this experiment had been selected from a total of 48 litters (322 male piglets). The piglets were allocated randomly at an age of three days to 9 different experimental groups (sex group x housing) by the method of Latin Squares. Barrows were surgically castrated within the first week of life without anesthesia, but received 0.2 mL Metacam[®] (Meloxicam, 5 mg/mL) as post-surgery pain relief. Immunocastrates (IC) were

vaccinated twice with Improvac[®] at an age of 12 (first vaccination – V1) and 22 weeks (second vaccination – V2) as shown in the timeline of the experiment in **Figure 1**. It was decided that full siblings were not to be assigned to the same interaction of sex group x housing condition. The assignment of the interaction of the sex group x housing condition to the respective pens was also randomized, and it was ensured that two mixing groups of the same sex group (e.g., boars) were not located directly next to each other.



Figure 1. Generalized timeline of the trials (feeding periods, blood samples (B1–B4), vaccination times (V1—applied immediately after B1, V2), mixing periods, and slaughter dates according to the age (weeks) of the animals).

In all pens, chopped straw (500 g per pen) and sawdust (1000 g per pen) were supplied daily. Feed was supplied twice per day between 7:45 am and 8:00 am and between 4:00 pm and 4:30 pm. The pigs were fed ad libitum. Feed composition varied during the fattening period (three phase feeding) and was based on the recommendations for intact boars (see Kress and Verhaagh [33]). In order to avoid a feeding effect, all animals were fed the same diet. Individual weights of all animals were recorded at birth, at an age of 3 weeks, 10 weeks, 17 weeks and at slaughter to characterize the growth performance via average daily gain (ADG).

The experiment covered the period between an age of 10 weeks and 27 or 28 weeks (slaughter). Due to the limited capacity of the experimental slaughter unit (LSZ Boxberg, Boxberg, Germany), the animals were slaughtered on two different occasions to ensure standardized conditions and complete data collection.

In total, 4 blood samples were collected from each pig to measure antibody titer against GnRH, as well as testosterone and cortisol levels at an age of 12 weeks (B1, to analyze differences between sex groups and housing conditions immediately before V1), 20 weeks (B2, after V1 and before V2, to measure the immune response after V1 and the impact of sex group on testosterone concentrations) and 24 weeks (B3, two weeks after V2 and immediately after the second mixing phase to analyze the antibody response after V2 and the corresponding testosterone concentrations and to analyze the impact of social mixing on

cortisol concentrations) and at slaughter line (B4, to measure the final antibody titer against GnRH and testosterone concentrations at slaughter to confirm that testicular functions are suppressed until slaughter and to analyze differences in sex groups and housing conditions on transport and slaughter stress) (as given in **Figure 1**). For blood sampling during the experiment, the animals were separated individually and fixed by a snare pole and blood was collected by puncture of the vena jugularis externa into heparinized vials. Plasma was removed after centrifugation and stored at -20 °C until further analyzed.

2.2. GnRH Binding in Plasma

Success of immunocastration was assessed by measuring GnRH binding in plasma with an in-house assay, based on ¹²⁵I-GnRH. GnRH-Iodination was carried out with the solid phase Iodogen-method according to Salacinski et al. [34], using 1 µg Iodogen/cup, 200 µCi¹²⁵I (Na¹²⁵I, Hartmann Analytik GmbH, Braunschweig, I-RB-31.) and 200 ng GnRH (Fisher Scientific, PEP-168) diluted in 0.5 M phosphate buffer (pH 7,4). After an incubation period of 3 min the free iodine was separated from the iodinated peptide with an anion-exchange resin column. The specific activity was about 200 nCi/ng GnRH. In order to determine the GnRH binding, 15,000 cpm¹²⁵I-GnRH (corresponding to 17.5 pg GnRH) in 100 µl in 0.1 M phosphate buffer were incubated with 5 µl of plasma and 200 µl of 0.1 M phosphate buffer with the addition of bovine serum albumin (BSA, 0.1%) at 4 °C for 24 h. Afterwards, bound free separation was carried out with dextran-coated charcoal (0.5%) in 1 mL H₂0 and subsequent centrifugation. The supernatant was counted for one minute in a gamma counter. As controls, a pool sample of vaccinated animals with a good response (pool A) and a pool sample of non-vaccinated boars (pool B) were measured within each assay. The absolute binding of the biological samples was calculated (counts/total counts). The specific binding of pool A was 39.38% ± 6.29%; (CV: 16%; range 35.16% to 61.02%) in trial 1, and 38.79% $\pm 2.66\%$; (CV: 7%; range 39.22% to 56.74%) in trial 2. The non-specific binding determined with pool B was $4.44\% \pm 1.02\%$, (CV: 23%; range 1.35% to 2.67%) in trial 1, and 5.65% \pm 0.76% (CV: 13%; range 4.20% to 6.33%) in trial 2.

2.3. Testosterone Levels in Plasma

Testosterone concentrations in plasma were determined in duplicate with a direct in-house radioimmunoassay (RIA). In brief, 20 μ L plasma were incubated with [1,2,6,7-³H]-testosterone (95.5 Ci/mmol, PerkinElmer, Boston, MA, USA) and antiserum. The antiserum had been raised in a rabbit against testosterone-3CMO-BSA and was used at a final dilution

of 1:144,000. Cross reactivity was 67% with 5 α DHT, and below 2% for other tested steroids. Charcoal-treated plasma (20 µL) was added to the calibration curve to compensate for substrate effects in case of measurements in plasma. Bound free separation was carried out with 0.5 mL ice cold solution of dextran coated charcoal (0.5%) in H₂0 and subsequent centrifugation. The supernatant was transferred into counting vials with scintillation fluid and counted in a beta-counter. To determine the precision of the tests, plasma samples from barrows were spiked with defined concentrations of 0.5 to 10.0 ng/mL (precision 100%–125% recovery in each trial). In addition, biological samples were included to determine the repeatability of the measurements (coefficient of variation: intra-assay 1.99% (trial 1) and 5.22% (trial 2); inter-assay 8.46% (trial 1) and 6.87% (trial 2)).

2.4. Cortisol Levels in Plasma

In order to determine the cortisol concentrations of the respective experimental animals, a radioimmunoassay (RIA) was carried out as described by Engert et al. [35]. A polyclonal antibody against cortisol-3-BSA (MBS316242, MyBioSource, San Diego, CA, USA) at a final dilution of 1:112,000 in 0.1% BSA buffer was added and as a tracer [1,2,6,7-3H] cortisol (93 Ci/mmol, PerkinElmer, Boston, MA, USA) used. All samples of each animal were measured in a single assay. Intra-assay variance for a biological sample was 4.87% and inter-assay variance was 8.87%.

2.5. Boar Taint Compounds in Adipose Tissue

For the determination of boar taint compounds, samples of subcutaneous fat were vacuum packed at slaughter and stored at -20 °C until the start of the analyses (within 14 days after sampling). Androstenone and skatole concentrations were determined with high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC, HP 1200, Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) equipped with a fluorescence detector according to Pauly et al. [36]. Adipose tissue samples (10–20 g) were put in a microwave oven for 2 × 1 min at 350 W. Afterwards, the liquefied lipid fraction was removed and centrifuged for 20 min at 11,200 g and ambient temperature. After centrifugation, fat was heated to 50 °C and 0.5 ± 0.01 g water-free liquid fat transferred into 2 mL Eppendorf tubes adding 1 mL of internal standards diluted in methanol (0.496 mg/L androstenone and 0.050 mg/L 2-methylindol for androstenone and skatole determination, respectively). After stirring for 30 s, the tubes were incubated for 5 min at 30 °C in an ultrasonic water bath, kept on ice for 20 min and centrifuged for 20 min at 11,200 g at 4 °C. For androstenone determination, 50 µL of the supernatant was submitted

to derivatization with dansylhydrazine and boron trifluoride (BF3) for 2 min. An aliquot of 10 μ L of the derived mixture was then injected into the column (SunFire C18 3.5 μ m 4.6 × 75 mm equipped with 20 mm precolumn) and analyzed using fluorescence (at λ ex = 346 nm, λ em = 521 nm). For skatole determination, 20 μ L of the supernatant was injected into the column and analyzed using fluorescence (λ ex = 285 nm, λ em = 340 nm). Concentrations were expressed per g of the liquid fat. The detection limits were 0.24 μ g/g for androstenone and 0.03 μ g/g for skatole. For androstenone concentrations below detection limit, a value of 0.21 μ g/g was assumed, and for skatole concentrations of 0.02 μ g/g (half of lowest value). Inter- and intra-assay variation for both compounds was below 10%. Carcasses were classified with a threshold for androstenone of 1 μ g/g fat and skatole of 0.25 μ g/g fat [33].

2.6. Genital Tract Measurements

The efficacy of immunocastration was further assessed by genital tract measurements as follows: reproductive organs/accessory sex glands and the pelvic part of the urogenital tract were excised and weighed at slaughter line as described by Fazarinc [37]. For this purpose, the pelvic part of the urogenital tract was first separated from the rectum and anus and the urinary bladder emptied through an incision at its apex. The pelvic urogenital tract was then cleaned of excessive adipose and connective tissue and the penis removed by cutting off close to the caudal end of the bulbourethral glands. The dissected pelvic urogenital tract consisting of the accessory reproductive glands (i.e., paired vesicular and bulbourethral glands, and prostate) was then weighed. Subsequently, accessory reproductive glands and testes with epididymes from each boar and immunocastrate were dissected and weighed individually.

2.7. Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed with SAS Version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA), using a linear mixed model of the MIXED (mixed linear model) procedure with degrees of freedom determined by the method of Kenward-Roger. Variance components were estimated using the restricted maximum likelihood (REML) method. The linear mixed model included sex group, housing conditions and the interaction of sex group x housing as fixed effect. As the interaction of sex group x housing conditions are presented in two cases, skatole and cortisol B3), only p-values of sex group and housing conditions are presented in the tables.

Furthermore, trial, pen and the interaction of trial x pen, slaughter date, dam, sire and the interaction of dam x sire were used as random effects. Residuals were tested on normal distribution and variance homogeneity by visual check of residuals plots [38]. If the residuals were not normally distributed (androstenone and skatole), the data were logarithmically transformed and the results then retransformed. Differences between groups were adjusted by a Bonferroni correction. Paired Student's t-tests (two-tailed) with Bonferroni correction were used to analyze differences between a priori specified blood samples (B1 vs. B2; B2 vs. B3; B3 vs. B4) within one sex group with SPSS Version 24 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). p-values with p < 0.05 were considered as significant and p < 0.10 as a tendency. The results are presented as LS-means (last mean square) \pm SEM (standard error of the mean).

3. Results

3.1. Characterization of Testicular Functions in Male Pigs

Mixed linear model analysis indicated that sex group had a significant impact on testosterone concentrations, whereas housing conditions and the interaction of sex group and housing condition did not modify testicular functions. Figure 2 shows plasma testosterone concentrations of boars, immunocastrates and barrows during blood sampling (B1-B4) throughout the fattening period. The first blood sample B1, collected before V1, revealed similar testosterone concentrations in boars and immunocastrates (about 0.3 ng/mL). Both sex groups, however, had higher testosterone levels than barrows (about 0.13 ng/mL). Using Bonferroni corrected t-tests, changes in testosterone concentration were further analyzed in detail within each sex group. Results indicate that in barrows, testosterone levels remained at low levels between B1–B3, but were slightly higher at B4 (p < 0.001). In contrast, testosterone concentrations in boars increased during the fattening period and reached considerably high levels at slaughter (about 39 ng/mL). Testosterone concentrations in boars differed significantly (p < 0.01) between all three specified comparisons (B1 vs. B2; B2 vs. B3; B3 vs. B4). Immunocastrates had similar testosterone concentrations as boars until B2 (V2). Two weeks after V2 (B3), testosterone concentrations dropped to pre-vaccination levels, similar to that of barrows (about 0.11 ng/mL). At slaughter (B4), testosterone levels in immunocastrates tended to be marginally higher than in barrows (immunocastrates: 0.3 ng/mL vs barrows: 0.2 ng/mL; p = 0.056), but substantially lower than in boars (p < 0.001). This indicates that immunocastration successfully suppressed testicular functions. In immunocastrates, testosterone concentrations differed between all specified comparisons (p < 0.001).



Figure 2. Plasma testosterone concentrations of boars, immunocastrates and barrows (n = 48 per sex group) at four blood sample time points (B1: before V1, B2: before V2, B3: 2 weeks after V2, B4 at slaughter). Testosterone concentrations between different sex groups with different superscripts differ significantly (p < 0.05).

3.2. GnRH Antibody Formation and Testicular Functions in Immunocastrates during the Investigation Period

In **Figure 3**, GnRH-binding of immunocastrates is given for the four blood samplings (B1– B4). Before V1 (B1), all immunocastrates revealed low unspecific GnRH-binding which corresponds to the low, unspecific binding of boars (B1: $3.71 \pm 1.31\%$; B2: $3.04 \pm 1.05\%$; B3: $2.63 \pm 1.21\%$; B4: $2.58 \pm 1.17\%$) and barrows (B1: $3.54 \pm 1.32\%$; B2: $3.13 \pm 1.03\%$; B3: $3.94 \pm 1.31\%$; B4: $3.64 \pm 1.24\%$). In immunocastrates, 2 weeks after V1, GnRH-binding increased markedly (B2, p < 0.001), followed by a further increase after V2 (B3, p < 0.001). This high GnRH-binding was maintained in all immunocastrates until B4 (B3 vs. B4, p = 0.478). Housing conditions had no significant influence on the level of antibody formation against GnRH at any time of sampling.



Figure 3. GnRH-binding in immunocastrates under three different housing conditions (enriched -n = 12, standard -n = 12 and mixing -n = 24) at four blood sample time points (B1: before V1, B2: before V2, B3: 2 weeks after V2, B4: at slaughter). Differences between housing groups marked with ns are not significant.

3.3. Evaluation of Reproductive Organs in Male Pigs

Furthermore, the differences between boars and immunocastrates in the characterization of genital tract weights were used to evaluate the efficacy of immunocastration (**Table 1**). In all the parameters tested (weight of testes with epididymes, vesicular glands, bulbourethral glands, prostate and pelvic part of the urogenital tract), differences between boars and immunocastrates were significant, which shows that immunocastration induced a regression of reproductive organs compared to boars. Similar to other parameters, housing conditions had no impact on the weight of reproductive organs.

Table 1. Genital tract weight (g) of boars, immunocastrates and barrows (n = 48 per sex group) housed under three different housing conditions (enriched -n = 12, standard -n = 12 and mixing -n = 24).

Parameter	Boars (n = 48)	Immunocastrates (n = 48)	Barrows (n = 48)	p-Value	Enriched $(n = 36)$	Standard $(n = 36)$	Mixing (n = 72)	p-Value
Testes *	$722.57 \pm 21.43 \ ^{b}$	$288.41 \pm 20.77 \ ^a$	-	<.0001	490.97 ± 26.65	521.02 ± 24.23	504.48 ± 23.91	0.7001
Vesicular gl.	$274.15 \pm 16.26^{\ b}$	$38.94 \pm 15.59\ ^{a}$	-	<.0001	140.04 ± 19.89	175.95 ± 19.15	153.63 ± 15.79	0.3026
Bulbourethral gl.	$158.36 \pm 10.87 \ ^{b}$	$58.95 \pm 10.87 \ ^{a}$	-	<.0001	105.42 ± 11.51	115.65 ± 11.37	104.90 ± 10.67	0.3930
Prostate	$9.24\pm0.47~^b$	$3.38\pm0.46\ ^a$	-	<.0001	6.18 ± 0.53	6.85 ± 0.53	5.89 ± 0.50	0.4648
Urogenital tract	$540.61 \pm 20.46 \ ^{c}$	$214.01 \pm 18.16^{\ b}$	$115.41 \pm 17.85 \ ^{a}$	<.0001	281.00 ± 18.63	310.67 ± 18.68	278.36 ± 15.98	0.2729

Parameters within a row with different superscripts differ significantly (p < 0.05); * both testes weighed with epididymes.

3.4. Influence of Treatment and Housing Conditions on Boar Taint

Significant differences in boar taint compounds occurred between sex groups (**Table 2**). All immunocastrates had androstenone levels below the limit of detection (<0.24 μ g/g fat) and consequently below the threshold of 1 μ g/g fat. Compared to immunocastrates, 79.17% of all boars had androstenone levels above 1 μ g/g fat. Housing conditions had no effect on androstenone levels in boars and immunocastrates. Androstenone is testis-derived and was not analyzed in barrows.

Table 2. Androstenone and skatole concentrations in boars, immunocastrates and barrows (n = 48 per sex group) housed under three different housing conditions (enriched – n = 12, standard – n = 12 and mixing – n = 24).

Parameter	Boars (n = 48)	Immunocas trates $(n = 48)$	Barrows (n = 48)	p-Value	Enriched (n = 36)	Standard $(n = 36)$	Mixing (n = 72)	p-Value
Androstenone	$2.53 \pm 0.50^{\ b}$	<0.24 ^a	-	<.0001	0.64 ± 0.15	0.67 ± 0.15	0.74 ± 0.14	0.7184
Skatole	$0.037 \pm 0.005 \ ^{b}$	$0.020 \pm 0.003 \ ^{a}$	0.021 ± 0.003^a	<.001	0.021 ± 0.003	0.029 ± 0.005	0.025 ± 0.003	0.1179
Parameters within a row with different superscripts differ significantly ($p < 0.05$). All immunocastrates had								
androstenone	androstenone levels below the limit of detection (<0.24 µg/g fat). Androstenone is testis-derived and was not							
analyzed in b	barrows.							

The differences in skatole levels were also significant between sex groups. All immunocastrates and barrows had skatole concentrations below 0.25 µg/g fat. In contrast to immunocastrates and barrows, 6.25% of boars (3 out of 48 animals) had skatole levels above the threshold of 0.25 µg/g fat. All 3 boars with increased skatole levels had concomitant androstenone levels above 1 µg/g fat. While housing conditions had no influence on the skatole values, sex group x housing condition (p = 0.0293) had an influence on skatole levels with boars housed under enriched conditions ($0.063 \pm 0.013 \mu g/g$ fat; p = 0.0105). It can be concluded that immunocastration was effective in preventing boar taint, and that housing conditions had no modifying influence on boar taint compounds in immunocastrates and barrows, whereas in boars, enriched conditions significantly reduced skatole levels.

3.5. Cortisol Levels in Male Pigs

Table 3 shows plasma cortisol concentrations of boars, immunocastrates and barrows throughout the fattening period at B1–B4. Cortisol levels did not differ between sex groups and housing conditions in the first two blood samples. At B3, the interaction of sex group and housing condition was significant (p = 0.0405), with no significant differences found in post-hoc testing.

Table 3. Cortisol levels in boars, immunocastrates and barrows (n = 48 per sex group) housed under three different housing conditions (enriched – n = 12, standard – n = 12 and mixing – n = 24).

Parameter	Boars (n = 48)	Immunocastrates (n = 48)	Barrows (n = 48)	p-Value	Enriched (n = 36)	Standard $(n = 36)$	Mixing (n = 72)	p-Value
Cortisol - B1	27.96 ± 2.77	26.37 ± 2.75	28.93 ± 2.74	0.7025	31.76 ± 2.94	26.34 ± 2.87	25.16 ± 2.49	0.1353
Cortisol - B2	23.82 ± 3.04	21.37 ± 3.03	27.31 ± 3.03	0.0584	23.44 ± 3.19	23.82 ± 3.13	25.23 ± 2.81	0.7137
Cortisol - B3	19.49 ± 1.47	18.56 ± 1.40	17.77 ± 1.34	0.6867	17.63 ± 1.46	21.49 ± 1.78	16.97 ± 0.99	0.0629
Cortisol - B4	$59.15 \pm 4.41 \ ^{b}$	$45.29 \pm 4.36 \ ^{a}$	$49.74 \pm 4.34 \; ^{ab}$	0.0049	53.57 ± 4.66	48.26 ± 4.61	52.36 ± 3.86	0.4735
D								

Blood Samples – B1: before V1, B2: before V2, B3: 2 weeks after V2, B4 at slaughter; parameters within a row with different superscripts differ significantly (p < 0.05).

Differences between sex groups were, however, evident at slaughter (B4). Boars had higher cortisol concentrations than immunocastrates (p < 0.01), and a tendency towards higher cortisol concentrations than barrows (p < 0.1). Immunocastrates and barrows did not differ significantly (p = 0.899). Within all sex groups, cortisol concentrations increased significantly from B3 to B4 (p < 0.001), which clearly shows the influence of slaughter and transport stress on cortisol levels in male pigs. There was no effect of housing conditions on cortisol concentrations at B4.

3.6. Growth Performance of Male Pigs

Growth performances of the three sex groups varied throughout the fattening period (**Table 4**). At the beginning of the fattening period (feeding phase 1), barrows showed a tendency towards higher ADG than boars (911 g vs. 854 g respectively; p = 0.0569). Immunocastrates were between boars and barrows in their growth performance in this period. In the second feeding phase, no differences between the sex groups were obvious. Growth performance of immunocastrates changed after V2, in feeding phase 3, and reached the highest ADG (967 g) of all sex groups. Growth performance was significantly higher in boars than in barrows in feeding phase 3 (p = 0.0262). Over the entire fattening period, differences between sex groups were less pronounced and did not reach the level of significance (p = 0.069).

Table 4. Growth performance (average daily gain, ADG, in g) in boars, immunocastrates and barrows (n = 48 per sex group housed under three different housing conditions (enriched—n = 12, standard—n = 12 and mixing—n = 24).

Parameter	Boars (n = 48)	Immunocas trates (n = 48)	Barrows (n = 48)	p-Value	Enriched $(n = 36)$	Standard $(n = 36)$	Mixing (n = 72)	p-Value
ADG-Phase 1	854 ± 23	864 ± 22	911 ± 22	0.0417	862 ± 23	887 ± 23	880 ± 21	0.4747
ADG - Phase 2	923 ± 46	905 ± 46	963 ± 46	0.0625	969 ± 47^{b}	$926\pm47~^{ab}$	$894\pm44~^a$	0.0099
ADG - Phase 3	$869\pm20~^{b}$	$967\pm20\ ^{c}$	$816\pm20~^a$	<.0001	$911\pm21~^{b}$	882 ± 21^{ab}	859 ± 18^a	0.0438
Fattening	855 ± 20	906 ± 20	879 ± 20	0.0694	898 ± 21	885 ± 21	886 ± 19	0.1220

Feeding phases: Phase 1—at an age of 10 to 18 weeks; Phase 2: at an age of 18 to 22 weeks; Phase 3—at an age of 22 to 27/28 weeks; Total fattening period: ADG (g) of total fattening period (age of 10 to 27/28 weeks); parameters within a row with different superscripts differ significantly (p < 0.05).

In contrast to other parameters, housing conditions had a significant impact on the growth performance of pigs. Animals from the mixing group revealed lower growth rates in the second and third feeding phase than animals from the enriched group, whereas animals from the standard group were in between. In the second feeding phase, animals from the enriched group had an 8% higher growth rate than animals from the mixing group. In the third feeding phase, the 'enriched' animals also had a 6% better growth performance than animals from the mixing group.

4. Discussion

Immunocastration and pork production with boars are possible alternatives to surgical castration of male piglets [13]. Pork production with boars has advantages when compared to pork production with barrows, as the feed conversion ratio (FCR) and growth performance are improved [7]. On the other hand, the risk of animal welfare-related problems is increased, as boars have a higher potential for agonistic behavior [13]. In addition, the quality of meat from boars is lower because of boar taint, a reduced intramuscular fat content, and increased amounts of unsaturated fatty acids in the fat which limits its suitability for traditional dry cured meat products [39]. From a scientific point of view, immunocastration has the potential to reduce these problems markedly, but the market relevance of immunocastrates is globally very low and the reliability of this procedure is often questioned as knowledge gaps exist on the market [13]. Therefore, the study analyzed the reliability of immunocastration in different housing conditions and compared the growth performance of immunocastrates with boars and barrows to evaluate whether the technique is competitive. To our best knowledge, this is the first study to test vaccination against GnRH with Improvac[®] under various housing conditions in experimental trials, measuring antibody response on the basis of GnRH binding and testosterone concentrations. Full siblings were allocated to different sex groups and housing conditions in order to reduce variability due to age and genotype.

In contrast to the literature reports [9,13,17] and the concerns of pork chain actors, our study found no evidence for non-responders. In fact, after two Improvac[®] vaccinations, the immune response was sufficient in all immunocastrates to fully suppress testicular functions. Zeng et al. [16] described that health problems during the vaccinations were linked to an insufficient immune response to Improvac[®] vaccinations, and thus resulted in non-responders. In the literature [9,13,17], wrong handling or missed vaccinations are often assumed to be the reasons for non-responders. In the present experiment, we ensured that the animals were healthy during the vaccinations and correct handling and careful

vaccinations were ensured by experienced veterinarians. We can therefore conclude from this experiment that if vaccinations against GnRH (Improvac[®]) are carried out correctly, the technique is reliable even under more challenging housing conditions.

Testosterone concentrations in all immunocastrates decreased to the level of barrows after the second immunization against GnRH and remained at this basal level until slaughter. In comparison, intact boars had testosterone levels of 3–5 ng/mL plasma at this age, as similarly described by Zamaratskaia et al. [40]. These effects clearly show, that testicular functions were successfully suppressed in all immunocastrates after two vaccinations with Improvac[®]. In our study, boars revealed considerable testosterone concentrations at slaughter. A previous study by Wesoly et al. [41] describes the influence of transport time on the testicular functions of boars. Testosterone concentrations were increased by 2.2 ng/mL plasma per hour transport time, which shows an impact of pre-slaughter conditions on testicular functions in boars. In this study the transport time from the animal experimental unit to the slaughterhouse was about 3 h, the pre-unloading time about 1 h, followed by another hour until the pigs were actually slaughtered.

In the present study, immunocastration was also effective in the prevention of boar taint. Androstenone levels were below the limit of detection in all immunocastrates, all skatole levels below the defined thresholds for skatole (0.25 μ g/g fat), indicating that immunocastration is also reliable in preventing boar taint. Skatole concentrations in barrows and immunocastrates were significantly lower than in boars, as high androstenone, testosterone and estradiol levels in boars inhibit the activity of hepatic skatole-degrading enzymes CYP2E1 and CYP2A [42,43,44,45]. This also agrees with the meta-analysis by Batorek et al. [46] and Nautrup et al. [47]. In our study, housing conditions had no effect on either androstenone nor or skatole levels. However, the opposite was shown in a study by Škrlep et al. [48] in which individually housed animals had lower skatole levels than group-housed animals, but no differences occurred in androstenone concentrations. Furthermore, a higher stocking density resulted in higher skatole levels but lower androstenone levels than in animals housed in a lower stocking density and slaughtered at higher ages.

In comparison to boars, all reproductive organs of immunocastrates were significantly lighter. These findings are in full agreement with several studies [49,50,51] which show a significant impact of treatment with Improvac[®] on the development of the male genital tract. The different compartments, however, were affected to a various degree. Above all, the glandula vesicularis, which is known to reflect testosterone levels in size and secretory

activity [52], might be suggested as an additional parameter for determining the success of the vaccination [50]. However, for practical reasons it is difficult to excise the vesicular gland at slaughter line and to determine its weight. Even if testes weight differs significantly between boars and immunocastrates, this parameter is not recommended for detection of non-responders at slaughter line as there is no clear cut between the testes weight of boars and immunocastrates [53]. Therefore, we do not recommend this parameter to determine the success of an adequate immune response after immunocastration.

Similar to this study, previous reports in pigs showed that challenging housing conditions such as mixing must not necessarily lead to a pronounced influence on the plasma cortisol concentrations in pigs [26,32]. Sutherland et al. [30] found even lower cortisol concentrations in mixed than in control pigs. Notably, animals from enriched (and presumably less stressful) environments also show higher cortisol concentrations during daytime than animals from barren housing conditions [29]. However, it has to be considered that single cortisol measurements cannot reflect changes in the daily pattern of cortisol levels. De Jong et al. [54] have shown that pigs housed under barren conditions and that a blunted circadian rhythm in cortisol compared to pigs housed in enriched conditions and that a blunted rhythm may indicate decreased welfare. Moreover, it has been shown that CBG (corticosteroid-binding globulin) concentration can decrease under stressful conditions [55], making conclusions based only on plasma cortisol levels a complex task. Thus, more detailed investigation on circadian rhythm and the free (= active) vs. bound (= inactive) ratio of cortisol is needed to draw comprehensive conclusions regarding the effect of housing conditions and gender on hypothalamic–pituitary axis (HPA) activity.

On the other hand, behavioral observations in our study revealed that mixed animals more often showed severe agonistic behavior and were thus probably more stressed than animals from the standard or enriched housing environments [56]. Moreover, the poorer growth performance of mixed pigs in the present study can also be taken as an indicator of stressful housing. Studies by Ekkel et al. [57] showed that housing with social mixing of pigs has a negative impact on growth performance and on welfare when compared to "specific stress-free" housing environments. These results are also consistent with those from other reports on the effect of mixing on ADG [30,31,32]. Here, it is important to note that, although mixing stress most likely caused higher stress levels in immunocastrates as well, the intensity of the stressor 'mixing' stressor was not sufficient to negatively affect antibody response to GnRH or even to cause non-responders.

In the present study, the growth performance of immunocastrates was significantly higher after the second vaccination than that of boars and barrows, which agrees with the metaanalysis of literature reports [46]. A study by Pauly et al. [58], however, had shown that after the second vaccination, only differences between immunocastrates and boars remain, but not between immunocastrates and barrows. Until the second vaccination is applied, the growth performance of immunocastrates is identical to that of boars [46,58]. Over the entire fattening period of the present experiment, no differences in growth performance between the sex groups occurred. However, this does not exclude the possibility, that immunocastrates could be superior to barrows and boars over the entire fattening period. The extent to which the growth performance after the second vaccination or throughout the entire fattening period differs between the sex groups mainly depends on the genetically determined level of feed consumption of a genotype [33] and on the timing of the second vaccination [13]. The economic relevance of the higher growth rates of immunocastrates after the second immunization against GnRH gains relevance only if the feed conversion ratio is also competitive and the fattening duration decreases compared to barrows and boars [33].

5. Conclusions

This study shows that immunocastration is a reliable technique to supresses testicular functions under different housing conditions. Regardless of housing conditions, testosterone concentrations drop after the second Improvac[®]-vaccination to a low level, comparable to barrows. Furthermore, all carcasses of immunocastrates were free of boar taint, whereas a considerable number of boar carcasses were affected by boar taint. Reproductive organs, as well, react to the vaccinations and result in lower weights than in boars. In our study, based on Pietrain x German Landrace and two vaccinations at the age of 12 and 22 weeks, the growth performance between sex groups did not differ throughout the total fattening period. On the other hand, immunocastrates had a higher growth performance after the second vaccination. Mixing had been applied as a standardized method to increase stress. A negative influence on growth performance by this was obvious and points to a moderate stress. However, this social stressor did not modify the immune response upon vaccination against GnRH or cause any non-responders in our study.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization, K.K., U.W., S.S., M.Č.-P. and V.S.; methodology, K.K., U.W.; S.S., M.V.; G.F., M.Š., N.B.-L. and V.S.; formal analysis, K.K. and U.W.; data curation, K.K.; writing—original draft preparation, K.K.; writing—review and editing, K.K., U.W., S.S., M.Č.-P., M.V., G.F., M.Š., N.B.-L. and V.S.; funding acquisition, V.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

This research is part of the ERA-NET SusAn, project SuSi (co-financed by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Program and the German Federal Office for Agriculture and Food), grant number 696231. For the harmonization of methods, a special training school was organized and financed by COST-IPEMA 'Innovative Approaches for Pork Production with Entire Males' (CA 15215). Teams of Agricultural institute of Slovenia and Veterinary faculty are recipients of core financing by the Slovenian agency of research (grants P4-0133, P4-0053, Z7-9416).

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Hans-Peter Piepho, Jens Hartung and Filippo Capezzone of the department for Biostatistics (340c) at the University of Hohenheim for statistical advice; Agnes Richter of the Schweinegesundheitsdienst Baden-Württemberg for instructions on blood collection; Carolin Jannasch of Zoetis Inc. for vaccinating the animals; Eberhard Reichenecker, Christoph Albert, Nadine Münzenmeier, and Severin Datzer of the experimental unit 'Unterer Lindenhof' for animal care; Linda Ungemach, Thorben Schilling, Linda Wiesner, Bill Dunne and Manuela Ganser for assistance during blood sampling; Sybille Knöllinger, Katharina Franz, Dominik Hönig and Miriam Hecht for technical assistance; Reinhard Dingler, Heinz Mack and Franz Solf of LSZ Boxberg for their support during the slaughter and Christine Frasch for proof-reading. The support of Špela Velikonja-Bolta in the HPLC quantification of androstenone and skatole is also acknowledged.

Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest. The funders had no role in the design of the study; in the collection, analyses, or interpretation of data; in the writing of the manuscript, or in the decision to publish the results.

References

- EFSA. Opinion of the scientific panel on animal health and welfare on a request from the commission related to welfare aspects of the castration of piglets. Eur. Food Saf. Auth. J. 2004, 91, 1–18, doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2004.91
- Prunier, A.; Bonneau, M.; Von Borell, E.H.; Cinotti, S.; Gunn, M.; Fredriksen, B.; Giersing, M.; Morton, D.B.; Tuyttens, F.A.M.; Velarde, A. A review of the welfare consequences of surgical castration in piglets and the evaluation of non-surgical methods. Anim. Welf. **2006**, 15, 277–289.
- von Borell, E.; Baumgartner, J.; Giersing, M.; Jäggin, N.; Prunier, A.; Tuyttens, F.A.M.; Edwards, S.A. Animal welfare implications of surgical castration and its alternatives in pigs. Animal 2009, 3, 1488–1496, doi: 10.1017/S1751731109004728
- European Commission. Establishing Best Practices on the Production, the Processing and the Marketing of Meat from Uncastrated Pigs or Pigs Vaccinated Against Boar Taint (Immunocastrated). 2019. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/animals/docs/aw_prac_farm_pigs_castalt_establishing-best-practices.pdf (accessed on 5 August 2019).
- European Declaration on Alternatives to Surgical Castration of Pigs. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/animals/docs/aw_prac_farm_pigs_castalt_declaration_en.pdf (accessed on 31 March 2019).
- Backus, G.; Higuera, M.; Juul, N.; Nalon, E.; de Briyne, N. Second Progress Report 2015–2017 on the European Declaration on Alternatives to Surgical Castration of Pigs. Available online: https://www.boarsontheway.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Second-progress-report-2015-2017-final-1.pdf (accessed on 26 April 2019).
- Bonneau, M.; Weiler, U. Pros and cons of alternatives to piglet castration: Welfare, boar taint, and other meat quality traits. Animals 2019, 9, 884, doi: 10.3390/ani9110884
- Bonneau, M.; Le Denmat, M.; Vaudelet, J.C.; Veloso Nunes, J.R.; Mortensen, A.B.; Mortensen, H.P. Contributions of fat androstenone and skatole to boar taint: I. Sensory attributes of fat and pork meat. Livest. Prod. Sci. **1992**, 32, 63–80, doi: 10.1016/S0301-6226(12)80012-1

- Čandek-Potokar, M.; Škrlep, M.; Zamaratskaia, G. Immunocastration as alternative to surgical castration in pigs. Theriogenology 2017, 6, 109–126, doi: 10.5772/intechopen.68650
- Weiler, U.; Isernhagen, M.; Stefanski, V.; Ritzmann, M.; Kress, K.; Hein, C.; Zöls, S. Penile injuries in wild and domestic pigs. Animals 2016, 6, 25, doi: 10.3390/ani6040025
- Rydhmer, L.; Zamaratskaia, G.; Andersson, H.K.; Algers, B.; Guillemet, R.; Lundström, K. Aggressive and sexual behaviour of growing and finishing pigs reared in groups, without castration. Acta Agric. Scand. Sect. A—Anim. Sci. 2006, 56, 109–119, doi: 10.1080/09064700601079527
- Thompson, D.L. Immunization against GnRH in male species (comparative aspects). Anim. Reprod. Sci. 2000, 60, 459–469, doi: 10.1016/S0378-4320(00)00116-0
- Kress, K.; Millet, S.; Labussière, É.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Sustainability of pork production with immunocastration in Europe. Sustainability 2019, 11, 3335, doi: 10.3390/su11123335
- Reiter, S.; Zöls, S.; Ritzmann, M.; Stefanski, V.; Weiler, U. Penile Injuries in Immunocastrated and Entire Male Pigs of One Fattening Farm. Animals 2017, 7, 71, doi: 10.3390/ani7090071
- European Medicines Agency EPAR. Scientific Discussion. Available online: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientific-discussion/improvac-eparscientific-discussion_en.pdf (accessed on 22 April 2019).
- Zeng, X.Y.; Turkstra, J.A.; Meloen, R.H.; Liu, X.Y.; Chen, F.Q.; Schaaper, W.M.M.; (Ria) Oonk, H.B.; Guo, D.Z.; van de Wiel, D.F.M. Active immunization against gonadotrophin-releasing hormone in Chinese male pigs: Effects of dose on antibody titer, hormone levels and sexual development. Anim. Reprod. Sci. 2002, 70, 223–233, doi: 10.1016/S0378-4320(02)00014-3
- 17. Škrlep, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Prevolnik-Povše, M.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Teoretical and practical aspects of immunocastration. Stoč. Čas. Unapr. Stoč. **2014**, 68, 39–49.
- Škrlep, M.; Batorek, N.; Bonneau, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Šegula, B.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Elevated fat skatole levels in immunocastrated, surgically castrated and entire male pigs with acute dysentery. Vet. J. 2012, 194, 417–419, doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2012.04.013

- Stefanski, V.; Engler, H. Effects of acute and chronic social stress on blood cellular immunity in rats. Physiol. Behav. 1998, 64, 733–741, doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(98)00127-9
- 20. Dhabhar, F.S. Effects of stress on immune function: The good, the bad, and the beautiful. Immunol. Res. **2014**, 58, 193–210, doi: 10.1007/s12026-014-8517-0
- Fleshner, M.; Laudenslager, M.L.; Simons, L.; Maier, S.F. Reduced serum antibodies associated with social defeat in rats. Physiol. Behav. **1989**, 45, 1183–1187, doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(89)90107-8
- Kiecolt-Glaser, J.K.; Glaser, R.; Gravenstein, S.; Malarkey, W.B.; Sheridan, J. Chronic stress alters the immune response to influenza virus vaccine in older adults. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **1996**, 93, 3043–3047, doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.7.3043
- Gimsa, U.; Tuchscherer, M.; Kanitz, E. Psychosocial stress and immunity-what can we learn from pig studies? Front. Behav. Neurosci. 2018, 12, 64, doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00064
- Tuchscherer, M.; Puppe, B.; Tuchscherer, A.; Kanitz, E. Effects of social status after mixing on immune, metabolic, and endocrine responses in pigs. Physiol. Behav. 1998, 64, 353–360, doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(98)00084-5
- Coutellier, L.; Arnould, C.; Boissy, A.; Orgeur, P.; Prunier, A.; Veissier, I.; Meunier-Salaün, M.-C. Pig's responses to repeated social regrouping and relocation during the growing-finishing period. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 2007, 105, 102–114, doi: 10.1016/j.applanim.2006.05.007
- Schalk, C.; Pfaffinger, B.; Schmucker, S.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Effects of repeated social mixing on behavior and blood immune cells of group-housed pregnant sows (Sus scrofa domestica). Livest. Sci. 2018, 217, 148–156, doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2018.09.020
- Deguchi, E.; Akuzawa, M. Effects of fighting after grouping on plasma cortisol concentration and lymphocyte blastogenesis of peripheral blood mononuclear cells induced by mitogens in piglets. J. Vet. Med. Sci. **1998**, 60, 149–153, doi: 10.1292/jyms.60.149
- Millet, S.; Moons, C.P.; Oeckel, M.J.V.; Janssens, G.P. Welfare, performance and meat quality of fattening pigs in alternative housing and management systems: A review. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2005, 85, 709–719, doi: 10.1002/jsfa.2033

- de Groot, J.; de Jong, I.C.; Prelle, I.T.; Koolhaas, J.M. Immunity in barren and enriched housed pigs differing in baseline cortisol concentration. Physiol. Behav. 2000, 71, 217– 223, doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(00)00336-X
- Sutherland, M.A.; Niekamp, S.R.; Rodriguez-Zas, S.L.; Salak-Johnson, J.L. Impacts of chronic stress and social status on various physiological and performance measures in pigs of different breeds. J. Anim. Sci. 2006, 84, 588–596, doi: 10.2527/2006.843588x
- Hyun, Y.; Ellis, M.; Riskowski, G.; Johnson, R.W. Growth performance of pigs subjected to multiple concurrent environmental stressors. J. Anim. Sci. 1998, 76, 721– 727, doi: 10.2527/1998.763721x
- Leek, A.B.G.; Sweeney, B.T.; Duffy, P.; Beattie, V.E.; O'Doherty, J.V. The effect of stocking density and social regrouping stressors on growth performance, carcass characteristics, nutrient digestibility and physiological stress responses in pigs. Anim. Sci. 2004, 79, 109–119, doi: 10.1017/S1357729800054588
- 33. Kress, K.; Verhaagh, M. The economic impact of German pig carcass pricing systems and risk scenarios for boar taint on the profitability of pork production with immunocastrates and boars. Agriculture **2019**, 9, 204, doi: 10.3390/agriculture9090204
- Salacinski, P.R.P.; McLean, C.; Sykes, J.E.C.; Clement-Jones, V.V.; Lowry, P.J. Iodination of proteins, glycoproteins, and peptides using a solid-phase oxidizing agent, 1,3,4,6-tetrachloro-3α,6α-diphenyl glycoluril (Iodogen). Anal. Biochem. **1981**, 117, 136–146, doi: 10.1016/0003-2697(81)90703-X
- Engert, L.C.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V.; Schmucker, S.S. Glucocorticoid receptor number and affinity differ between peripheral blood mononuclear cells and granulocytes in domestic pigs. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 2017, 61, 11–16, doi: 10.1016/j.domaniend.2017.04.004
- Pauly, C.; Spring, P.; O'Doherty, J.V.; Ampuero Kragten, S.; Bee, G. Performances, meat quality and boar taint of castrates and entire male pigs fed a standard and a raw potato starch-enriched diet. Animal 2008, 2, 1707–1715, doi: 10.1017/S1751731108002826
- 37. Fazarinc, G. Anatomy of Reproductive Tract—Measurements and Sampling. In: "Harmonisation of Methods in Entire Male and Immunocastrate Research": Lectures of the Training School, Ljubljana. 20–22 November 2017. Available online: http://www.ca-

ipema.eu/applications/lite/ipema/files/documents/training_educ/Slides_TS_Ljubljana. pdf (accessed on 28 November 2019).

- Kozak, M.; Piepho, H.-P. What's normal anyway? Residual plots are more telling than significance tests when checking ANOVA assumptions. J. Agron. Crop. Sci. 2018, 204, 86–98, doi: 10.1111/jac.12220
- Bonneau, M.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Škrlep, M.; Font-i-Furnols, M.; Aluwé, M.; Network, T.C.; Fontanesi, L. Potential sensitivity of pork production situations aiming at high-quality products to the use of entire male pigs as an alternative to surgical castrates. Animal **2018**, 12, 1287–1295, doi: 10.1017/S1751731117003044
- Zamaratskaia, G.; Babol, J.; Madej, A.; Squires, E.J.; Lundström, K. Age-related variation of plasma concentrations of skatole, androstenone, testosterone, Oestradiol-17β, oestrone sulphate, dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate, triiodothyronine and IGF-1 in six entire male pigs. Reprod. Domest. Anim. 2004, 39, 168–172, doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0531.2004.00496.x
- Wesoly, R.; Jungbluth, I.; Stefanski, V.; Weiler, U. Pre-slaughter conditions influence skatole and androstenone in adipose tissue of boars. Meat Sci. 2015, 99, 60–67, doi: 10.1016/j.meatsci.2014.08.015
- Doran, E.; Whittington, F.W.; Wood, J.D.; McGivan, J.D. Cytochrome P450IIE1 (CYP2E1) is induced by skatole and this induction is blocked by androstenone in isolated pig hepatocytes. Chem. Biol. Interact. 2002, 140, 81–92, doi: 10.1016/S0009-2797(02)00015-7
- Zamaratskaia, G.; Gilmore, W.J.; Lundström, K.; Squires, E.J. Effect of testicular steroids on catalytic activities of cytochrome P450 enzymes in porcine liver microsomes. Food Chem. Toxicol. 2007, 45, 676–681, doi: 10.1016/j.fct.2006.10.023
- 44. Wiercinska, P.; Lou, Y.; Squires, E.J. The roles of different porcine cytochrome P450 enzymes and cytochrome b5A in skatole metabolism. Animal 2012, 6, 834–845, doi: 10.1017/S1751731111002175
- Kojima, M.; Degawa, M. Serum androgen level is determined by autosomal dominant inheritance and regulates sex-related CYP genes in pigs. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2013, 430, 833–838, doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.11.060
- 46. Batorek, N.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Bonneau, M.; Van Milgen, J. Meta-analysis of the effect of immunocastration on production performance, reproductive organs and boar
taint compounds in pigs. Animal **2012**, 6, 1330–1338, doi: 10.1017/s1751731112000146

- Nautrup, B.P.; Vlaenderen, I.V.; Aldaz, A.; Mah, C.K. The effect of immunization against gonadotropin-releasing factor on growth performance, carcass characteristics and boar taint relevant to pig producers and the pork packing industry: A metaanalysis—Science direct. Res. Vet. Sci. 2018, 119, 182–195, doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2018.06.002
- 48. Škrlep, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Tomažin, U.; Prevolnik Povše, M.; Škorjanc, D.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Inferior rearing conditions can lead to high skatole level in prepubertal entire male pigs. In Proceedings of the International Symposium on Animal Science, Belgrade, Serbia, 24–25 November 2016; pp. 334–338.
- Kubale, V.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Škrlep, M.; Prunier, A.; Bonneau, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Steroid hormones, boar taint compounds, and reproductive organs in pigs according to the delay between immunocastration and slaughter. Theriogenology 2013, 79, 69–80, doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2012.09.010
- Bonneau, M. Accessory sex glands as a tool to measure the efficacy of immunocastration in male pigs. Animal 2010, 4, 930–932, doi: 10.1017/S1751731110000091
- Gogić, M.; Radović, Č.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Petrović, M.; Radojković, D.; Parunović, N.; Savić, R. Effect of immunocastration on sex glands of male Mangulica (Swallowbellied Mangalitsa) pigs. Rev. Bras. Zootec. 2019, 48, doi: 10.1590/rbz4820180286
- Claus, R.; Weiler, U.; Wagner, H.G. Photoperiodic influences on reproduction of domestic boars. II. Light influences on semen characteristics and libido. Zent. Vet. A 1985, 32, 99–109, doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0442.1985.tb01921.x.
- 53. Čandek-Potokar, M.; Prevolnik, M.; Škrlep, M. Testes weight is not a reliable tool for discriminating immunocastrates from entire males. In Proceedings of the International Symposium on Animal Science, Belgrade, Serbia, 23–25 September 2014; pp. 43–49.
- de Jong, I.C.; Prelle, I.T.; van de Burgwal, J.A.; Lambooij, E.; Korte, S.M.; Blokhuis, H.J.; Koolhaas, J.M. Effects of environmental enrichment on behavioral responses to novelty, learning, and memory, and the circadian rhythm in cortisol in growing pigs. Physiol. Behav. 2000, 68, 571–578, doi: 10.1016/s0031-9384(99)00212-7

- Stefanski, V. Social stress in laboratory rats: Hormonal responses and immune cell distribution. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2000, 25, 389–406, doi: 10.1016/s0306-4530(99)00066-9
- 56. Wiesner, L.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Welfare of Entire Males, Immunocastrates and Surgical Castrated Pigs in Socially Unstable Groups. In Book of Abstracts of the 70th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science, 26–30 August 2019, Ghent, Belgium; Wageningen Academic Publishers: Wageningen, The Netherland, 2019; p. 713.
- 57. Ekkel, E.D.; van Doorn, C.E.; Hessing, M.J.; Tielen, M.J. The specific-stress-free housing system has positive effects on productivity, health, and welfare of pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 1995, 73, 1544–1551, doi: 10.2527/1995.7361544x
- 58. Pauly, C.; Spring, P.; O'Doherty, J.V.; Ampuero Kragten, S.; Bee, G. Growth performance, carcass characteristics and meat quality of group-penned surgically castrated, immunocastrated (Improvac[®]) and entire male pigs and individually penned entire male pigs. Animal **2009**, 3, 1057–1066, doi: 10.1017/S1751731109004418

© 2019 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

3 GENERAL DISCUSSION

Although in 2010 many European stakeholders voluntarily committed to completely end surgical castration of male piglets by 2018 [1], today 63% of the male pigs designated for pork production are surgically castrated, most of them without adequate pain relief as described in chapter 1 [2]. The efforts of the pork chain in the past years to change the production system is reflected by increasing numbers of boars used for pork production in Europe [2,3]. However, the main limiting factors for a further market expansion, the quality problems due to boar taint and animal welfare associated problems of raising boars have not been resolved yet and alternatives have not reached the public acceptance required [4]. Immunocastration is currently the alternative that combines the advantages of pork production with boars and with barrows to the highest degree, and has positive effects on animal welfare, growth performance, environment, product quality and economic profitability [5]. Although this technique has been assessed very positively from a scientific point of view, and although the global market share of immunocastrates has increased by 100% in the last 3 years [5], in absolute figures the proportion of immunocastrates within the European Union is still only 2.8% [2]. Knowledge gaps which lead to uncertainties within the pork chain and thus to a low market acceptance of immunocastration are the overall reliability of immunocastration and its economic viability, as described in chapter 1. One potential approach to the issue of non-responders was to examine whether social stress by mixing groups may lead to a higher risk of non-responders. Regarding profitability, the main concern was that pricing carcasses from immunocastrates like boars and introducing fines on the pork market for boar taint may decrease the competitiveness of pork production with boars and immunocastrates. The aim of this doctoral thesis was therefore to identify and to reduce the knowledge gaps that contribute to the current low market acceptance of immunocastration.

3.1 Key findings

One major knowledge gap is the reliability of immunocastration and the background of nonresponders after Improvac[®] vaccinations, as 0-3% non-responders are reported within the pork chain [6]. In the experiment further described in MANUSCRIPT III, we experimentally investigated to which extent housing conditions have an impact on the success of immunocastration in male pigs as it is well known that stress can impair the immune system

and thus lead to an insufficient immune response after vaccination [7-10]. In the present thesis, we tested the hypothesis that stressful housing conditions may contribute to an insufficient immune response after Improvac[®] vaccinations under field conditions [5]. The effect of stress by social instability was studied as a relevant stressor, as this can be frequently observed under field conditions. As a consequence, we investigated whether animals from more socially challenging housing conditions showed a poorer vaccination response than the control groups. The timing of the stressful mixing phases was placed around the respective vaccinations in order to cause a stress reaction during the time span when the full immune response develops. Antibody titers against GnRH, testosterone as a marker of testicular functions and weights of reproductive organs were chosen as key parameters to evaluate the immunization success. In this experiment, housing conditions had no influence on the antibody titers against GnRH or on the testosterone concentrations in immunocastrates even though growth performance was significantly impaired by the stressful housing conditions. We therefore concluded, that immunocastration works reliably even under more challenging housing conditions and repeated social mixing [11]. In other studies, testosterone and the weights of reproductive organs were used to determine the success of the vaccination based on the suppression of testicular functions [12–14]. These studies also revealed that the weights of the reproductive organs are significantly lower in immunocastrates than in boars [12,15,16], and that testosterone concentrations are at the same level as those of barrows [12-14]. The reliability of immunocastration, as tested in the experiment described in MANUSCRIPT III, can similarly be assumed for pigs housed under field conditions. Social instability of group compositions can also be found in commercial pork production, for example at the beginning of the fattening period or towards the end, when the groups are harmonized according to similar live weights [17]. However, in the experiment, which is described in MANUSCRIPT III, a higher number of mixing events (continuous social mixing with five mixing events in mixing phase 1 and eight mixing events in mixing phase 2) were carried out than would occur under field conditions (single events) to ensure that the experimental results are transferable to field conditions. The experimental organic housing conditions were similar to those used in common organic pig farms. The animals had access to an outdoor area and were exposed to the same environmental stressors (sun, ecto- and endoparasites) [18]. The fact that immunocastration can also be used in organic pork production, as it reliably avoids boar taint and produces good meat quality, has already been shown by a comprehensive study with organic pigs by Grela et al. [19]. We therefore assume, that the reliability of immunocastration is also robust under field conditions. Thus, the reasons for up to 3% of non-responders under field conditions are more likely caused by incorrect handling (missed vaccinations, wrong storage of vaccine) during vaccinations [5,6] or a suppressed immune system at the time of vaccinations (e.g. diseases) [20] than by housing conditions.

Until the second vaccination, testosterone concentrations of immunocastrates were similar to those of boars. After the second vaccination, a drop of testosterone concentrations to the level of barrows could be observed until slaughter [11]. Successfully immunocastrated boars were defined as animals that had testosterone concentrations at slaughter below 0.5 ng/ml plasma. All immunocastrates revealed similarly low concentrations in this experiment [11]. The limit of <0.5 ng/ml plasma was chosen according to a previous study by Claus et al. [13] and reflects the fact that barrows have similar low testosterone concentrations [21–26], while boars at an age of 6 months have approx. 3-5 ng/ml plasma [24,27,28] - a concentration that is about 10 times higher than in barrows. Since testosterone is not only synthesized by the testes but also to a small extent in the adrenal glands, barrows still show low testosterone concentrations during the fattening period [29]. A significant increase in testosterone concentrations at slaughter was found in all male pigs, with the highest increase being found in boars. However, testosterone concentrations in immunocastrates and barrows were still below 0.5 ng/ml plasma, revealing successfully suppressed testicular functions in immunocastrates. The considerably elevated testosterone concentrations in boars at slaughter can be explained by stress caused by transportation and in the lairage after unloading. A study by Wesoly et al. [30] showed that a prolonged transport time increases testosterone concentrations by 2.2 ng/ml plasma per hour. Similarly, Escribano et al. [31] also showed that the transport to the slaughter house served as a stressor for the pigs and led to an increase in both testosterone and cortisol levels. The authors concluded from these results that in boars, blood testosterone concentrations can also be used as an additional marker for acute stress.

The weight of the reproductive organs served as a further parameter for validating the success of the vaccination, as growth, development and secretory activity of accessory glands depend on testicular hormones [32]. All reproductive organs of immunocastrates weighed significantly less than those of boars, which serves as further evidence for a successful immunocastration [11]. Evidence for similar effects on accessory glands and on the development of the genital tract has been obtained in previous studies [12,15,16].

As boar taint is the main critical factor for the market acceptance of pork from boars [4], the reliable suppression of androstenone and skatole accumulation is crucial for the acceptability and application of immunocastration. In our experiment, both, immunocastrates and barrows revealed significantly lower concentrations of the two boar taint compounds androstenone (only analyzed in immunocastrates) and skatole. These concentrations remained below the critical threshold of 1 μ g/g fat for androstenone and 0.25 μ g/g fat for skatole defined above for adverse consumer reactions [33,34]. In contrast to immunocastrates, 80% of the boars in our study exceeded androstenone concentrations of 1 µg/g fat. In this experiment, immunocastration thus proved to be as effective as surgical castration in preventing boar taint and supports the conclusions of meta-analyses that immunocastration is an effective tool in the prevention of boar taint [35,36]. The considerable high androstenone concentration of boars in our experiment further illustrates how robustly immunocastration avoids boar taint even in genotypes with high potential for androstenone synthesis. In an international study with different genotypes from 6 European countries at the usual slaughter weights, about 29% of boars had androstenone concentrations above this threshold. This study, however, also found that androstenone levels varied considerably between the countries, which was mainly explained by different genotypes and ages at slaughter [37]. Bonneau also describes in his review that a range of 10-75% of boars exhibit boar taint [38].

Not only product quality, but also growth performance must be competitive to make pork production with immunocastration attractive for farmers [39]. In our study, no differences in growth performance among different sex groups could be observed in feeding period one and two (both before the second vaccination). In the last feeding period (after the second vaccination), however, immunocastrates showed a higher average daily gain than boars and barrows [11]. This higher growth performance had already been shown by other studies [35,36] and is mainly related to a higher feed intake after the second vaccination [40], which could also be observed in our trial.

Cortisol levels in blood were measured as one parameter for stress in order to evaluate the impact of housing conditions and different sex groups on its concentration. As the blood collection of all pigs took no longer than 63 seconds, cortisol concentrations in the present study should not be influenced by blood sampling itself, as already described in other studies [31,41,42]. A blood sample was taken by no earlier than one day after a mixing event occurred. During the entire fattening period, no influence of housing conditions on cortisol concentrations could be detected. Possible effects of mixing on cortisol levels might have been masked in the present study by the timing of the sampling, as the first blood sample

after each individual mixing event was collected after one day. Changes in cortisol might have been obvious if blood would had been collected shortly after a mixing event as cortisol levels might have returned to normal concentrations after one day [43]. Therefore, our data suggest that it might not be sufficient to analyze stress by measuring cortisol concentrations. For this reason, a continuous monitoring of other parameters, such as behavioral observations and growth performance, should also be taken into account when evaluating stress [44]. At slaughter, all sex groups revealed significantly higher cortisol concentrations than during the fattening period. In addition, sex differences became obvious in these samples as boars had higher cortisol concentrations at slaughter than immunocastrates and barrows. A similar difference between sex groups was not obvious in samples obtained during the fattening period [11]. The increase of cortisol concentrations in the animals at slaughter was to be expected as it reflects the increased stress response to transportation and slaughter and coincides with the increased testosterone concentrations described above. The differences in the magnitude of the reaction further suggests, that boars seem to react with higher testicular activity to new environmental stimuli and stressors. This could also lead to more agonistic behavior of boars in the lairage, which was already described by Wesoly et al. [30]. pCBG could also be measured in plasma to determine the proportion of free cortisol in plasma, as in addition to plasma cortisol, pCBG also reacts to acute stressors and can therefore influence the biologically active cortisol [45].

In contrast to the short term changes of endocrine parameters, our data suggest from growth performance data and behavioral observations that stress was applied by mixing in our experiment. The growth performance of the mixed animals was lower, especially in the second half of the fattening period (after the first and second mixing phase) than of the animals from the enriched group as described in MANUSCRIPT III. The effects of stress on reduced growth performance have already been shown in several studies [46–48]. Similar to differences in growth performance, the animals in the mixing group displayed significantly more severe agonistic behavior than animals in the enriched group [49]. Other studies already showed that stress negatively influences behavior in pigs and stimulates agonistic behavior [50,51].

Another decisive aspect for the pork chain and especially for pig producers besides the reliability of immunocastration is whether the technique is profitable or whether applying it may lead to higher costs and lower profit margins [5]. The alternatives to surgical castration of male piglets without pain relief are very sensitive to changes in the production system with regard to its profitability [52,53]. Whether or not a technique is accepted on the market

depends primarily on its economic feasibility or on legal regulation [39]. In comparison to barrows, immunocastrates remain intact until slaughter, but must be vaccinated twice during the fattening period [5]. Thus the costs related to castration are saved (i.e. fewer personnel costs [53] and fewer piglet losses [54]), but different personnel costs for vaccinating the animals and costs for the vaccine apply [55]. Additional costs for pork production with immunocastrates can also result at the slaughterhouse or later during processing. As slaughterhouses have to identify boar-tainted carcasses, they may check all uncastrated male pigs (boars as well as immunocastrates) via human nose test for boar taint [56]. Furthermore, tainted carcasses are allocated to less valuable sales channels or even completely removed for further processing [57]. When conducting an economic evaluation of immunocastration, meat quality should also be taken into account as it determines potential sales channels and opportunities. Depending on the timing of the second vaccination, meat quality of immunocastrates is either more comparable to boars (late second vaccination) or more comparable to barrows (early second vaccination) [5]. A meta-study by Batorek et al. [35] showed that pork quality of immunocastrates resembles that of barrows due to similar values in lean meat content, intramuscular fat content and fatty acid composition. If the second vaccination is only applied four weeks before slaughter, however, the meat from immunocastrates is not suitable for the production of traditional dry-cured ham products, as it shares certain pork quality characteristics of boars (high lean meat content, more unsaturated fatty acids) [58].

However, immunocastration can also realize a higher growth performance and a more efficient feed conversion [35,36], thus lowering feeding costs during the fattening period compared to barrows [53,55]. In our study presented in MANUSCRIPT II, we set the performance data of male pigs (from the experiment described in MANUSCRIPT III) in relation to an economic dataset from agri benchmark and analyzed the profitability according to various carcass pricing systems and risk scenarios for boar taint. The study therefore simulated different market conditions and tested the economic sensitivity of pork production with boars and immunocastrates. The results showed that pork production with immunocastration was almost as profitable as with surgical castration (performed without adequate pain relief) as long as carcasses from immunocastrates are priced as barrows and all carcasses are free of boar taint. For 3 out of 5 farms, pork production with immunocastration was the most profitable alternative under current market conditions (no fines for boar taint, immunocastrates priced on standard pricing system). These results

show that if the pork market accepts immunocastration and farmers optimizes the production of immunocastrates in terms of growth performance and feed conversion, immunocastration can be competitive with the traditional surgical castration.

The extent to which immunocastration is profitable depends in particular on the timing of the second vaccination. Due to the higher feed intake of immunocastrates after the second vaccination (even higher than in barrows) [40], the growth performance of immunocastrates after the second vaccination is higher than in boars and barrows [35,36]. Consequently, immunocastrates are reaching their final slaughter weights earlier than boars, thus reducing the duration of the fattening period. The duration of the fattening period is a decisive factor in the profitability of a production system, as it determines how many animals can be produced within a certain time [57]. Nevertheless, the consequences of a late second vaccination must also be mentioned. On the one hand, a more efficient feed conversion ratio can result in economic advantages [53], but animal welfare may be impaired as immunocastrates display more boar-specific agonistic behavior over a longer time period [59]. Moreover, a late second vaccination has negative effects on pork quality. Both are critical for consumer acceptance, since consumers demand both high standards of animal welfare and a high pork quality [39].

As the key objective in the experiment (MANUSCRIPT III) the data was derived from, was to test the reliability of immunocastration under different housing conditions and not to optimize growth performance of male pigs, immunocastrates were economically undervalued as the performance data was set in relation to the process limits of the data set of agri benchmark. The last period after the second vaccination, which is crucial for the economic profitability, was therefore underrepresented in this study und would lead to a higher economic output if the study design would be adjusted. This conclusion supports an earlier second vaccination time than applied in this experiment, which would also have a positive impact on animal welfare and product quality [5]. As described in MANUSCRIPT III, immunocastration is very reliable when used correctly and prevents boar taint. But even with an assumed proportion of 3% non-responders [6], only 0.9% of the animals would probably be affected by boar taint [5]. Therefore, boar taint detection for each individual immunocastrate is neither economical nor necessary, but rather a corporate risk decision of each slaughterhouse [57].

3.2 Implications for the practical use of immunocastration

The results of this doctoral thesis show that immunocastration works reliably under different housing conditions and therefore is a possible alternative to surgical castration and pork production with boars for all production systems. The main problem with boar fattening so far is the occurrence of boar taint [4]. This can be reliably suppressed by immunocastration and a product quality similar to that of barrows can be achieved, if the timing of the second vaccination is scheduled accordingly [5,58]. Depending on the timing of the second vaccination, immunocastration also has the potential to be competitive in terms of growth performance [5]. Lower testosterone concentrations of immunocastrates and barrows could also lead to less agonistic reactions to new environmental stimuli during transport to the slaughterhouse and in the lairage. This not only has a positive impact on animal welfare, but also on pork quality [60].

The economic viability of immunocastration depends primarily on the extent to which immunocastrates are accepted on the market, both by consumers and by pricing [55] or by legal regulation. Various consumer studies show that immunocastration can indeed be accepted by consumers if there is targeted communication within the pork chain [39,61]. The advantages and disadvantages associated with the timing of the second vaccination in particular have to be openly communicated and discussed, so that production can be targeted to product quality, animal welfare and market requirements [5].

The price at which carcasses of immnocastrates are sold is also crucial for the acceptance of this technique, especially among farmers [39]. As immunocastration works reliably, routine boar taint detection at the slaughter line is not necessary [57]. If immunocastration is further accepted in international sales channels, there is no reason why immunocastrates should be priced inferior to barrows or gilts, as from a product quality perspective the technique has the potential to produce the same quality as barrows, if the second vaccination is applied accordingly [5,58]. Instead, the market has to develop alternative systems to detect non-responders before slaughter. On the farms, a reliable visual check of testes size and behavioral observations should be carried out and at the slaughterhouse, whether all immunocastrates have been successfully immunized against GnRH (testes size, behavior, boar taint detection). Immunocastration provides the industry with a technique that produces good pork quality, has a lower environmental impact, has positive effects on animal welfare and is also economically feasible without receiving governmental subsidies and therefore a sustainable alternative to surgical castration und pork production with boars [5,11,57].

Even when employing immunocastration, the technique's advantages and disadvantages must be balanced depending on the respective market requirements. Advantages deriving from the timing of the second vaccination (as described in MANUSCRIPT I) result in disadvantages in other areas. For this reason, immunocastration is always a compromise between advantages and disadvantages of either pork production with boars or barrows [5].

3.3 Suggestions for future research

In the study described in MANUSCRIPT II, we observed that immunocastration works reliably if it is carried out correctly. Nonetheless, other studies describe a proportion of 0-3% non-responders after two Improvac[®] vaccinations. In order to obtain further information about the phenomenon of non-responders, data from slaughterhouses and farms must be collected. As described in MANUSCRIPT I, wrong handling or missed vaccinations can also lead to boar-tainted carcasses in immunocastrates. Reliable vaccination protocols and assurance systems that minimize the risk for non-responders must therefore be developed.

It can also be derived from MANUSCRIPT II and MANUSCRIPT III that a routine boar taint detection of all immunocastrates is neither economical nor necessary. Nevertheless, quality assurance systems must be developed that identify non-responders or incorrectly vaccinated animals before slaughter. A potential two-stage system could be developed. A first step would be an effective vaccination control on the farms, the second step, an appropriate detection control of non-responders at the slaughterhouse. Parameters such as behavior (less agonistic behavior) and testes size/weight can be used in order to detect non-responders or incorrectly vaccinated pigs. In critical cases, boar taint detection at the slaughter line could then be performed. Taking these aspects into account, a reliable system can be developed and implemented that is more cost-effective than the routine boar taint detection of all immunocastrates.

In order to estimate more precisely the economic viability of immunocastration, a consistent performance study should be undertaken with data from animals of different sexes (boars, immunocastrates, barrows and gilts) from the same fattening period/farm (growth performance and feed conversion) until slaughter (dressing percentage and carcass characteristics). On this basis, a consistent relation between revenue at slaughter and costs during the fattening period can be connected for each individual. In a next step, the optimal slaughter weight and time for each sex can then be determined based on sex-specific growth performance, slaughter weight and carcass characteristics, in order to optimize the processes

accordingly. In this context, the effects of a possible third Improvac[®] vaccination and higher requirements for animal welfare and product quality can also be analyzed economically.

As the economic performance of alternatives to surgical castration without pain-relief also depends on trade and other factors, it would be necessary to carry out elasticity studies to explain the effects of a change in the production system (e.g. surgical castration vs intact male piglets) on the entire pork chain. A potential scenario, for example, is that when male piglets are intact, the production costs of piglet production decrease and thus the prices of piglets decrease as well. However, it is also possible that a limited market of intact male piglets will even further lower their prices. A simulation analysis along the entire pork chain is therefore necessary in order to estimate the overall economic consequences when changing the production systems.

3.4 Conclusion

The end of surgical piglet castration without pain relief or to completely end with surgical castration can be a sustainable chance for the European pork chain. If immunocastration is used correctly, consumer protection is as efficient as with surgical castration. It is competitive for producers, ensures improved animal welfare because animals remain intact and the aggression potential of boars is minimized, and it can also have advantages by making use of the feed conversion of boars, which leads to a lower environmental impact than pork production with barrows. Nevertheless, a high market acceptance along the pork chain must be ensured, so that there is no need for the implementation of government subsidies, as immunocastration can be economically viable on its own. However, immunocastration would considerably benefit from government incentives to implement an information system where practical experiences are exchanged and uncertainties regarding immunocastration within the market are eliminated.

3.5 References

- European Declaration on alternatives to surgical castration of pigs. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/animals/docs/aw_prac_farm_pigs_castalt_declaration_en.pdf (accessed on Mar 31, 2019).
- Backus, G.; Higuera, M.; Juul, N.; Nalon, E.; de Briyne, N. Second progress report 2015
 2017 on the European declaration on alternatives to surgical castration of pigs. Available online: https://www.boarsontheway.com/wp-

content/uploads/2018/08/Second-progress-report-2015-2017-final-1.pdf (accessed on Apr 26, 2019).

- 3. Backus, G.; Støier, S.; Courat, M.; Bonneau, M.; Higuera, M. First progress report from the European declaration on alternatives to surgical castration of pigs (16/12/2010). Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/animals/docs/aw_prac_farm_pigs_castalt_declaration_progress-report_20141028.pdf (accessed on Apr 26, 2019).
- Bonneau, M.; Weiler, U. Pros and Cons of Alternatives to Piglet Castration: Welfare, Boar Taint, and Other Meat Quality Traits. *Animals* 2019, 9, 884.
- Kress, K.; Millet, S.; Labussière, É.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Sustainability of Pork Production with Immunocastration in Europe. *Sustainability* 2019, 11, 3335.
- Čandek-Potokar, M.; Škrlep, M.; Zamaratskaia, G. Immunocastration as Alternative to Surgical Castration in Pigs. *Theriogenology* 2017, Intech, 109–126.
- 7. Stefanski, V.; Engler, H. Effects of acute and chronic social stress on blood cellular immunity in rats. *Physiology & Behavior* **1998**, 64, 733–741.
- 8. Dhabhar, F.S. Effects of stress on immune function: the good, the bad, and the beautiful. *Immunoogicl Research* **2014**, 58, 193–210.
- 9. Fleshner, M.; Laudenslager, M.L.; Simons, L.; Maier, S.F. Reduced serum antibodies associated with social defeat in rats. *Physiology & Behavior* **1989**, 45, 1183–1187.
- Kiecolt-Glaser, J.K.; Glaser, R.; Gravenstein, S.; Malarkey, W.B.; Sheridan, J. Chronic stress alters the immune response to influenza virus vaccine in older adults. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1996, 93, 3043– 3047.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Schmucker, S.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Vrecl, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Škrlep, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Stefanski, V. Influence of Housing Conditions on Reliability of Immunocastration and Consequences for Growth Performance of Male Pigs. *Animals* 2020, 10, 27.
- Kubale, V.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Škrlep, M.; Prunier, A.; Bonneau, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Steroid hormones, boar taint compounds, and reproductive organs in pigs according to the delay between immunocastration and slaughter. *Theriogenology* 2013, 79, 69–80.

- Claus, R.; Rottner, S.; Rueckert, C. Individual return to Leydig cell function after GnRH-immunization of boars. *Vaccine* 2008, 26, 4571–4578.
- Claus, R.; Lacorn, M.; Danowski, K.; Pearce, M.C.; Bauer, A. Short-term endocrine and metabolic reactions before and after second immunization against GnRH in boars. *Vaccine* 2007, 25, 4689–4696.
- Gogić, M.; Radović, Č.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Petrović, M.; Radojković, D.; Parunović, N.; Savić, R.; Gogić, M.; Radović, Č.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; et al. Effect of immunocastration on sex glands of male Mangulica (Swallow-bellied Mangalitsa) pigs. *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia* 2019, 48.
- 16. Bonneau, M. Accessory sex glands as a tool to measure the efficacy of immunocastration in male pigs. *Animal* **2010**, 4, 930–932.
- Tuchscherer, M.; Puppe, B.; Tuchscherer, A.; Kanitz, E. Effects of social status after mixing on immune, metabolic, and endocrine responses in pigs. *Physiology & Behavior* 1998, 64, 353–360.
- Millet, S.; Moons, C.P.; Oeckel, M.J.V.; Janssens, G.P. Welfare, performance and meat quality of fattening pigs in alternative housing and management systems: a review. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 2005, 85, 709–719.
- Grela, E.R.; Kowalczuk-Vasilev, E.; Klebaniuk, R. Performance, pork quality and fatty acid composition of entire males, surgically castrated or immunocastrated males, and female pigs reared under organic system. *Polish Journal of Veterinary Sciences* 2013, 16, 107–114.
- Zeng, X.Y.; Turkstra, J.A.; Meloen, R.H.; Liu, X.Y.; Chen, F.Q.; Schaaper, W.M.M.; (Ria) Oonk, H.B.; Guo, D.Z.; van de Wiel, D.F.M. Active immunization against gonadotrophin-releasing hormone in Chinese male pigs: effects of dose on antibody titer, hormone levels and sexual development. *Animal Reproduction Science* 2002, 70, 223–233.
- Schanbacher, B.D.; Yen, J.T.; Pond, W.G. Testosterone and the incidence of boar taint: Effects of testosterone or testosterone propionate on the incidence of boar taint in implanted barrows. *Meat Science* 1985, 13, 237–245.
- 22. Albrecht, A.-K.; grosse Beilage, E.; Kanitz, E.; Puppe, B.; Traulsen, I.; Krieter, J. Influence of immunisation against GnRF on agonistic and mounting behaviour, serum

testosterone concentration and body weight in male pigs compared with boars and barrows. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **2012**, 138, 28–35.

- McElwain, K.V.; Estienne, M.J.; Barb, C.R. Effect of testosterone on n-methyl-d, l-aspartate-induced growth hormone secretion in male swine. *Life Sciences* 2000, 68, 13–18.
- Metz, C.; Hohl, K.; Waidelich, S.; Drochner, W.; Claus, R. Active immunization of boars against GnRH at an early age: consequences for testicular function, boar taint accumulation and N-retention. *Livestock Production Science* 2002, 74, 147–157.
- 25. Dunshea, F.R.; Colantoni, C.; Howard, K.; McCauley, I.; Jackson, P.; Long, K.A.; Lopaticki, S.; Nugent, E.A.; Simons, J.A.; Walker, J.; et al. Vaccination of boars with a GnRH vaccine (Improvac) eliminates boar taint and increases growth performance. *Journal of Animal Science* 2001, 79, 2524–2535.
- 26. Morgan, L.; Itin-Shwartz, B.; Koren, L.; Meyer, J.S.; Matas, D.; Younis, A.; Novak, S.; Weizmann, N.; Rapaic, O.; Ahmad, W.A.; et al. Physiological and economic benefits of abandoning invasive surgical procedures and enhancing animal welfare in swine production. *Nature Scientific Reports* 2019, 9, 1–14.
- Clapper, J.A.; Clark, T.M.; Rempel, L.A. Serum concentrations of IGF-I, estradiol-17beta, testosterone, and relative amounts of IGF binding proteins (IGFBP) in growing boars, barrows, and gilts. *Journal of Animal Science* 2000, 78, 2581–2588.
- Zamaratskaia, G.; Babol, J.; Madej, A.; Squires, E.J.; Lundström, K. Age-related Variation of Plasma Concentrations of Skatole, Androstenone, Testosterone, Oestradiol-17β, Oestrone Sulphate, Dehydroepiandrosterone Sulphate, Triiodothyronine and IGF-1 in Six Entire Male Pigs. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals* 2004, 39, 168–172.
- 29. Juniewicz, P.E.; Johnson, B.H. Influence of Adrenal Steroids upon Testosterone Secretion by the Boar Testis. *Biology of Reproduction* **1981**, 25, 725–733.
- 30. Wesoly, R.; Jungbluth, I.; Stefanski, V.; Weiler, U. Pre-slaughter conditions influence skatole and androstenone in adipose tissue of boars. *Meat Science* **2015**, 99, 60–67.
- Escribano, D.; Fuentes-Rubio, M.; Cerón, J.J. Salivary testosterone measurements in growing pigs: validation of an automated chemiluminescent immunoassay and its possible use as an acute stress marker. *Research in Veterinary Science* 2014, 97, 20–25.

- Joshi, H.S.; Raeside, J.I. Synergistic effects of testosterone and oestrogens on accessory sex glands and sexual behaviour of the boar. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility* 1973, 33, 411–423.
- 33. Font i Furnols, M.; Gispert, M.; Diestre, A.; Oliver, M.A. Acceptability of boar meat by consumers depending on their age, gender, culinary habits, and sensitivity and appreciation of androstenone odour. *Meat Science* 2003, 64, 433–440.
- Weiler, U.; Fischer, K.; Kemmer, H.; Dobrowolski, A.; Claus, R. Influence of androstenone sensitivity on consumer reactions to boar meat. In: "Boar taint in entire male pigs" M. Bonneau, K. Lundström, B. Malmfors (eds.), *EAAP Publication* 1998, 92, 147–151.
- Batorek, N.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Bonneau, M.; Van Milgen, J. Meta-analysis of the effect of immunocastration on production performance, reproductive organs and boar taint compounds in pigs. *Animal* 2012, 6, 1330–1338.
- Nautrup, B.P.; Vlaenderen, I.V.; Aldaz, A.; Mah, C.K. The effect of immunization against gonadotropin-releasing factor on growth performance, carcass characteristics and boar taint relevant to pig producers and the pork packing industry: A meta-analysis ScienceDirect. *Research in Veterinary Science* 2018, 119, 182–195.
- Walstra, P.; Claudi-Magnussen, C.; Chevillon, P.; von Seth, G.; Diestre, A.; Matthews, K.R.; Homer, D.B.; Bonneau, M. An international study on the importance of androstenone and skatole for boar taint: levels of androstenone and skatole by country and season. *Livestock Production Science* 1999, 62, 15–28.
- Bonneau, M. Use of entire males for pig meat in the European Union. *Meat Science* 1998, 49, 257–272.
- Mancini, M.C.; Menozzi, D.; Arfini, F. Immunocastration: Economic implications for the pork supply chain and consumer perception. An assessment of existing research. *Livestock Science* 2017, 203, 10–20.
- 40. Weiler, U.; Götz, M.; Schmidt, A.; Otto, M.; Müller, S. Influence of sex and immunocastration on feed intake behavior, skatole and indole concentrations in adipose tissue of pigs. *Animal* **2013**, 7, 300–308.
- Baldi, A.; Verga, M.; Maffii, M.; Canali, E.; Chiaraviglio, D.; Ferrari, C. Effects of blood sampling procedures, grouping and adrenal stimulation on stress responses in the growing pig. *Reproduction, Nutrition, Developpement* **1989**, 29, 95–103.

- Mormède, P.; Andanson, S.; Aupérin, B.; Beerda, B.; Guémené, D.; Malmkvist, J.; Manteca, X.; Manteuffel, G.; Prunet, P.; van Reenen, C.G. Exploration of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal function as a tool to evaluate animal welfare. *Physiology* & *Behavior* 2007, 92, 317–339.
- Mormede, P.; Dantzer, R. Behavioural and pituitary-adrenal characteristics of pigs differing by their susceptibility to the malignant hyperthermia syndrome induced by halothane anesthesia. 2. Pituitary-adrenal function. *Annals of Veterinary Research* 1978, 9, 569–576.
- 44. Jensen, K.H.; Pedersen, L.J.; Nielsen, E.K.; Heller, K.E.; Ladewig, J.; Jørgensen, E. Intermittent stress in pigs: effects on behavior, pituitary-adrenocortical axis, growth, and gastric ulceration. *Physiology & Behavior* **1996**, 59, 741–748.
- 45. Adcock, R.J.; Kattesh, H.G.; Roberts, M.P.; Carroll, J.A.; Saxton, A.M.; Kojima, C.J. Temporal relationships between plasma cortisol, corticosteroid-binding globulin (CBG), and the free cortisol index (FCI) in pigs in response to adrenal stimulation or suppression. *Stress* 2007, 10, 305–310.
- 46. Sutherland, M.A.; Niekamp, S.R.; Rodriguez-Zas, S.L.; Salak-Johnson, J.L. Impacts of chronic stress and social status on various physiological and performance measures in pigs of different breeds. *Journal of Animal Science* 2006, 84, 588–596.
- Hyun, Y.; Ellis, M.; Riskowski, G.; Johnson, R.W. Growth performance of pigs subjected to multiple concurrent environmental stressors. *Journal of Animal Science* 1998, 76, 721–727.
- Leek, A.B.G.; Sweeney, B.T.; Duffy, P.; Beattie, V.E.; O'Doherty, J.V. The effect of stocking density and social regrouping stressors on growth performance, carcass characteristics, nutrient digestibility and physiological stress responses in pigs. *Animal Science* 2004, 79, 109–119.
- 49. Wiesner, L.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Welfare of entire males, immunocastrates and surgical castrated pigs in socially unstable groups. In Proceedings of the Book of Abstracts of the 70th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science; *Wageningen Academic Publishers* **2019**; p. 713.
- Schalk, C.; Pfaffinger, B.; Schmucker, S.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Effects of repeated social mixing on behavior and blood immune cells of group-housed pregnant sows (Sus scrofa domestica). *Livestock Science* 2018, 217, 148–156.

- Coutellier, L.; Arnould, C.; Boissy, A.; Orgeur, P.; Prunier, A.; Veissier, I.; Meunier-Salaün, M.-C. Pig's responses to repeated social regrouping and relocation during the growing-finishing period. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 2007, 105, 102–114.
- 52. Verhaagh, M.; Deblitz, C. Betriebswirtschaftliche Auswirkungen von Alternativen zur betäubungslosen Kastration in Deutschland. *Thünen Working Paper* **2016**, 64, 56.
- 53. Verhaagh, M.; Deblitz, C. Wirtschaftlichkeit der Alternativen zur betäubungslosen Ferkelkastration – Aktualisierung und Erweiterung der betriebswirtschaftlichen Berechnungen. *Thünen Working Paper* 2019, 110, 56.
- Morales, J.; Dereu, A.; Manso, A.; de Frutos, L.; Piñeiro, C.; Manzanilla, E.G.; Wuyts, N. Surgical castration with pain relief affects the health and productive performance of pigs in the suckling period. *Porcine Health Management* 2017, 3, 18.
- de Roest, K.; Montanari, C.; Fowler, T.; Baltussen, W. Resource efficiency and economic implications of alternatives to surgical castration without anaesthesia. *Animal* 2009, 3, 1522–1531.
- 56. European Commission. Establishing best practices on the production, the processing and the marketing of meat from uncastrated pigs or pigs vaccinated against boar taint (immunocastrated). Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/food/sites/food/files/animals/docs/aw_prac_farm_pigs_cast-alt_establishing-best-practices.pdf (accessed on 5 August 2019).
- 57. Kress, K.; Verhaagh, M. The Economic Impact of German Pig Carcass Pricing Systems and Risk Scenarios for Boar Taint on the Profitability of Pork Production with Immunocastrates and Boars. *Agriculture* **2019**, 9, 204.
- Čandek-Potokar, M.; Škrlep, M.; Kostyra, E.; Żakowska-Biemans, S.; Poklukar, K.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Quality of Dry-Cured Ham from Entire, Surgically and Immunocastrated Males: Case Study on Kraški Pršut. *Animals* 2020, 10, 239.
- 59. Rydhmer, L.; Lundström, K.; Andersson, K. Immunocastration reduces aggressive and sexual behaviour in male pigs. *Animal* **2010**, 4, 965–972.
- Lundström, K.; Matthews, K.R.; Haugen, J.-E. Pig meat quality from entire males. Animal 2009, 3, 1497–1507.

 Mörlein, D.; Schübeler, A.S. This is how the dialogue with the customers succeeds: Vaccination against boar taint - How can the procedure be best communicated? *Fleischwirtschaft* 2017, 36–40.

4 SUMMARY

In Europe, male piglets have been surgically castrated for centuries in order to avoid boartainted carcasses and to eliminate boar-specific aggressive and sexual behavior. Surgical castration of male piglets is still legal within the European Union during the first week of life, even without anaesthesia or analgesia. These circumstances have led to increasing societal criticism, as the castration is painful and violates the physical integrity of the animals. In 2010, European stakeholders of the pork chain committed themselves voluntarily to ending surgical castration from 2018 onwards, but at present, more than 2 years later, the majority of male piglets are still castrated surgically without adequate pain relief. Immunocastration is one alternative to surgical castration or pork production with boars. Although this technique is approved for commercial use in Europe since 2009, the market shares of immunocastrates within the European pork market are very low. The main reasons for this low market acceptance are uncertainties whether immunocastration is reliable, competitive and accepted along the pork chain. The main objective of the present doctoral thesis was therefore to investigate the advantages and disadvantages of immunocastration with regard to the three pillars of sustainability aspects. The various sustainability aspects of immunocastration were summarized and reviewed (as part of the present thesis). In addition, the effects of different housing conditions on the reliability of immunocastration were experimentally tested, as was the impact of housing conditions and sex group on the growth performance of male pigs. Finally, the consequences of pork production with immunocastrates and boars on the profitability of German pig production were analyzed with a simulation model using different carcass pricing systems for immunocastrates and risk scenarios for boar taint. The results are described in three peer-reviewed scientific papers and the main results are summarized below.

Immunocastration is an active immunization against GnRH and consists of two consecutive vaccinations to induce antibodies which temporarily suppress testicular functions and prevent boar taint. It is a method which ensures both a high product quality and a high level of animal welfare. The impact of immunocastration on the three pillars of sustainability has been studied extensively, although a contemporary global overview of its different aspects has been missing. Performance results in immunocastrates are better than in barrows, but worse than in boars. The environmental impact of pork production with immunocastrates is lower than with barrows, but higher than with boars. The level of aggression is considerably

lower in immunocastrates compared to boars. Societal concerns are mainly related to food safety, and are not supported by scientific evidence. After the second vaccination, immunocastrates switch physiologically from a boar-like to a barrow-like status. Therefore, the timing of the second vaccination is a fine-tuning tool to balance advantages of boars with their environmental and economic benefits against the increased risk of welfare problems and boar taint. Nevertheless, both the synergic and the conflicting relationships between the pillars of sustainability must be communicated along the value chain to produce tailored pork products.

The literature analysis revealed that one significant aspect that might lead to a low market acceptance is the reliability of immunocastration. Various studies and experiences of slaughterhouses described the phenomenon of non-responders, immunocastrates which, despite being twice vaccinated with Improvac[®], revealed boar taint. The reasons leading to non-responders were unclear, but might be related to management failure (e.g. inappropriate application of the vaccine) or poor antibody response because of stress. Social stress due to unstable group compositions occurs regularly under field conditions, and scientific studies have shown that social stress can impair the immune system. For this reason, we investigated in an experimental study whether different housing conditions, and especially socially unstable group compositions, might lead to non-responders at the time of vaccination. Therefore, the influence of housing conditions on the immune response after two Improvac[®] vaccinations at an age of 12 and 22 weeks was evaluated. Boars, immunocastrates and barrows (n=48 each) were assigned to three different housing conditions (n=36 enriched, n=36 standard n=72 repeated social mixing). Immune response was quantified by measuring GnRH-binding and its consequences for testosterone concentrations, weight of reproductive organs and boar taint. Growth performance was evaluated via average daily gain (ADG). GnRH-binding and testosterone levels revealed that immunocastration reliably suppressed testicular functions after the 2nd vaccination. Housing conditions did not modify testicular functions, but influenced ADG as animals exposed to mixing grew more slowly than those under enriched conditions. Sex group had an impact on ADG in immunocastrates, who showed a temporarily higher ADG after the 2nd vaccination than boars and barrows. The results show that immunocastration is a reliable procedure under differing housing conditions and competitive in terms of growth performance.

Another aspect that leads to market uncertainty with regard to immunocastration is the pricing of immunocastrates and the question of whether fines for boar taint might be introduced once boars and immunocastrates gain increasing market shares. The

competitiveness of production systems is required to increase their market acceptance. Thus the profitability of pork production with boars and immunocastrates was evaluated under different carcass pricing and penalty systems linked to boar taint. The calculations were based on the performance parameters of 36 animals (n=12 immunocastrates, n=12 boars, n=12 barrows) from the experimental study mentioned above. In order to analyze the economic effects of both alternatives under different regional German production systems, the performance data were set in relation to the data of agri benchmark. Both boars and immunocastrates performed economically worse than barrows in all the scenarios tested. If is even lower, but still more profitable than boar fattening. Pork production with boars is the most unprofitable alternative in this study and will be further devalued if a penalty system linked to boar taint should be introduced.

The present doctoral thesis shows that immunocastration can balance the advantages and disadvantages of pork production with boars or barrows, and thus serve as a sustainable alternative for the European pork chain. If used correctly, immunocastration is reliable in preventing boar taint and can be economically competitive with traditional surgical castration. Based on this thesis, future studies might investigate quality assurance systems that reliably detect non-responders, or animals that are incorrectly vaccinated, before slaughter or at slaughter line. In addition, the economic impact of switching from traditional pork production with barrows to pork production with immunocastrates along the entire pork chain should be further analyzed.

5 ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Seit Jahrhunderten werden in Europa männliche Ferkel chirurgisch kastriert, um Ebergeruch und eberspezifisches Aggression- und Sexualverhalten zu vermeiden. Die chirurgische Kastration von Eberferkeln erfolgt dabei meistens ohne Anästhesie oder Analgesie und darf so in der Europäischen Union innerhalb der ersten Lebenswoche durchgeführt werden. Diese Praxis wird von der Gesellschaft zunehmende kritisiert, da die Kastration schmerzhaft ist und die körperliche Unversehrtheit der Tiere verletzt. Im Jahr 2010 verpflichteten sich daher europäische Stakeholder der Wertschöpfungskette freiwillig dazu, die chirurgische Ferkelkastration ab 2018 zu beenden. Mehr als zwei Jahre nach dieser Frist, wird die Mehrheit der Eberferkel nach wie vor chirurgisch kastriert, die meisten weiterhin ohne Narkose und Schmerzausschaltung. Die Immunkastration ist eine Alternative zur chirurgischen Kastration und zur Jungebermast. Obwohl diese Technik in Europa seit 2009 für den kommerziellen Gebrauch zugelassen ist, sind die Marktanteile von Immunkastraten auf dem europäischen Schweinefleischmarkt sehr gering. Die Hauptgründe, die zu dieser geringen Marktakzeptanz führen sind Unsicherheiten, ob die Immunkastration zuverlässig und wettbewerbsfähig ist und ob sie von der gesamten Wertschöpfungskette akzeptiert wird. Daher war das Hauptziel der vorliegenden Doktorarbeit zu untersuchen, welche Vor- oder Nachteile sich im Hinblick auf Nachhaltigkeitsaspekte aus der Immunkastration ergeben. Die Analyse verschiedener Nachhaltigkeitsaspekte der Schweinefleischerzeugung mit Immunkastraten wurde in einem Review zusammengefasst. Zusätzlich wurde in einem experimentellen Ansatz der Einfluss verschiedener Haltungsbedingungen auf die Zuverlässigkeit der Immunkastration untersucht. In dieser Studie wurde zudem der Einfluss der Haltungsbedingungen und des Gonadenstatus auf die Wachstumsleistung männlicher Schweine erfasst. Basierend auf den Leistungsdaten dieser Studie wurde außerdem die Rentabilität der Mast von Immunkastraten, chirurgischen Kastraten und Jungebern mit einem Simulationsmodell für deutsche Betriebe unter Verwendung verschiedener Schlachtkörperpreissysteme für Immunkastraten und Risikoszenarien für Ebergeruch analysiert. Die Fragestellungen führten zu drei referierten wissenschaftlichen Publikationen deren wichtigsten Ergebnisse im Folgenden zusammengefasst sind.

Die Immunkastration ist eine aktive Immunisierung gegen GnRH und besteht aus zwei aufeinanderfolgenden Impfungen zur Induktion von Antikörpern, die die Hodenfunktionen vorübergehend unterdrücken und damit die Bildung von Ebergeruch sowie der Hodenhormone verhindern. Es handelt sich um eine Methode, die sowohl eine hohe Produktqualität als auch ein hohes Maß an Tierschutz gewährleistet. Die Auswirkungen der Immunkastration auf die drei Säulen der Nachhaltigkeit sind bereits ausführlich untersucht jedoch fehlte ein aktueller globaler Überblick über verschiedene worden. Nachhaltigkeitsaspekte des Verfahrens. Durch die Hodenhormonbildung vor der zweiten Impfung ist die Mastleistung von Immunkastraten - insbesondere die Futterverwertung besser als die von Börgen, aber schlechter als die von Ebern. Die Umweltbelastung bei der Mast mit Immunkastraten ist geringer als bei Börgen, aber höher als bei Ebern. Das Aggressionspotential ist bei Immunkastraten nach der zweiten Impfung im Vergleich zu Ebern wesentlich geringer. Verbraucherbedenken hinsichtlich der Erzeugung von Schweinefleisch mit Immunkastraten beziehen sich hauptsächlich auf die Lebensmittelsicherheit. Solche Bedenken sind aus wissenschaftlicher Sicht unbegründet, da die Unbedenklichkeit des Verzehrs von Fleisch aus dieser Produktion belegt ist. Vor der zweiten Impfung sind Immunkastraten aus physiologischer Sicht wie Eber. Daher ist der Zeitpunkt der zweiten Impfung ein Instrument zur Feinsteuerung, um die ökologischen und wirtschaftlichen Vorteile von Ebern partiell zu nutzen, ohne das erhöhte Risiko von Tierschutzproblemen und Ebergeruch einzugehen. Dennoch müssen sowohl synergistische als auch antagonistische Beziehungen zwischen den Säulen der Nachhaltigkeit entlang der Wertschöpfungskette kommuniziert werden, um marktorientierte Schweinefleischprodukte anzubieten.

Die Analyse der Literatur ergab, dass ein Aspekt, der aktuell zu einer geringen Marktakzeptanz führt, die Zuverlässigkeit der Immunkastration ist. Verschiedene Studien und Erfahrungen von Schlachthöfen beschreiben das Phänomen der Impfversager (Non-Responder), also von Immunkastraten, die trotz zweimaliger Impfung mit Improvac® Ebergeruch aufweisen. Die Gründe, die zu Non-Respondern führten, waren unklar, könnten aber mit Fehlern im Handling (z.B. unkorrekte Anwendung der Impfung) oder einer schlechten Antikörperreaktion aufgrund von Stress zusammenhängen. Sozialer Stress durch instabile Gruppenzusammensetzung tritt unter Praxisbedingungen regelmäßig auf und wissenschaftliche Studien haben gezeigt, dass sozialer Stress das Immunsystem beeinträchtigen kann. Aus diesem Grund wurde in einer experimentellen Studie untersucht, ob unterschiedliche Haltungsbedingungen und insbesondere sozial instabile Gruppenzusammensetzungen zum Zeitpunkt der Impfungen zu Non-Respondern führen. Daher wurde der Einfluss der Haltungsbedingungen auf die Immunreaktion nach zwei Improvac[®]-Impfungen im Alter von 12 bzw. 22 Wochen untersucht. Eber, Immunkastraten

und Börge (jeweils n=48) wurden drei verschiedenen Haltungsbedingungen zugeordnet (n=36 angereichert entsprechend EU-Öko-Verordnung, n=36 Standard, n=72 belastende Haltungsbedingungen durch wiederholtes soziales Mixing). Die Immunreaktion wurde durch Messung der GnRH-Bindung und der Konsequenzen für die Testosteronkonzentration sowie das Gewicht des Genitaltraktes und die Konzentrationen der Komponenten, die den Ebergeruch verursachen, quantifiziert. Die Wachstumsleistung wurde durch die durchschnittlichen täglichen Zunahmen charakterisiert. Die erhöhte GnRH-Bindung und die niedrigen Testosteronkonzentrationen (vergleichbar mit Börgen) zeigten, dass die Immunkastration die Hodenfunktionen zuverlässig unterdrückte. Die Haltungsbedingungen hatten keinen Einfluss auf die Immunreaktion, aber sie beeinflussten die täglichen Zunahmen, da die Tiere der Mixing-Gruppe geringere Wachstumsleistungen aufwiesen als Tiere die unter angereicherten Bedingungen gehalten wurden. Der Kastrationsstatus hatte einen Einfluss auf die Wachstumsleistungen, da Immunkastraten nach der zweiten Impfung höhere tägliche Zunahmen aufwiesen als Eber und Börge. Die Ergebnisse zeigen, dass die Immunkastration unter verschiedenen Haltungsbedingungen zuverlässig funktioniert und in Bezug auf die Mastleistung konkurrenzfähig ist.

Ein weiterer Aspekt, der zu Marktunsicherheiten in Bezug auf die Immunkastration führt, ist die Frage, wie Schlachtkörper von Immunkastraten bepreist werden und ob bei steigenden Marktanteilen von Ebern und Immunkastraten eine Sanktionierung für Ebergeruch am Markt eingeführt wird. Die Wettbewerbsfähigkeit der Jungebermast und der Schweinefleischproduktion mit Immunkastraten ist erforderlich, um die Marktakzeptanz dieser Verfahren zu steigern. Daher wurde die Rentabilität der Schweinefleischproduktion mit Jungebern und Immunkastraten unter verschiedenen Preismasken und Sanktionen für geruchsauffällige Schlachtkörper bewertet. Die Berechnungen basierten auf Leistungsparametern von 36 Tieren (n=12 Immunkastraten, n=12 Eber, n=12 Börge) aus der oben erwähnten experimentellen Studie. Um die wirtschaftlichen Auswirkungen der beiden Alternativen unter verschiedenen regionalen deutschen Produktionssystemen zu analysieren, wurden die Versuchsdaten mit einem ökonomischen Datensatz von agri benchmark vernetzt. Sowohl Eber als auch Immunkastraten schnitten in allen getesteten Szenarien wirtschaftlich schlechter ab als Börge. Werden Immunkastraten nach der Ebermaske bepreist, ist die Rentabilität dieses Verfahrens noch geringer, aber immer noch profitabler als die Jungebermast. Die Schweinefleischproduktion mit Jungebern ist in dieser Studie die unrentabelste Alternative und wird weiter abgewertet, wenn Ebergeruch am Markt sanktioniert wird.

Die vorliegende Doktorarbeit zeigt, dass der Ersatz der chirurgischen Ferkelkastration durch die Immunkastration die Vorteile der Jungebermast und der Mast von Börgen partiell vereint und somit eine nachhaltige Alternative für die europäische Schweinefleischerzeugung darstellen kann. Bei korrekter Anwendung ist die Immunkastration zuverlässig bei der Verhinderung von Ebergeruch und kann wirtschaftlich mit der traditionellen chirurgischen Kastration konkurrieren. Ausgehend von dieser Doktorarbeit könnten zukünftige Studien Qualitätssicherungssysteme untersuchen, die zuverlässig Non-Responder oder falsch geimpfte Tiere vor der Schlachtung oder am Schlachtband detektieren. Darüber hinaus sollten die wirtschaftlichen Auswirkungen der Umstellung von der chirurgischen Kastration auf die Mast von Immunkastraten auf die gesamte Wertschöpfungskette analysiert werden.

EIDESSTATTLICHE VERSICHERUNG

Eidesstattliche Versicherung über die eigenständig erbrachte Leistung

gemäß § 18 Absatz 3 Satz 5 der Promotionsordnung der Universität Hohenheim für die Fakultäten Agrar-, Natur und Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissenschaften

1. Bei der eingereichten Dissertation zum Thema

IMMUNOCASTRATION OF MALE PIGS

handelt es sich um meine eigenständig erbrachte Leistung.

2. Ich habe nur die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt und mich keiner unzulässigen Hilfe Dritter bedient. Insbesondere habe ich wörtlich oder sinngemäß aus anderen Werken übernomme Inhalte als solche kenntlich gemacht.

3. Ich habe nicht die Hilfe einer kommerziellen Promotionsvermittlung oder –beratung in Anspruch genommen.

4. Die Bedeutung der eidesstattlichen Versicherung und der strafrechtlichen Folgen einer unrichtigen oder unvollständigen eidesstattlichen Versicherung sind mir bekannt.

Die Richtigkeit der vorstehenden Erklärung bestätige ich. Ich versichere an Eides Statt, dass ich nach bestem Wissen die reine Wahrheit erklärt und nichts verschwiegen habe.

Stuttgart, 18.02.2020

Ort, Datum

Kevin Benjamin Kress

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Volker Stefanski for the opportunity to develop my doctoral thesis at the department of Behavioral Physiology of Livestock (460f) of the University of Hohenheim, and to present the results of this project on various platforms. I especially thank Prof. Dr. Stefanski for his trust in my individual research approaches and for his constructive support throughout this project. I am also grateful for the various training opportunities he offered to further my personal development, both scientifically and professionally.

In particular, apl Prof. Dr. Ulrike Weiler contributed to the success of this project. Thanks to her, I got to know the interesting and beautiful world of pigs and sparked my curiosity to work scientifically in this area. I would like to thank her most sincerely for her trust, her intensive support and for numerous scientific and private discussions. Years of collaboration with apl. Prof. Dr. Ulrike Weiler very much influenced my personality in a very positive way in many aspects.

I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Daniel Mörlein for his willingness to supervise my doctoral thesis as a second reviewer and for many constructive discussions within this field of research. Sincere thanks go to Dr. Sonja Schmucker for her scientific support and much good advice throughout the project.

Moreover, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Hans-Peter Piepho, Dr. Jens Hartung and Filippo Capezzone of the department for Biostatistics (340c) at the University of Hohenheim for statistical advice. I thank Prof. Dr. Ludwig Hölzle, Dr. Katharina Hölzle, Linda Ungemach and Thorben Schilling of the department of Livestock Infectiology and Environmental Hygiene (460e) at Hohenheim for many fun hours and much valuable advice during the experiments.

I am very grateful to the international project partners of the SuSi project - especially Meta Čandek-Potokar, Martin Škrlep and Nina Batorek-Lukač from KIS; Milka Vrecl and Gregor Fazarinc from the University of Ljubljana; Étienne Labussière from INRA and Sam Millet from ILVO - for a pleasant and constructive cooperation. I would like to thank Mandes Verhaagh from the Thünen Institute of Farm Economics for the friendship that resulted from cooperating in different projects and for his critical feedback that considerably improved my working methods. My special thanks go to Agnes Richter at Schweinegesundheitsdienst Baden-Württemberg for instructions on blood collection. I thank Carolin Jannasch for the professional support during the experiments and for vaccinating the animals perfectly. I would like to thank the team from Unterer Lindenhof, in particular Alexander Hauser, Heinz Muth, Eberhard Reichenecker, Christoph Albert, Nadine Munzenmeier, and Severin Datzer for support and animal care during the experiments. I am grateful to Linda Wiesner, Bill Dunne and Manuela Ganser for assistance during the blood collections. I thank Sybille Knöllinger, Katharina Franz, Dominik Hönig and Miriam Hecht for technical assistance in the laboratory. I would also like to thank Christine Frasch and Birgit Deiniger for administrative support and proofreading of the manuscripts. In addition, I am thankful to Petra Veit, Michaela Eckell, Susanne Rautenberg and Mohammed Mecellem of the department of Behavioral Physiology of Livestock (460f) for the pleasant working environment.

Special thanks go to my fellow doctoral candidates, Dr. Larissa Engert, Dr. Christiane Schalk, Philipp Marro, Lena Reiske, Tanja Hofmann and Linda Wiesner for the good times together, many enjoyable hours and constructive support. I also thank Thilo Chillon and Michael Däuber for many amusing conversations towards the end of this project and for their support in other projects.

I would like to thank the team of LSZ Boxberg - especially Reinhard Dingler, Jörg Heinkel, Heinz Mack and Franz Solf - for great support and organization during slaughter. I would especially like to thank Heinz Mack for his valuable advice and practical knowledge in the field of slaughtering and dissecting pigs.

I thank my friends for the good time that I always have with you and for the crazy things that I experience with you.

I am extremely grateful to my parents and brothers for supporting me unconditionally and for believing in me at all times. I would also like to thank my girlfriend, and of course Erna, for making life more easy and valuable. Without you, this project would never have been feasible.

LIST OF PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

- Weiler, U.; Isernhagen, M.; Stefanski, V.; Ritzmann, M.; Kress, K.; Hein, C.; Zöls, S. Penile Injuries in Wild and Domestic Pigs. *Animals* 2016, 6 (4), 25.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Influence of housing conditions on antibody formation and testosterone after Improvac vaccinations. *Advances in Animal Biosciences* 2018, 9, Special Issue s19 (Proceedings of meetings held by the Cost action CA15215 IPEMA Innovative Approaches for Pork Production with Entire Males and Immunocastrates).
- Čandek-Potokar, M.; Prevolnik-Povše, M.; Škrlep, M.; Font-i-Furnols, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Kress, K.; Stefanski, V. Acceptability of Dry-Cured Belly (Pancetta) from Entire Males, Immunocastrates or Surgical Castrates: Study with Slovenian Consumers. *Foods* 2019, 8 (4), 122.
- Kress, K.; Millet, S.; Labussière, É.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Sustainability of Pork Production with Immunocastration in Europe. *Sustainability* **2019**, *11* (*12*), 3335.
- Kress, K.; Verhaagh, M. The Economic Impact of German Pig Carcass Pricing Systems and Risk Scenarios for Boar Taint on the Profitability of Pork Production with Immunocastrates and Boars. *Agriculture* **2019**, *9* (9), 204.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Schmucker, S.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Vrecl, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Škrlep, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Stefanski, V. Influence of Housing Conditions on Reliability of Immunocastration and Consequences for Growth Performance of Male Pigs. *Animals* 2020, 10 (1), 27.
- Čandek-Potokar, M.; Škrlep, M.; Kostyra, E.; Żakowska-Biemans, S; Poklukar, K; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Quality of Dry-Cured Ham from Entire, Surgically and Immunocastrated Males: Case Study on Kraški Pršut. Animals 2020, 10 (2), 239.
- Škrlep, M.; Poklukar, K; Kress, K.; Vrecl, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Effect of immunocastration and housing conditions on pig carcass and meat quality traits. *Translational Animal Science* 2020, txaa055.

LIST OF PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THE DOCTORAL THESIS

- Kress, K.; Millet, S.; Labussière, É.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Sustainability of Pork Production with Immunocastration in Europe. *Sustainability* **2019**, *11* (*12*), 3335.
- Kress, K.; Verhaagh, M. The Economic Impact of German Pig Carcass Pricing Systems and Risk Scenarios for Boar Taint on the Profitability of Pork Production with Immunocastrates and Boars. *Agriculture* **2019**, *9* (9), 204.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Schmucker, S.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Vrecl, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Škrlep, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Stefanski, V. Influence of Housing Conditions on Reliability of Immunocastration and Consequences for Growth Performance of Male Pigs. *Animals* 2020, 10 (1), 27.

ORAL PRESENTATIONS AT INTERNATIONAL SCIENTIFIC MEETINGS

- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Batorek Lukač, N.; Stefanski, V. Influence of housing conditions and immunocastration on endocrine parameters, boar taint compounds and behaviour in male pigs. 3rd Annual IPEMA Meeting (CA15215), Belgrade, Serbia, March 7, 2019.
- Millet, S.; De Cuyper, C., Stefanski, V.; Kress, K.; Van Den Broeke, A. The carbon footprint, nitrogen and phosphorus efficiency in boars, barrows and immunocastrates. 70th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science (EAAP), Ghent, Belgium, August 29, 2019.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Batorek Lukač, N.; Škrlep, M.; Stefanski, V. Is immunocastration a reliable and sustainable alternative for pig production? 70th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science (EAAP), Ghent, Belgium, August 29, 2019.
- Poklukar, K.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Batorek Lukač, N.; Vrecl Fazarinc, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V.; Škrlep, M. Characterisation of adipose tissue in immunocastrated pigs. 70th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science (EAAP), Ghent, Belgium, August 29, 2019.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Škrlep, M.; Stefanski, V. Ist die Immunkastration eine zuverlässige und nachhaltige Alternative für die Schweineproduktion? Vortragstagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Züchtungskunde e.V. und der Gesellschaft für Tierzuchtwissenschaften e.V., Gießen, Germany, September 11, 2019.
- Wiesner, L.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Tierwohl von intakten Ebern, Immunkastraten und Kastraten in verschiedenen Haltungssystemen. Vortragstagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Züchtungskunde e.V. und der Gesellschaft für Tierzuchtwissenschaften e.V., Gießen, Germany, September 12, 2019.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Labussière, É.; Millet, S.; Stefanski, V. Evaluation of immunocastration as a sustainable alternative for the European pork production. 27th Animal Science Days – International Symposium, Prague, Czech Republic, September 19, 2019.

POSTER PRESENTATIONS AT INTERNATIONAL SCIENTIFIC MEETINGS

- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Influence of housing conditions on antibody formation and testosterone after Improvac vaccinations. 69th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science (EAAP), Dubrovnik, Croatia, August 27, 2018.
- Wiesner, L.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Welfare of Entire Males, Immunocastrates and Surgical Castrated Pigs in Socially Unstable Groups. 70th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science (EAAP), Ghent, Belgium, August 29, 2019.
- Poklukar, K.; Škrlep, M.; Batorek Lukač, N.; Vrecl Fazarinc, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Comparing meat quality of entire male, immunocastrated and surgically castrated pigs. 70th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science (EAAP), Ghent, Belgium, August 29, 2019.
- Škrlep, M.; Pokluka, K.; Batorek Lukač, N.; Kress, K.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Myofibrillar fragmentation in entire male, immunocastrated and surgically castrated pigs. 60th *International Meat Industry Conference*, Kopaonik, Serbia, September 24, 2019.

CURRICULUM VITAE

PERSONAL DATA

Name:	Kevin Benjamin Kress	
Date of Birth:	25.10.1988	
Place of Birth:	Karlsruhe, Germany	
Nationality:	German	

PROFFESIONAL EXPERIENCES

Since 07/2017	University of Hohenheim – Institute of Animal Science –
	Behavioral Physiology of Livestock Research Assistant and PhD Candidate Stuttgart – Germany
05/2016 - 06/2017	Pestalozzi Kinder- und Jugenddorf Wahlwies e.V. Head of Production and Marketing of Organic Food Stockach – Germany
06/2015 - 11/2015	University of Hohenheim – Institute of Animal Science – Behavioral Physiology of Livestock Student Research Assistant Stuttgart – Germany
12/2013 - 04/2015	Blättchen Financial Advisory GmbH Equity & Debt Capital Markets – Small & Mid Cap's Working Student Leonberg - Germany
07/2014 - 12/2014	University of Hohenheim – Institute of Agricultural Policy and Markets – Agricultural Markets and Marketing Student Research Assistant Stuttgart – Germany
04/2011 - 07/2011	UBS Deutschland AG Private and Institutional Wealth Management Internship Wiesbaden / Frankfurt am Main - Germany
10/2010 - 03/2011	MIBAV Consulting KG Business Consultancy Project Manager Cologne – Germany
09/2008 - 05/2009	Bayerisches Rotes Kreuz KdöR Haus der Senioren Civilian Service Oberstdorf – Germany
EDUCATION

04/2013 - 04/2016	University of Hohenheim M.Sc. Agribusiness Stuttgart -
	Germany
09/2009 - 03/2013	University of Cologne B.Sc. Economics Cologne – Germany
08/2010	University of Basel Summer School – International Financial Regulation Basel – Switzerland
09/2000 - 06/2008	Ludwig-Marum Gymnasium Abitur Karlsruhe – Germany

FURTHER EDUCATION

Sensory Evaluation of Boar Taint (IPEMA Training School – CA15215) – 2018 | FELASA (Category B) – 2018 | Harmonisation of methods in entire male and immunocastrate research (IPEMA Training School – CA15215) – 2017 | TÜV Quality Management Specialist (HACCP) - 2013 | Hunting License - 2012 | Techniques of Scientific Working for Economists - 2010 | Basic Level Ski Instructor - 2010 | Microsoft Excel - 2010 | Business English Course - 2010

PUBLICATIONS

- Weiler, U.; Isernhagen, M.; Stefanski, V.; Ritzmann, M.; Kress, K.; Hein, C.; Zöls, S. Penile Injuries in Wild and Domestic Pigs. *Animals* 2016, 6, 25.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Influence of housing conditions on antibody formation and testosterone after Improvac vaccinations. *Advances in Animal Biosciences* 2018, 9, Special Issue s19 (Proceedings of meetings held by the Cost action CA15215 IPEMA Innovative Approaches for Pork Production with Entire Males and Immunocastrates).
- Čandek-Potokar, M.; Prevolnik-Povše, M.; Škrlep, M.; Font-i-Furnols, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Kress, K.; Stefanski, V. Acceptability of Dry-Cured Belly (Pancetta) from Entire Males, Immunocastrates or Surgical Castrates: Study with Slovenian Consumers. *Foods* 2019, *8*, 122.
- Kress, K.; Millet, S.; Labussière, É.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Sustainability of Pork Production with Immunocastration in Europe. *Sustainability* **2019**, *11*, 3335.

- Kress, K.; Verhaagh, M. The Economic Impact of German Pig Carcass Pricing Systems and Risk Scenarios for Boar Taint on the Profitability of Pork Production with Immunocastrates and Boars. *Agriculture* 2019, 9, 204.
- Kress, K.; Verhaagh, M. Sind die Alternativen profitabel? Ökonomische Analyse der Produktion von Immunkastraten und Jungebern in Deutschland. *Fleischwirtschaft* 2019, 12, 26-29.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Schmucker, S.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Vrecl, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Škrlep, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Stefanski, V. Influence of Housing Conditions on Reliability of Immunocastration and Consequences for Growth Performance of Male Pigs. *Animals* 2020, 10, 27.
- Čandek-Potokar, M.; Škrlep, M.; Kostyra, E.; Żakowska-Biemans, S; Poklukar, K; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Quality of Dry-Cured Ham from Entire, Surgically and Immunocastrated Males: Case Study on Kraški Pršut. Animals **2020**, *10* (2), 239.

PRESENTATIONS

- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Influence of housing conditions on antibody formation and testosterone after Improvac vaccinations. 69th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science (EAAP), Dubrovnik, Croatia, August 27, 2018.
- Stefanski, V.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U. Warum die Kastration von Ebern umstritten ist: Physiologische Hintergründe der Ebermast. Symposium: Alternativen zur chirurgischen Ferkelkastration, Mannheim, Germany, October 17, 2018.
- Kress, K. Fleischkonsum Eine Frage von Gesundheit und Haltung. *Sendung Marktplatz Deutschlandfunk*, Berlin, Germany, January 24, **2019**.
- Weiler, U.; Kress, K. Warum die Kastration von Ebern umstritten ist: Physiologische Hintergründe der Ebermast. 22. Münchinger Schweinefachtagung, Korntal-Münchingen, Germany, February 15, 2019.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Batorek Lukač, N.; Stefanski, V. Influence of housing conditions and immunocastration on endocrine parameters, boar taint compounds and behaviour in male pigs. 3rd Annual IPEMA Meeting (CA15215), Belgrade, Serbia, March 7, 2019.

- Stefanski, V.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U. Alternativen zur betäubungslosen Ferkelkastration Stand der Diskussion. ALB Fachtagung - Ferkelerzeugung, Stuttgart, Germany, March 14, 2019.
- Millet, S.; De Cuyper, C., Stefanski, V.; Kress, K.; Van Den Broeke, A. The carbon footprint, nitrogen and phosphorus efficiency in boars, barrows and immunocastrates. 70th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science (EAAP), Ghent, Belgium, August 29, 2019.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Batorek Lukač, N.; Škrlep, M.; Stefanski, V. Is immunocastration a reliable and sustainable alternative for pig production? 70th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science (EAAP), Ghent, Belgium, August 29, 2019.
- Poklukar, K.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Batorek Lukač, N.; Vrecl Fazarinc, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V.; Škrlep, M. Characterisation of adipose tissue in immunocastrated pigs. 70th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science (EAAP), Ghent, Belgium, August 29, 2019.
- Poklukar, K.; Škrlep, M.; Batorek Lukač, N.; Vrecl Fazarinc, M.; Fazarinc, G.; Kress, K.;
 Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Comparing meat quality of entire male, immunocastrated and surgically castrated pigs. 70th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science (EAAP), Ghent, Belgium, August 29, 2019.
- Wiesner, L.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Who gets along best? Welfare of entire males, immunocastrates and surgical castrated pigs in socially unstable environments. 70th Annual Meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science (EAAP), Ghent, Belgium, August 29, 2019.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Čandek-Potokar, M.; Batorek-Lukač, N.; Škrlep, M.; Stefanski, V. Ist die Immunkastration eine zuverlässige und nachhaltige Alternative für die Schweineproduktion? Vortragstagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Züchtungskunde e.V. und der Gesellschaft für Tierzuchtwissenschaften e.V., Gießen, Germany, September 11, 2019.
- Wiesner, L.; Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Stefanski, V. Tierwohl von intakten Ebern, Immunkastraten und Kastraten in verschiedenen Haltungssystemen. Vortragstagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Züchtungskunde e.V. und der Gesellschaft für Tierzuchtwissenschaften e.V., Gießen, Germany, September 12, 2019.

- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Labussière, É.; Millet, S.; Stefanski, V. Evaluation of immunocastration as a sustainable alternative for the European pork production. 27th Animal Science Days – International Symposium, Prague, Czech Republic, September 19, 2019.
- Škrlep, M.; Pokluka, K.; Batorek Lukač, N.; Kress, K.; Čandek-Potokar, M. Myofibrillar fragmentation in entire male, immunocastrated and surgically castrated pigs. 60th *International Meat Industry Conference*, Kopaonik, Serbia, September 24, 2019.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Chillon, T. Betäubungslose Ferkelkastration Die Alternativen. Ferkelkastration und Tierschutz – Lösungswege für Rheinland-Pfalz, Bad Kreuznach, Germany, December 3, 2019.
- Kress, K. Sind die Alternativen profitabel? Ökonomische Analyse der Immunkastration und Jungebermast. Informationsveranstaltung Landesbauernverband in Baden-Württemberg e.V. - Die Immunokastration: Erfahrungen der Praxis. Ergebnisse zur Fleischqualität. Einstellungen von Verbraucher und Gesellschaft, Untermünkheim, Germany, January 28, 2020.
- Kress, K. Sind die Alternativen profitabel? Ökonomische Analyse der Immunkastration und Jungebermast. Informationsveranstaltung Landesbauernverband in Baden-Württemberg e.V. - Die Immunokastration: Erfahrungen der Praxis. Ergebnisse zur Fleischqualität. Einstellungen von Verbraucher und Gesellschaft, Ulm, Germany, January 29, 2020.
- Kress, K.; Weiler, U.; Chillon, T.; Stefanski, V. Alternativen zur betäubungslosen
 Ferkelkastration Stand der Diskussion. *Regionaler Schweinetag* (*Regierungspräsidium Freiburg*), Kirchen-Hausen, Germany, February 7, 2020.

Stuttgart, 18.02.2020

Place, Date